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Approval of the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Directors’ responsibilities
The Board of Directors (Board or the Directors) is required, by the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 of South Africa 
(Companies Act), and the Public Finance Management Act No 1, 1999, of South Africa (PFMA), to prepare annual 
financial statements which fairly present the state of affairs of Transnet SOC Ltd (Transnet or the Company) and 
its subsidiaries (the Group) as at the end of the financial year, the profit or loss and cash flows of the Company 
and the Group for the financial year then ended.

In preparing these annual financial statements, the directors are required to:

the Company and/or the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records, maintenance 
of appropriate systems of internal control as well as the preparation and integrity of the annual financial 
statements and related information. 

Directors’ statements
The Audit Committee has evaluated the Group’s annual financial statements and has recommended their 
approval to the Board. In preparing the Company and Group annual financial statements, the Company and the 
Group have complied with IFRS and the Companies Act. In addition, the Group has complied with the reporting 
requirements of the PFMA, except as set out in the Report of the Directors on page 27.

estimates. Judgements and estimates made in the application of IFRS, that have a significant impact on the 
annual financial statements are disclosed in the accounting policies.

The directors have every reason to believe that the Company and Group have adequate resources and facilities 
in place to be able to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Therefore, the directors are satisfied that 

statements.

The external auditors, SizweNtsalubaGobodo, are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the 
annual financial statements in conformity with International Standards on Auditing. Their unmodified audit 
report on the annual financial statements, prepared in terms of the Public Audit Act of South Africa, Act  
No. 25 of 2004 (PAA), appears on pages 4 to 6.

The Internal Audit activities are in accordance with the preapproved Internal Audit Plan. The Internal Audit Plan 
is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee annually. Transnet Internal Audit has executed the Internal 
Audit Plan during the year and has provided assurance to the Board of Directors as to the state of the internal 
controls of the Company. Their assessment of the internal controls of the Company is included in the Audit 
Committee Report. The Audit Committee has reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and 
considers the systems appropriate for the effective operation of the Company.
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The directors are of the opinion that the Company and the Group have complied with applicable laws and 
regulations except as disclosed in the Report of the Directors as set out on page 27.

The directors are of the opinion that these annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of the 
Company and the Group as at 31 March 2013, and the results of their operations and cash flow information for 
the year then ended.

The annual financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of the Group Chief Executive.

ME Mkwanazi  B Molefe A Singh
Chairperson  Group Chief Executive Group Chief Financial Officer

29 May 2013  29 May 2013 29 May 2013
Johannesburg  Johannesburg Johannesburg

Group Company Secretary certificate

I hereby certify that in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
the Company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns for the year ended 31 March 2013,  
as are required of a public company in terms of this Act, and that all such returns are true, correct and up  
to date.

ANC Ceba
Group Company Secretary

29 May 2013
Johannesburg
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Independent auditor’s report to Parliament on Transnet SOC Ltd
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Report on the consolidated annual financial statements 

Introduction

We have audited the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of Transnet SOC Ltd and its 
subsidiaries as set out on pages 39 to 149, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of 
financial position as at 31 March 2013, the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the consolidated annual financial statements

The Board of Directors which constitutes the accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated and separate annual financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, Act  
No 1 of 1999 (PFMA) and the Companies Act of South Africa, Act No 71 of 2008 (Companies Act) and for such 
internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 
separate annual financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate annual financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, Act No 25 of 2004 
(PAA), the General Notice issued in terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated and separate annual financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated and separate annual financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate annual 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated and separate annual financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Transnet SOC Ltd and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2013, and their financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the PFMA and the Companies Act.
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Other matter 

We draw attention to the matter below. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter:

As part of our audit of the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013, we have read the Report 
of the Directors and the Audit Committee report for the purpose of identifying whether there are material 
inconsistencies between these reports and the audited annual financial statements. These reports are the 
responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material 
inconsistencies between the reports and the audited annual financial statements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Public Audit Act of South Africa (PAA) requirements

In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice issued in terms thereof, we report the following findings 

control, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion.

Predetermined objectives

We performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the information in the 
Shareholder’s Compact – Performance Criteria (Performance Information) in the Report of the Directors of 
Transnet SOC Ltd as set out on pages 21 to 24 of the annual financial statements.

usefulness and reliability. The usefulness of information in the annual performance report relates to whether it is 
presented in accordance with the South African National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the 

whether indicators and targets are measurable (ie well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable and time bound) and 
relevant as required by the National Treasury Framework for managing programme performance information.

adequately reflects the facts (ie whether it is valid, accurate and complete).

There were no material findings on the Shareholder’s Compact performance criteria (Performance Information) in 
the Report of the Directors concerning the usefulness and reliability of the information. 

Additional matter 

Although no material findings concerning the usefulness and reliability of the performance information were 
identified in the annual performance report, we draw attention to the following matter below. This matter does not 

Achievement of planned targets 

Of the total number of 70 targets planned for the year ended 31 March 2013, 33 of the targets were not achieved 
during the period under review. This represents 47,1% of the total planned targets that were not achieved during 
the year under review. This was due to the adverse market and operating conditions, including rolling stock 
inefficiencies, infrastructure failures and customer cancellations that negatively impacted volumes and operational 
efficiencies.
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Independent auditor’s report to Parliament on Transnet SOC Ltd
(continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2013

Compliance with laws and regulations

We performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity has complied with applicable laws and regulations 

compliance with specific matters in key applicable laws and regulations as set out in the General Notice issued in 
terms of the PAA are as follows:

Expenditure management

As per the disclosure in Annexure E of the annual financial statements, the accounting authority did not take 
effective appropriate steps to prevent irregular expenditure, fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as required by 
section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA, in respect of the items as detailed in that annexure.

Internal control

We considered internal control relevant to our audit of the annual financial statements, annual performance report 
of Transnet SOC Ltd and compliance with laws and regulations. The matters reported below under the fundamentals 
of internal control are limited to the deficiencies that resulted in the findings on compliance with laws and 
regulations included in this report.

Financial and performance management

The matters identified and reported under the compliance with laws and regulations section above have risen due 

The controls over these areas have been significantly strengthened since these matters occurred.

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc.

Per Collins Mashishi
Director
Registered Auditor
20 Morris Street East
Woodmead
Johannesburg
2191
29 May 2013
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Audit Committee report

This Audit Committee report is prepared as recommended by the King Code of Governance for South Africa  
and its Code of Governance Principles (King III) and Regulation 27 of the Treasury Regulations. The Audit 
Committee performs its duties in accordance with section 94(7) of the Companies Act, and the PFMA.  
The terms of reference are set out in the Audit Committee mandate, which is approved by the Board and is 
continuously reviewed and updated for changes in legislation, business circumstances and corporate governance 
practices. The Audit Committee has conducted its affairs in accordance with the mandate and has discharged its 
responsibilities accordingly.

The role of the Committee is: 

operation of adequate systems of financial control, recording and reporting, and the preparation of financial 

Chairperson of the Committee or any other member of the Committee as is required in relation to any matter 

evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes, issues and 

 –  commenting in any way the Committee considers appropriate on the financial statements, the accounting 

Company.
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Composition of the Audit Committee 

appointed by the Shareholder at the annual general meeting in line with legislative requirements.

Mr IB Skosana was appointed as Chairperson on 6 July 2012. The qualifications and experience of the members 
are detailed in the Corporate Governance report in Volume 2.

The Chairperson of the Audit Committee has been appointed as a member of the Board Risk Committee to ensure 
alignment between these functions.

The Audit Committee held five scheduled meetings and four special meetings for the year ended 31 March 2013 
and member attendance at these meetings is reflected in the Corporate Governance report on page 164. 

his offices attended three meetings during the year. The Group Chief Executive, the Group Executive: Legal 
Services, the Group Chief Financial Officer, the Head: Enterprise Information Management Services (EIMS),  
the Chief Audit Executive and other representatives from the Transnet Internal Audit function together with the 
External Auditors are required to attend meetings of the committee. The Internal Auditors and the External 
Auditors, are also afforded closed sessions with the Audit Committee without the presence of Management. 
Management is also afforded a closed session with the Audit Committee without the presence of the Internal 
Auditors or the External Auditors.

Audit Committee governance structure 
The Audit Committee relies on a strong and well functioning governance structure to support its activities as 
depicted in the table below. The Operating divisions have established governance structures to manage their 
risks in an effective and efficient manner. Matters emanating from these governance structures which are 
considered to be significant by Management, the Internal Auditors or External Auditors are reported at various 
levels within the Company.

This structure requires the appropriate ‘Tone at the Top’ to establish and reinforce the values and ethical 
standards of the Company. In addition, Management has introduced numerous programmes to significantly 
improve the organisational culture as well as the maturity of the internal control environment and standard 
working practices to drive ethical behaviour, control awareness, and personal accountability, thereby enhancing 
organisational performance in a sustainable manner.

Audit Committee report (continued)



A
n

n
u

a
l fi

n
a

n
ci

a
l s

ta
te

m
e

n
ts

9

as set out in the corporate plan and to ensure effective and efficient execution of investigation, prevention and detection 
activities.  
Attendees include: Operating division executive committee members, Legal, Compliance, relevant Process Owners, Group 
Forensic Manager and Transnet Internal Audit.  
Frequency: Monthly.

Finco is responsible to manage all the financial risk of the Group.  
Attendees: Chief Financial Officer, All Operating divisions’ Chief Financial Officers and members of Group Finance.  
Frequency: Monthly.

Audit Committee

Group Executive Committee

Group Finance Committee (Finco)

An Operating division ICSC is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the financial and operational controls and 
facilitating the enhancement of Transnet’s control environment and for PFMA reporting.  
Attendees include: Operating division Chief Financial Officer, Group Head: Internal Control, members of Operating division 
Management and Transnet Internal Audit.  
Frequency: Monthly.

Operating division Internal Control Steering Committee (ICSC)

Operating division Forensic Working Group (FWG)

The PFMA Forum reviews all items reported in terms of section 55 (2)b of the PFMA and provides guidance on any PFMA 
related items. 
Attendees include: Representatives from Group Finance, Legal, Compliance and Group Procurement. 
Frequency: Quarterly.

Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) Forum
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Summary of the main activities undertaken by the Audit Committee during  
the year
In executing its duties, the Audit Committee approved an annual work plan and performed the following activities 
during the year:

External audit 

the procedures being developed to monitor and contain risks in those areas, and the audit approach for  

year included:

 
(as identified in the Auditing Profession Act) identified and reported by the External Auditor.

Internal audit

audit function, its reporting line to the Chairperson of the Committee, the working relationship with the Chief 

General

Audit Committee report (continued)
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other assets and the adequacy of provisions including environmental provisions and decommissioning 

considered ICT as it relates to audit coverage and efficiency, financial reporting and the going concern of the 

limitation, the Companies Act, PFMA, Treasury regulations and the Income tax Act No. 58 of 1962.

with the financial information.

King III recommendations 
The Audit Committee’s corporate governance practices comply with the requirements of King III with respect to:

In addition, the Board has delegated its responsibility for ICT governance to the Audit Committee to assist it in 
carrying out its responsibilities.

The Audit Committee:

through obtaining appropriate assurance that controls are in place and effective in addressing ICT and 

 

In addition the chairperson of the Audit Committee:
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The Comp
as a consequence of King III, including a review of the mandate and implementation of a more comprehensive IT 
governance framework.
The Company identified an information security risk in June 2012 which resulted in the execution of an assessment 
and improvement programme which has resulted in significant improvement in the security environment.
Improvement initiatives were further deployed focusing on the following key areas within ICT:

Internal control environment 

Financial controls 

The financial control environment continued to show improvement across all the Operating Divisions, further 
consolidating the gains made in the last few years.
The graph below illustrates the improvement in financial process controls over the last six years. “Satisfactory” 
reports account for 75,0% of all reports issued by Transnet Internal Audit (TIA) during the 2013 financial year  
within the financial process environment, with no “Unsatisfactory” reports being issued which represents a 
significant achievement for a company of Transnet’s size and complexity.

Unsatisfactory.

Requires improvement.

Satisfactory.

25
75

33
67

18
82

23
77

13

49
38

24

50
26

2011 2012201020092008 2013

Financial process ratings (%)

Critical Financial Reporting Controls (CFRCs) comprise a suite of controls that aim to reduce the incidence of fraud, 
and ensure that there is no material misstatements when reporting the financial results of the Company. These 
controls continue to receive focused attention to enhance and maintain sound and sustainable financial reporting. 
Arising from the testing of approximately 627 CFRCs, the number of ineffective CFRCs has fallen to zero in 
quarters 3 and 4 for the 2013 financial year which represents the best result achieved in seven years of CFRC 
testing. This achievement is attributable to Management’s persistent and concerted effort to have a strong control 
environment and provides growing evidence that the culture of control, particularly within the financial control 
environment is taking root. 

by TIA, except where a substantive testing approach was considered to be more efficient and cost effective.

Audit Committee report (continued)
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Ineffective CFRCs by quarter

Q4 2011Q1 2011 Q3 2011Q3 2010Q2 2010Q1 2010 Q4 2010 Q2 2011 Q1 2012 Q2 2012 Q3 2012 Q1 and Q2 
2013

Q3 2013
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8

6

13

12 12

7

6

2

4

1

0

Q4 2013

0

Operational controls

The graph below illustrates the results of the 60 reports issued in relation to operational audits completed during 
the 2013 financial year internal audit plan. These results are categorised into the MDS pillars.

Assessment of operational process in 2013 – per MDS pillar (%)

Safety, risk 
and

sustainability*

4

74

13

26
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60

63
25

84

32

83

13

Capital 
planning

and 
execution*

Operational
efficiency 

and
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Human 
capital

strategy

Building
organisational
readiness and

high
performance

culture*

Volumes and
customer

satisfaction

Regulatory and
key 

stakeholder
engagement*

3

40

Unsatisfactory.

Requires improvement.

Satisfactory.

* Does not include all results. Reports still to be issued in these areas.

Notably, in the areas of Capital Planning and Execution, Operational Efficiency and Productivity and Volumes and 
Customer Satisfaction in particular, no “Unsatisfactory” reports were issued, proving assurance of the Company’s 
ability to deliver the MDS.
Management will however continue to focus on the area of operational controls in order to further improve these, 
with particular focus on recurring themes such as change management and training, knowledge management, 
enforcement and consequence management. 
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Overall evaluation of internal control environment 

Based on the reviews executed by TIA, their overall assessment of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
controls and risk management for the year is as follows:

Risk and control component Process 2013 Assessment 2012 Assessment
Governance Financial Satisfactory Satisfactory

Operational Satisfactory Requires improvement
People Financial Satisfactory Satisfactory

Operational Requires improvement Requires improvement
Method and practices Financial Satisfactory Satisfactory

Operational Requires improvement Requires improvement

In the opinion of the Audit Committee, the internal controls of the Company are considered appropriate in terms 
of: 

Focus areas for the 2014 financial year
The overall theme in the 2014 financial year is driving performance excellence through effective controls.  

Audit Plan will continue to focus on controls aimed at mitigating the key MDS risks, as they relate to volume 
growth, capital execution and efficiency, and productivity initiatives, as well as other identified emerging risks 

environment in the operational and financial controls environment, such as CFRCs, minimum controls, Information 
Technology General Controls (ITGCs), etc. still remains an imperative to ensure that these controls do not 
deteriorate due to increased volumes, complexity of transactions and large numbers of new recruits, but rather 
that they continue to show an improvement and sustained maturity.

Internal audit themes will be split broadly into two categories: 

ol environment. 

To  
in terms of coverage and focus. In addition, internal audit efforts will also be directed to those areas where 
performance is not meeting targets in order to identify key controls to address the root causes that are 
contributing to the constrained business performance. 

In support of maintaining, and enhancing, an effective control environment, management will continue to focus on 
CFRCs and compliance with the PFMA.

CFRCs are being further enhanced to increase the level of automated versus manual controls, as well as to 
increase the level of preventative versus detective controls. The extent of automated, preventative CFRCs will 
also be benchmarked to assist Management in enhancing and maintaining a sound and sustainable financial 
reporting environment. 

The Company has enhanced the monitoring of PFMA violations and is in the process of implementing more 
stringent consequence management to reduce financial misconduct going forward. In addition, the Company has 
implemented a PFMA awareness and accreditation process to improve compliance to the requirements of the 
PFMA, encourage employees to apply the delegation of authority entrusted to them in a responsible manner and 
Improve compliance with the procurement processes to strive towards zero PFMA reportable violations.

Audit Committee report (continued)
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The internal audit themes are depicted below:

 

Assessment of the financial function and competence of the Group Chief  
Financial Officer 
As required by King III, the Audit Committee is required to assess the Company’s financial function as well as the 
competency of the Group Chief Financial Officer. The Audit Committee has performed this assessment and 
accordingly the Audit Committee is satisfied with:

commensurate with the position.

Annual financial statements 
The Audit Committee has evaluated the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 and 
considers that they comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of the Companies Act, the PFMA, IFRS 

The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the annual financial statements fairly present the financial position 
of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2013, and the results of their operations and cash flow information 
for the year then ended and has, therefore, recommended the adoption of these annual financial statements by 
the Board of Directors.

In addition, the Audit Committee has reviewed the sustainability issues in the Integrated Report to ensure that 
they are reliable and do not conflict with the financial information.

IB Skosana 
Chairperson 

29 May 2013 
Johannesburg
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Achieving mandate 

 
Financial sustainability

PEOPLE 

PROCESS

TECHNOLOGY

VOLUME CAPITAL

TFR OPS 

EFFICIENCY

Accelerated and 
sustainable growth

Transnet  
focus area

CAPITAL  

INVESTMENT  

OF R307,5BN FROM 

2013 TO 2020.

VOLUME GROWTH 

(IRON ORE, COAL, 

GFB) FROM AN 

ESTIMATED  

207,7MT IN 2013 TO 

360,3MT IN 2020.

INCREASE EBITDA 

FROM R21,1BN IN 

2013 TO R75,0BN 

IN 2020.

Driving performance excellence through effective controls

 
enhance volume growth and operational efficiency;

 
and proactive consequence management;

 
objectives while driving performance excellence;

 
– cultural, people and systems;

 
and dynamic audits; and 

Maintain an effective control environment

Continue to place emphasis on: 

 – CFRC’s;
 – Location audits (minimum controls);
 – IT risk based audits;
 – Maintenance;
 – Fraud risk management; and
 – Regulatory risk and environment.

 
and key initiatives; and 

 
operational and entity controls.
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Report of the Directors
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Introduction
The Board of Directors (Board) is pleased to present its Integrated Report, in both printed and electronic formats, 
in line with the requirement of King III Code on Corporate Governance (King III) and the audited annual financial 
statements of Transnet SOC Ltd (Transnet or the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) for the year ended 31 
March 2013.

Ownership and Shareholder’s expectations
Transnet is a public company, wholly owned by the Government of the Republic of South Africa and is the 
custodian of the country’s rail, ports and pipelines. Transnet is responsible for enabling the competitiveness, 
growth and development of the South African economy through delivering reliable freight transport and handling 
services that satisfy customer demand. 
Transnet’s mandate is to assist in lowering the cost of doing business in South Africa, enabling economic growth 

effective and efficient manner, within acceptable benchmarks.

national plans such as the National Capital Investment programme, the National Development Plan and  
the Statement of Strategic Intent issued by the Minister of Public Enterprises on 19 November 2012, are  
as follows: 

Board of Directors

Executive directors: B Molefe (Group Chief Executive), A Singh (Group Chief Financial Officer).

Independent non-executive directors:  

Summary curricula vitae of each director is set out in the Corporate Governance report on pages 20 and 21 of the 
Integrated Report 2013.

Mr A Singh, who previously held the position of Group Chief Financial Officer in an acting capacity, was appointed 
into the position with effect from 01 July 2012. Ms NP Mnxasana was appointed to the Board and to the Audit 
Committee on 31 January 2013.

Mr MP Malungani, appointed 13 December 2010, resigned from the Board with effect from 1 April 2012.  

Performance evaluation of the Board, Board Committees and individual directors 

An annual Board evaluation is conducted to assess the effectiveness of the Board and the individual contributions 
of the directors. The process is managed by independent service providers. Three evaluation processes were 
carried out at the end of the 2013 financial year. The first evaluation sought to measure the performance of 
individual directors based on their general contribution and their involvement and participation in meetings, 
while the second aimed to review the overall functioning and performance of the Board as a unit and the third 
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evaluation measured the effectiveness of the various Board Committees. The findings of these evaluations were 
considered by the Board in May 2013 and were compared to the previous year’s assessment, with appropriate 
action plans being formulated.

The KPMG/Nkonki team who conducted the Board Evaluation process stated that there was an improvement 
from the previous year. In general, the results yielded a positive outcome with 85,0% positive responses 
compared to 15,0% negative responses.

Board succession planning

The Board Evaluation Report for the 2013 financial year indicated that significant progress has been made 
through a comprehensive talent management programme which includes tools, policies and plans on succession 
planning. The succession plans will be tabled to the Board.

The remuneration of the directors and senior executives are set out on pages 35 to 37.

Corporate reputation and customer satisfaction survey

Corporate reputation

In 2012, Transnet completed a stakeholder perception analysis which canvassed the views of a broad range of 
stakeholders including public opinion leaders, customers, regulators, investors and organised labour. Overall, the 

to the country and that the Company’s business strategy and customer service practices are sound. The highest 
ratings came from regulators, investors and organised labour while opinion leaders and customers recorded the 
lowest scores of the stakeholders interviewed. The 2012 survey will form the benchmark against which the 
results of future surveys will be assessed for improvement. The Company will continue to engage with all 
stakeholders in its efforts to improve service delivery.

Customer satisfaction survey

Transnet is a catalyst for and a key partner in driving economic growth in South Africa. Accordingly, customer 
feedback is a critical service imperative. To this end, the Company conducts an annual customer satisfaction 
survey to measure customer perceptions and experiences with the service provided by Transnet’s Operating 
divisions. The survey covers aspects relating to service delivery, customer relations and communication, 
strategic business alignment and planning, infrastructure, capacity, knowledge, skills and innovation.  
The results are benchmarked against the previous surveys conducted.

The Board is pleased to report that, while the results indicate that there remain areas where effort is required to 
achieve sustained improvement, the year 2013 marked a significant turnaround in the previous year’s results 
evidencing the progress the Company has made in terms of service improvements and instilling a culture of 
efficiency which will ultimately impact service reliability and predictability. The Board will continue to utilise the 

Transnet’s service culture.

Strategy overview and performance for the year
Transnet was privileged to have the President of the Republic of South Africa, His Excellency Jacob G. Zuma 

Address. The President emphasised, amongst other things, that the R300,1 billion capital infrastructure 
programme which underpins the strategy is an essential component of the country’s economic growth and 

with the requirements of the developmental state. Over the past 12 months there has been greater convergence 
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The Company’s financial and operational performance for the year shows resilience despite the depressed 
domestic and global economic outlook. Steady progress was made against a challenging operating environment, 

rating, and increasing input costs. Notwithstanding these challenges, Transnet continued to implement the 
Market Demand Strategy (MDS), realising extensive operational and customer service improvements, increased 
productivity and efficiency, higher rail volumes, financial stability – as measured by cash interest cover and 
gearing, which has enabled continued execution of the capital expenditure programme – as well as delivery of 

investment strategy, which will support the continued execution of the Market Demand Strategy over the next 
seven years with an investment plan of R307,5 billion.

Transnet continues to invest in capital through the current uncertain economic cycle and has accordingly 

used through numerous economic cycles. This will provide a firm impetus for stimulating current and future 
economic growth. In addition, Transnet expects to be in a position to capture additional market share and volume 
growth in the next cycle as the economy recovers. 

Performance for the year

March 2013 March 2012 % change
Revenue (R million) 50 194 45 900 9,4

EBITDA (R million) 21 051 18 882 11,5

EBITDA margin (%) 41,9 41,1 0,8

Equity attributable to the equity holder (R million) 84 954 79 421 7,0

Gearing (%) 44,6 41,9 2,5

Cash generated from operations after changes in working capital 
 (R million) 22 641 22 712 (0,3)

Cash interest cover (times) 3,7 4,2 (11,9)

Other significant highlights of the year include:

slowdown.

expectations and allowed the Company to access the debt capital markets.

Container Terminal achieved a 10,0% increase to 31 GCH.

still falls short of our aspirations.

The Board has concluded that MDS still remains achievable, although at higher risk levels due to volatility and 

MDS execution as this is what the South African economy needs to stimulate economic growth.
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The emphasis in the years ahead will remain on:

As a result of the higher level of risk, the Company has developed a comprehensive implementation plan  
to ensure successful delivery of the strategy as well as launching specific initiatives to mitigate these  
risks including: 

An Execution Support Office, headed up by a Group Executive Committee member, to support the achievement 
of volume and revenue targets, mitigate cash flow at risk, drive priorities on operational efficiencies, and 
support capability building. The focus is on: 

 

and
 –  Building high quality execution capabilities, including effective early warning, risk mitigation and  

 A Capital Excellence Programme to enhance capabilities for delivery to plan and manage costs and schedules. 
The focus is on:

 –  Portfolio optimisation. Building capabilities and implementing methodologies to more effectively optimise 

EXECUTION APPROACH

RegulatoryFunding

Rating  

agencies

Volumes & 

revenue

Efficiencies

revenue

EEffiE
Operating 

expenditure

RMOCFO FUNCTION

OptimisationOO
Platinum 

standard

Capital 
investment & 
procurement 
inin
ppr

Governance & 
organisational 

design

CAPITAL 
INTEGRATION SWAT

Human resources strategic workforce planning

The MDS execution approach focuses on key enablers and critical value drivers.
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 –  Organisational design and governance. Revised integrated capital controls and assurance framework in 

and improved execution readiness. This approach is to systematically scale limited resources to cover a 

 –  Procurement acceleration. Streamlining capital procurement processes with specific focus on items that 

includes demand management processes and contract management capabilities while simultaneously 
filling vacant procurement administration positions to avoid delays to critical path initiatives. 

 –  Platinum standard organisation
beyond the MDS, creating required positions, improved gate review processes, and securing the right 

marketing plan to capture market share and enhance revenue diversification: 

addition, Transnet is investigating and targeting rail and port opportunities in other countries. 
Human capital development

 A comprehensive Workforce Plan focusing on:
 –  Maintaining sufficient depth in the pipelines for critical areas, to ensure that the right talent is available in 

 –  
 –  Improving productivity and efficiencies and developing effective performance and reward strategies for all 

 –  Change management that will facilitate delivery on targets for an overall headcount growth by conducting 
a detailed analysis of business needs, skills profile and organisational requirements aligned with an 
efficient organisational development, training and recruitment function to deliver MDS.

Shareholder’s Compact performance criteria

following approval by the Board, which serves as a framework for the performance monitoring of the Company.
Performance information and other criteria comparing actual 2013 results to the targets, as required by section 
55(2) (a) of the PFMA, have been outlined below.
The adverse market and operating conditions including rolling stock inefficiencies, infrastructure failures and 
customer cancellations during the year, meant that many of the volume and operating efficiencies targets for the 
year were not realised. Measuring the Company’s entire performance against the Shareholder’s Compact KPIs, 
only 52,9% of targets were achieved during the 2013 financial year. 
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Transnet Group

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2013  

Compact

target

2013 

 Actual

Financial value creation

Operating expenditure as a % of revenue (a) % �56 56,1

Return on average total assets (a) % �8,5 7,7

Cash interest cover times �3,6 3,7

Gearing (a) % �45,5 44,1

Human capital Training spend % of personnel costs �4,0 4,4 

Skills development

Engineering trainees Number of learners �120 122

Technician trainees Number of learners �300 315

Artisan trainees Number of learners �500 866

Number of learners �1 800 2 160

Safety
DIFR Weighted average �0,80 0,74

Employee fatalities Number of fatalities 0 9

Employment creation �4 048 3 804

Productivity Revenue per employee (a) R million �0,98 0,95

(a) Excluding Port regulator claw back.

Transnet Freight Rail (Freight Rail)

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2013

Compact  

target

2013

 Actual

Market share Volume growth 

– Total volumes mt �224,8 207,7

– Export coal mt �75,0 69,2

–  Export iron ore mt �59,5 55,9

– GFB mt �90,3 82,6

–  Export 
Manganese (PE)

mt
�4,8 5,2

–  Domestic Coal 
(Eskom)(b) mt �12,0 10,5

–  Export Coal  
mt �6,0 5,2

–  Domestic Coal 
(Other) mt �8,9 8,1

– Containers TEUs �832 532 689 999

Tariffs
Average revenue per unit 
increases (revenue/mt) – GFB(c) % �9,9 7,29

(b) Subject to Eskom commitment.
(c) Transnet to provide assurance that the tariff increases were applied within General Freight business and related overhead costs.
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Transnet Freight Rail (continued)

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2013

Compact  

target

2013

 Actual

Service reliability

– GFB

Average deviation 
from scheduled 
times (minutes)

�225 280

– Export coal �160 206

– Export iron ore �60 73

– GFB �260 356

– Export coal �325 332

– Export iron ore �120 140

Locomotive utilisation Gross ton.km/loco/month

– GFB
GTK/loco/m

(000)

�5 500 4 973

– Export coal �24 700 24 998

– Export iron ore �44 000 47 530

Wagon utilisation index

Wagon turnaround – GFB Days �9,2 11,3

Wagon cycle time
– Export coal

Hours
�58 68,5

– Export iron ore �78 93,7

Transnet Engineering (Engineering)

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2013

Compact 

target

2013
Actual

Service reliability

GFB locomotive availability % �89,5 90,8

GFB locomotive reliability faults per million km �25 19,6

GFB wagon availability % �94  94,1 

GFB wagon reliability faults per million km �0,60 0,55

Export coal locomotive availability % �89,5 89,2

Export coal locomotive reliability faults per million km �45,0  30,0 

Export coal wagon availability % �97,5 97,9

Export coal wagon reliability faults per million km �0,17 0,17

Export iron ore locomotive availability % �89,5 91,7

Export iron ore locomotive reliability faults per million km �15,0 9,6

Export iron ore wagon availability % �97,5 98,3

Export iron ore wagon reliability faults per million km �0,07 0,05
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Transnet National Ports Authority (National Ports Authority)

Key performance 

area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2013 

Compact 

target

2013
 Actual

Productivity Volumes per hour

Containers

TEUs per STAT hour

– Durban �40 53

– Cape Town �46 44

– Port Elizabeth �37 31

– Ngqura �42 51

Dry bulk

Tons per STAT hour–  Coal (Richards Bay) �2 440  2 243 

– Iron ore (Saldanha) �3 550 3 609

Transnet Port Terminals (Port Terminals)

Key performance 

area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2013

Compact  

target

2013 
Actual

Tariff increases
Average tariff increase (all commodities) % �5,5  4,5 

Dwell time Durban Days �4,0 3,5

Productivity Moves per gross crane hour

DCT Pier 1 

Number of moves

�30 23

DCT Pier 2 (Berth 108 
& 205) �28 28

CTCT �32 31

Ngqura �32 32

Service reliability

Truck turnaround time

DCT Pier 1

Minutes

�35 47

DCT Pier 2 �35 32

CTCT �35 21

Ngqura �35 33

Richards Bay MPT 
(bulk)

�20 26

Richards Bay MPT 
(containers)

�35 18

Terminal berthing delays Container terminals 
(Durban) Hours �16 22,4
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Transnet Pipelines (Pipelines)

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2013  

Compact

target

2013
Actual

Service reliability

Ordered versus delivered volumes  
(% of deliverables within 5,0% of order).

% �93 100

Planned vs. actual delivery time  
(% of deliverables within 2 hours of plan).

% �91 77

Operating efficiency Operating cost per Mℓ.km (Nominal  
R/Mℓ.km) (Real R/Mℓ.km).

Rand �106:101 89

Capacity utilisation NMPP – actual usage: capacity at the time 
(Mℓ/week).

Ratio �56:84 51:84

Accounting policies
The accounting policies used in the preparation of the annual financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2013 are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and consistent with 
those applied in the prior year.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant impact on the annual financial 
statements are disclosed in the accounting policies and accompanying notes to the annual financial statements. 

Share capital
There has been no change in the authorised or issued share capital of the Company during the year. The issued 
share capital of the Company is 12 660 986 310 ordinary shares of R1 each. Further details pertaining to the 
Company’s share capital are contained in note 21 to the annual financial statements.

Dividends
No dividends were declared in the current year. The dividend policy is reviewed annually and approved by the 

 
the Capital Investment programme. The Policy provides that dividends will be declared to the Shareholder 

 
are maintained.

Divisions, subsidiaries and associate companies
The Company intends to finalise the liquidation of its interest in Spoornet do Brasil Ltda during the course of the 
next financial year. A detailed list of subsidiaries and associate companies are contained in annexure D to the 
annual financial statements.

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment – port facilities and pipeline networks
The accounting policies of the Company require port infrastructure assets, port operating assets and pipeline 
networks to be carried at revalued amounts. A full revaluation of these assets is conducted every three years, 
with an index revaluation being performed in the intervening years.

During the current year, index valuations were applied to all three asset classes.

Port facilities 

Based on the index valuation, the carrying value of port infrastructure assets was revalued by R1,063 million 
(2012: R2,430 million) while port operating assets were revalued by R262 million (2012: R300 million). 
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Pipeline networks

Based on the index valuation, a revaluation of R423 million (2012: R166 million) was recognised in the  
current year.

Capital expenditure and commitments
The Group’s capital investment for the year ended 31 March 2013 amounted to R27,5 billion (excluding 
capitalised borrowing costs), a 23,4% increase from the prior year’s investment of R22,3 billion. R11,3 billion was 
invested in the expansion of current infrastructure and equipment, while R16,2 billion was invested in maintaining 
existing capacity. The Group has achieved 88,1% of the R31,2 billion capital expenditure budget for the year. 

Further details regarding capital expenditure and commitments are contained in note 30 of the annual financial 
statements.

Funding
As at 31 March 2013, the Company’s total borrowings amounted to R73,1 billion (2012: R58,1 billion), an increase 
of R15 billion compared to the prior year. This increase can be attributed mainly to the second issuance under the 
USD2 billion GMTN Programme amounting to R8 195 billion and the rest was loans raised from various sources 
including DFIs, ECAs, domestic bonds, commercial paper and bank loans. The gearing ratio deteriorated 
marginally to 44,6% compared to the 41,9% as at 31 March 2012. This level is still well below the Group’s target 
range of 50,0%, reflecting the additional capacity available to fund future capital expenditure. The gearing ratio 
is not expected to exceed the target ratio over the medium term.

Credit rating

On 27 September 2012, Moody’s downgraded South Africa’s Government International Bond Rating from A3  
to Baa1, while Transnet’s standalone rating of A3, remained unchanged. Subsequently, on 16 October 2012, 
Standard & Poor’s downgraded both the sovereign and Transnet rating from BBB+ to BBB. Standard & Poor’s 
emphasised Transnet’s rating downgrade was due to it being wholly owned by the State, albeit its fundamentals 
remained constant, hence on a Stand Alone Credit Profile (SACP) Transnet’s rating remained at BBB+. Transnet’s 
current credit ratings are depicted below: 

Standard & Poor’s Moody’s
Foreign currency BBB A3
National rating Za AA+ Aa3.za
Rating outlook Negative Negative

As a SOC, Transnet’s credit rating is closely linked to the sovereign credit rating, thus, a downgrade of South 
Africa’s rating is likely to lead to a downgrade for Transnet. The current rating outlook on South Africa is negative 
hence there is a potential of further downgrade of South Africa’s sovereign credit rating. However, it will take a 

the funding programme.

Post-retirement benefit obligations

Benefit funds

Transport Pension Fund (TTPF) and the Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund (TSDBF), are fully funded with 
actuarial surpluses of R1,7 billion (2012: R1,7 billion) and R2,3 billion (2012: R2,9 billion) respectively. Transnet 
has not recognised any portion of the surplus on these funds, as the fund rules at present do not allow for the 
distribution of a surplus to the Group.
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The Board of Trustees of the TTPF and TSDBF approved the payment of ad hoc bonuses to their beneficiaries 
amounting to R17 million and R161 million respectively, and paid these amounts in November 2012. The Board 
of Trustees of the TSDBF has also approved the payment of a further ad hoc bonus to its beneficiaries amounting 
to R160 million, and paid this amount in April 2013. In addition, the Board of Trustees of the TTPF approved the 
payment of a further ad hoc bonus to its beneficiaries amounting to R16,3 million, which was paid in June 2013. 
These payments continue to supplement the current statutory increase of the beneficiaries of the TTPF and 
TSDBF to provide pensioners with increases above inflation.

The total value of ad hoc bonuses paid by the TTPF and TSDBF to their beneficiaries amounts to R105,3 million 
and R1,765 billion respectively, and has resulted in the beneficiaries of the TSDBF receiving increases of at least 
70,0% of inflation since 2007, while the beneficiaries of the TTPF have received total payments equivalent to  
the TSDBF payments on a proportionate basis since 2011.

Transnet has again made an ex gratia payment to its most disadvantaged pensioners of both the TTPF and  
TSDBF, amounting to R143 million in October 2012. The payment has been made in particular to those  
pensioners with very low pensions despite long service. This brings the total amount of ex gratia payments made 
by Transnet to beneficiaries of the defined benefit funds to R378 million.

In addition, Transnet has again made provision for an ex gratia payment to its most disadvantaged pensioners of 
the TTPF and TSDBF of R70 million.

Following the recommendations made by the Portfolio Committee on Public Enterprises on 2 November 2010 
bonuses amounting to five months’ pension have been paid by the TSDBF since November 2010. The TTPF has 
paid five months’ pension as back pay as well additional bonuses to TTPF Pensioners in line with historic TSDBF 
bonuses. Prospective pension increase policies have been developed by the TSDBF and TTPF targeting additional 
increases that will not vest, and are with the Minister of Public Enterprises for approval, together with the 
concurrence of the Minister of Finance. 

benefits to SATS pensioners and their dependants. 

 
31 March 2013.

Passenger Rail Agency of South Africa (PRASA)
The total amount owed by PRASA at 31 March 2013 was R1,4 billion, with R697 million outstanding for longer 
than 210 days. PRASA paid R1,16 billion to Transnet for the year ended 31 March 2013. 

Transnet remains committed to working with PRASA in providing passenger rail services in South Africa.

Compliance and legislation
To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Company has, during the year, complied, in all material 
respects, with all legislation and regulations applicable to it, except as noted below. 

PFMA compliance

Transnet has implemented and maintained sound governance structures and processes in compliance with the 
provisions of the PFMA. PFMA compliance is one of the key business issues that the Company manages and 
monitors. This monitoring function is achieved through the following:

Representative and cascaded throughout the Company.



A
n

n
u

a
l fi

n
a

n
ci

a
l s

ta
te

m
e

n
ts

27

Sections 51 and 55 of the PFMA impose certain obligations on the Company relating to the prevention, 

 
To comply with the PFMA’s obligations, the Board has a materiality framework, which was approved by the 

The Shareholder Minister has determined that the materiality limit for reporting in terms of sections  
55(2)(b)(i), (ii) and (iii) of the PFMA is R25 million per transaction.

In terms of this materiality framework, one item is reported as irregular expenditure.

Irregular expenditure

Expenditure in excess of the approved budget without the necessary approval.

The total expenditure to a service provider for the procurement of container handling equipment was exceeded 
by more than 10,0% without prior approval being obtained as required by the procurement procedures. Two 
written warnings have been issued and management is in the process of determining if further disciplinary 
actions are required. Value was derived by the Company as a result of the additional cost of R30 million as the 
contract related to the procurement of container handling equipment. 

Category of reportable items R million
Number of 

Incidents

Number of 
finalised 

disciplinaries/
criminal cases

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure** 17,5 52 14/2
Losses through criminal conduct**   37,5   72* 18/340
Total irregular expenditure**  230,8  47 18/0
Less: Irregular expenditure condoned**  1,9  2 0/0
Remaining irregular expenditure** 228,9 45 18/0

* Represents cumulative reportable items of the same nature. 
** Refer to annexure E for further disclosure.

including the number of finalised disciplinary cases instituted against employees. However, it must also be noted 
that there are numerous other cases that are still pending finalisation, which will be reported in the annual 
financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2014.

In total 340 criminal cases have also been lodged with SAPS, as it relates to losses through criminal conduct.

Economic regulation and regulatory reform
The tariffs of two Operating divisions, namely that of Pipelines and National Ports Authority are regulated  
by economic regulators. National Energy Regulator of South Africa (NERSA) regulates the tariffs of the 
petroleum pipeline system, storage facility at Tarlton and gas transmission pipeline for Pipelines. The Ports 
Regulator approves the tariffs charged by National Ports Authority.

With approximately 20,4% of Transnet’s revenue and 36,8% of its EBITDA impacted by economic regulation, 
relationships with regulators need to be managed proactively and strategically as their decisions could  
have a significant impact on investment decisions, investor confidence and ultimately on the execution of the 
R307,5 billion Market Demand Strategy (MDS).

Transnet believes that understanding regulatory issues in extreme detail is a prerequisite not only for anticipating 
risks and opportunities but also for building mutually beneficial relationships, based on trust  
and transparency, with the economic regulators. Significant progress has been made between Transnet and  
the Ports Regulator following recent engagements on the regulatory framework. In the coming months emphasis 
will be placed on finalising a Tariff Methodology and Pricing Strategy which would achieve the spirit of the 
National Ports Act, 2005 (Act No. 12 of 2005) (Ports Act) whilst at the same time afford National Ports Authority 
and Transnet the ability to deliver on its Market Demand Strategy and maintain financial sustainability.
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The potential for making decisions in determining and setting tariffs that may negatively impact the future 
sustainability of the MDS remains a key risk for Transnet given the capacity constraints faced by economic 
regulators, and limited recourse by the regulated entities in the absence of an appeal mechanism. Credible 
appeals mechanisms need to be put in place and attention needs to be paid to monitoring the performance and 
decision of regulators in line with international best practice and benchmarks.

Pipelines

Petroleum levy and corporatisation of Pipelines

One of the conditions of the levy, paragraph 6.1.5 of the Grant Funding Agreement, was that Transnet provide the 
Department of Energy (DOE) with explicit details on the progress in respect of the corporatisation of Pipelines 
in line with the directive of the Minister of Public Enterprises (Minister). Transnet presented to the Department 
of Public Enterprises (DPE) a brief overview of the key issues that will arise with the corporatisation of Pipelines 
and highlighted areas for further investigation.  

On 5 February 2013, the Chairperson of Transnet wrote to the Minister of Public Enterprises, requesting the 
Minister to reconsider the corporatisation of TPL and rescind the previous decision as per the letter of  
30 April 2010. The outcome of the Minister’s decision will inform the position regarding the corporatisation  
of Pipelines.

Tariffs

In accordance with the Petroleum Pipelines Act No. 60 of 2003 (Pipelines Act), NERSA is mandated to set 
petroleum pipeline tariffs and approve storage tariffs. 
On 13 March 2013 NERSA published its Reasons for Decision awarding Pipelines an increase of 8,53% in 
allowable revenue compared to the 2013 tariff.
The decision by NERSA to grant Transnet an 8,53% increase in allowable revenue is welcomed, although 
Pipelines
capitalisation value of assets changing during the year. This negatively affected Transnet’s ability to qualify 

application. In essence, this amounts to a deferral of revenue into future years rather than disallowance of 
revenue. The tariff increase granted by NERSA will not negatively impact Transnet’s delivery of its MDS.

Transnet applied for and was granted a licence in terms of section 16 of the Pipelines Act, to construct the NMPP, 
which will replace and expand parts of the existing petroleum pipeline network. The revised estimate of the cost 

Ministerial review of the NMPP costs by the Minister. 

Due to the cost increase and schedule delays relating to the NMPP, the Minister launched an independent 
investigation into the construction of the new pipeline. A summary of the findings was released in a press 
statement on 29 November 2012 by the Minister. Overall, the review team found that there were systemic 
failings that compromised the intended outcomes. These failings occurred within all levels of key role players 
including failings within Transnet as client and failings at Engineering, Procurement and Construction Management 
(EPCM), main contractor levels and at the Shareholder level. The review team however pointed out that the 

a concern that should there be a breakdown of the existing Durban to Johannesburg pipeline whilst the NMPP was 
not completed, this would have a significant negative impact on the South African economy. The outcome of the 
Ministerial review has been communicated to Transnet. Transnet acknowledges the findings and lessons learned 
will be applied to ensure successful delivery of the MDS. 

 
 

the Petroleum Pipelines Act (No. R.342, 4 April 2008). Transnet will liaise with Cresco regarding a date for the 
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National Ports Authority

The potential corporatisation of National Ports Authority

The National Ports Act No.12 of 2005 (Ports Act) provides for the corporatisation of National Ports Authority. 
On 17 June 2008, the Government, through the President of the Republic of South Africa, informed Transnet  
in writing that it would not initiate the corporatisation process and that appropriate amendments to the  
Ports Act will be considered. 

On 28 September 2012, at a National Ports Consultative Committee Meeting (NPCC) held in Cape Town  
between port stakeholders and National Ports Authority, the issue of National Ports Authority’s corporatisation 
was tabled. The consensus of the NPCC members, representing the Department of Public Enterprises (DPE), 
Department of Transport (DoT), Department of Trade and Industry (DTI), port users and the Ports Regulator, was 
that changes to the section 3(2) of the Ports Act and other relevant sections of the Ports Act be effected.

On 10 January 2013 a letter was sent to the Minister as a recommendation to take the long overdue process of 
legislative review forward in the least cumbersome way possible. To this end, Transnet recommended a one 
worded amendment to the Ports Act which would have the effect of giving the Minister the discretion to 
corporatise instead of the current obligatory provision in section 3(2) which mandates the Minister to corporatise 
without any discretion in this regard. This can be done by substituting the word “must” with the word “may” in 
section 3(2) of the Ports Act. Transnet awaits the Minister’s response.

The engagements between Transnet and DPE are aimed at ensuring that the appropriate amendments to the 
Ports Act are effected. The potential corporatisation of TNPA poses significant risks to Transnet, as it could have 
a material adverse impact on the Company, both financially and strategically, and could trigger default clauses of 
Transnet’s funding agreements. 

National Environmental Management: Integrated Coastal Management Act, No 24 of 2008 

Amendment Bill

The Integrated Coastal Management (ICM) Act contains a number of sections detrimental to Transnet which the 
Bill issued in March 2011, still fails to address. The main issue for Transnet revolves around section 11 of the Act 
(not yet in operation) which provides that coastal public property vests in the citizens of South Africa and is held 
in trust by the State. The effect of this provision would be to deprive Transnet of its ownership of the assets in 
the sea, seashore and the seabed within ports (estimated at R46 billion as at 31 March 2013). 

Transnet submitted its comments to the Department of Environmental Affairs in March 2011 and it simultaneously 
raised the matter with the Department of Public Enterprises for the Minister to intervene at a Ministerial level. 
During July 2012 a revised version of the ICM Bill was issued which to some extent addressed some of Transnet’s 
concerns. However, Transnet feels that there are certain areas of the latest version of the Bill which could 
negatively impact on how Transnet conducts its business going forward. Transnet has also been advised by senior 
counsel that the current version of the Bill may still result in Transnet losing ownership of  
its assets in the sea, seashore and seabed within ports. Further that the loss of ownership of those assets  
could trigger a default event or be considered to be a material adverse event in respect of Transnet’s existing loan 
covenants.

The Portfolio Committee has invited all affected and interested parties to submit their comments on the Bill by 
no later than 30 May 2013. Transnet is in the processing of submitting its own comments.

Tariffs

Transnet has noted the Ports Regulator’s decision in response to the National Ports Authority tariff application 
for the 2014 financial year, being no increase in port tariffs, resulting from a comprehensive consultation process 
driven by the Regulator. The reasons for the decision shall follow in due course. 

In addition, the Ports Regulator has granted National Ports Authority its requested reductions in cargo dues 
tariffs of full containers and automotive exports which are aligned to the National Ports Authority’s proposed 
pricing strategy. All other tariffs are to remain at their current levels.
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Further to the tariff application, National Ports Authority submitted its proposed tariff methodology and  
pricing strategy for the Ports Regulator’s consideration. The finalisation of an appropriate tariff methodology 
and pricing strategy will further support Transnet’s ability to invest in South Africa’s logistics infrastructure. 

Port of Ngqura licence

The National Ports Act, governs the functioning of the National Ports Authority defined in the Act as the 

the landlord functions within ports. Section 11(2)(d) of the Ports Act enables the Authority to “perform such 

Section 56(5) of the Ports Act envisages the agreements entered into by the Authority in respect of port 
operations and services must follow a procedure that is “fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost 
effective”. Therefore the Ports Act envisages the Authority acting independently and being seen to act in such  
a manner.

The Cabinet of the Republic of South Africa decided on 09 November 2011, to direct National Ports Authority  
 

National Ports Authority beginning a competitive process for the licensing of the Port of Ngqura in accordance 
with section 56 of the Act. 

The Shareholder Minister gave effect to the Cabinet decision by issuing a section 79 directive for three years to 
National Ports Authority, in correspondence dated 27 January 2012. 

The section 79 directive is an interim measure, provided to address the current exceptional circumstances  
and to allow National Ports Authority, as required by section 56 of the Act to follow the required  
“fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost effective” process within the three year window and for the 
appointed terminal operator to be ready to commence operations at the end of the three year period. 

The directive is not clear in respect of the date of commencement of the aforementioned three year period. 
However, it is recommended that the date of the Shareholder Minister’s letter (27 January 2012) be taken as  
the date of commencement and consequently that the Port Terminals section 79 licence in respect of its  
Ngqura operations expires on 26 January 2015.

Freight Rail

The Department of Transport (DoT) Draft Green Paper on Rail Reform was issued to various stakeholders in  
April 2012 for comment. Transnet, supported by the DPE, presented its position to DoT and engagements are 
ongoing to ensure alignment before the Draft Green Paper is submitted to Cabinet in 2013.

Memorandum of Incorporation

The Companies Act gave entities a period of two years from 1 May 2011 to ensure that a revised corporate 
constitution is compiled and filed accordingly with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC). 
The consequence of failing to meet the 1 May 2013 deadline will imply that the current constitutive documents 
will apply, and in instances where the current constitutive documents are contrary to the provisions in the 
Companies Act, the latter will prevail. 

The draft Transnet Memorandum of Incorporation was presented and considered by the Corporate Governance 
and Nominations Committee on 28 February, 19 April and 28 May 2013, respectively.

On 29 May 2013, the Board recommended that the Shareholder Minister approves the revised draft Memorandum 
of Incorporation for the Company.



A
n

n
u

a
l fi

n
a

n
ci

a
l s

ta
te

m
e

n
ts

31

Judicial proceedings

entered into by Transnet, as either defendant or plaintiff, where the outcome can be assessed with reasonable 
certainty. These estimates take into account the legal opinions obtained for the Group. The contingent liabilities 
of the Group have been disclosed in note 31 to the annual financial statements.

Events after the reporting period date
Transnet has received a notice of motion in terms of which two individual applicants have applied to the North 
Gauteng High Court to institute a class action against seven respondents, including Transnet. 

Transnet is currently reviewing the application which has no merit.

Going concern
The successful execution of the capital expenditure programme is critical to Transnet as it forms the basis of 
future growth for the Company and the South African economy. Consequently, the successful execution of the 
borrowing strategy and the ability of the Company to meet its commitments to investors are of paramount 
importance. 

Given the dynamic management reporting approach to achieve the agreed financial metrics, and to improve 
profitability based on the operating and financial indicators, the directors are confident that the Company will be 
a going concern for the foreseeable future.

The funding requirement as detailed below for the next 15 months is R19,3 billion excluding cash on hand. The 
Company is confident that it will be able to access the capital markets to raise the required funding for the year 
ahead. The potential sources of funding to address the funding requirements for the year ahead, which will be 
driven by Transnet’s business requirements, the liquidity and appetite in the market, include:

Sources of funding R billion
Cash on hand 31 March 2013 2,60
Domestic bonds and commercial paper 7,50
DFIs/ECAs/GMTN 9,75
Bank loans/other 2,05

21,90

The Board, having considered all significant variables that may impact the Group’s cash flow requirements, 
are of the opinion that adequate funding is available. This, together with the fact that the underlying net 

going concern assumption as appropriate in the preparation of the Transnet Group results for the year ended  
31 March 2013.

Remuneration report 

Introduction

This remuneration report details the Transnet remuneration philosophy as well as the reward interventions that 

divisional executive committees, managers and bargaining unit employees. 
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Terminology

For the purposes of this report:

specialists and technicians.

The Transnet reward philosophy

dispensation that:

Transnet is committed to rewarding existing high performing and prospective employees with competitive and 
sector comparable packages. However, it is recognised that the recruitment pool for this talent will also include 
other public and private sector employers, who have greater financial flexibility at their disposal. In view of this, 
Transnet will continue to consider and introduce clear and transparent reward packages that are both affordable 
and recognise either individual or team high performance. 

The Transnet remuneration philosophy and framework forms an integrated part of the key deliverables of the 
human resources strategy and therefore the reward strategies remain focused on entrenching a performance 
driven culture. 

Transnet has embarked on the robust MDS which entails the achievement of rigorous financial and operational 

interest of Transnet, but will also impact the South African economy. 

The human resources strategy, inclusive of the reward strategy, is designed to facilitate the achievement of the 

Overview of the reward philosophy

The Transnet reward philosophy addresses the total rewards of employees across the business which includes 
guaranteed and variable pay elements.  
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The different reward elements are discussed in detail in the paragraphs below:

Guaranteed pay 

The remuneration philosophy for Transnet takes into account the different hierarchical levels informed by 

benefits dispensation. 

Guaranteed remuneration is informed by the market median. Salary increases occur annually, based on an 
approved mandate obtained from the Remuneration, Social and Ethics Committee of the Board and motivated by 
the specific analyses of relevant internal and external factors. Annual increases for management levels are also 
informed by individual performance ratings. Increases for bargaining unit employees are informed by the 
outcome of the annual wage negotiation process. Transnet does not support interim/ad hoc salary increases. 

funding, risk cover and a death benefit. 

Bargaining unit employees, who opt to become a member of one of the Transnet recognised medical schemes, are 
eligible to receive a medical subsidy.

The MDS has resulted in a drive to review remuneration policies and practices across the business. The newly 
developed workforce plan will be implemented to ensure that the right skills are available at the right time to 

During the past financial year, Transnet concluded a new reward agreement for all bargaining unit employees.  
A single grade structure with entry level pay scales was established across the business.  

increase for the 2014 financial year and a 9,0% wage increase for the 2015 financial year. This will ensure a 

Variable pay 

executive and selected senior managers. 

performance indicators as stated in the Shareholder’s Compact.

Short-term incentive scheme (STI)

reward employees for this effort.  

 
Transnet’s “earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, derecognition and amortisation” (EBITDA) target. 
The pool is modified by a productivity measure relating to the volume achievement as well as the safety 
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of the manager. Individual bonus percentages are further modified with individual performance  
assessment ratings. 

targets and actual performance as well as to ensure internal parity. 

Bargaining unit employees in the container sector participate in a container productivity scheme, which is based 
on productivity and volume target achievements.

employees to earn up to a maximum of 26,0% for grade levels H to L and 28,0% for grade level G, of annual 
pensionable earnings per year. 

Long-term incentive scheme (LTI)

the success of the business strategy, to encourage stretch performance and reward performance above target.

Individual performance as well as the talent management framework informs key talent who may participate in 
the LTI. It further impacts on the vesting of the conditional award.

The LTI has specific clauses dealing with Company performance over the banking period and to this effect a 
Group modifier has been introduced. Total average assets (ROTA) (excluding capital work in progress) are  
used as the Group LTI modifier.

the Department of Public Enterprises (DPE) guidelines committee. 

must address. One of the terms of reference that the study seeks to understand is the harmonisation of 

yet been published. 

Remuneration for Transnet executives

Pending the publication of the study, Transnet has implemented a moratorium on annual salary increases for 
members of the Transnet Group Exco and extended Excos. 

During the 2013 financial year the members of the Transnet Group Exco did not receive a remuneration 
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Guaranteed Pay of Transnet Group Executive Members

Name
Salary

R thousand

Post-
retirement

benefit
fund

 contribu-
tions

R thousand

Other
 contribu-

tions
R thousand

Other
 payments

R thousand

Total 

2013

R thousand

Total 
2012

R thousand
B Molefe** 5 494 504 – 6 6 004 6 000
V Dunjwaº 848 78 – 199 1 125 2 780
S Gama 4 137 321 – 79 4 537 4 459
M Gregg-Macdonald 2 575 274 – 24 2 873 2 925
P Maharaj+ – – – – – 664
CA Möller 2 778 241 26 2 3 047 2 993
T Morwe 3 296 241 6 151 3 694 4 136
M Mosesº 1 360 69 8 262 1 699 3 451
KC Phihlela 3 060 223 – 52 3 335 3 284
Z Stephen+ – – – – – 6 940
A Singh** 3 231 296 – 2 3 529 2 264
KXT Socikwa 3 318 331 – 127 3 776 4 218
R Vallihu 3 264 281 – 8 3 553  3 545
EAN Sishi 2 536 242 – 2 2 780 695
DC Moephuli# 407 43 – – 450 – 
S Pillay# 961 88 – 19 1 068 – 
NJ Mabandla@ 1 807 192 – 1 2 000 – 
R Lepule@ 1 674 178 – 1 1 853 – 

40 746 3 602 40 935 45 323 48 354
** Group Executives who are members of the Board of Directors.
@ Employed during the year. 
# Appointed during the year.
+ Resigned during the prior year. 
º Resigned during the year.

Following the appointment of the Group Chief Financial Officer, the Exco member was appointed and confirmed 
in the position. Prior to non-permanent placement, the following Executive received an acting allowance during 
the year in addition to his guaranteed remuneration. 

Transnet Executive

Total 

2013

R thousand

Total 
2012

R thousand
A Singh* 422 1 689

422 1 689
* Confirmed into the position of Group Chief Financial Officer during the year and acting allowance terminated.
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Executive remuneration – variable

bonus percentages are further modified with individual performance assessment ratings. 
The eligibility percentages linked to specific business performance achievement is indicated in the table below: 

Qualifying percentage*
Employment category Grade Level Threshold Maximum
Group Executive Committee A 25% 50% 100%

Extended Executive Committee B 20% 40% 80%

* Excluding individual performance assessment rating adjustments.

EBITDA as well as the volume and safety modifiers at Group and Operating division levels. 

The 2013 financial year marked the first year of the MDS and Transnet will post reasonable achievements for the 
financial year, despite more difficult economic conditions and operational challenges compared to the prior year.

The high level achievements for the year can be summarised as follows:

 
of 0,80. 

Despite the achievements for the year, Transnet faced challenges in respect of achieving the budgeted volume 
and EBITDA targets. 

Transnet responded to the challenges by implementing rigorous cost saving measures and the total cost savings 
for the financial year amounted to R2,2 billon.

specifically the conditional award for the 2010 financial year. 
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The Remuneration, Social and Ethics Committee of the Board, during the reporting period, resolved to postpone 
the payment date of the 2010 conditional awards to the end of July to provide for sufficient time to obtain the 
audited financial results. 

Transnet Executive
LTI 2013

R thousand

LTI 2012
R thousand

STI 2013

R thousand

STI 2012
R thousand

B Molefe* – – 1 218 6 473
– 2 303 – 2 799

S Gama 3 583 3 386 928 4 919

2 349 1 954 607 2 938

CA Möller 2 592 2 207 629 2 944

T Morwe 3 079 2 045 738 3 570

M Moses+ – 4 348 – 3 392

KC Phihlela 2 771 2 530 667 3 229

A Singh* 1 942 1 691 802 4 266

Z Stephen** – 2 789 – 1 860

KXT Socikwa 2 884 2 737 741 3 938

R Vallihu 3 041 3 015 720 3 826

DC Moephuli 1 927 – 497 –

S Pillay 1 467 – 375 –

EAN Sishi – – 564 –

NJ Mabandla@ – – 446 –

R Lepule@ – – 319 –

25 635 29 005 9 251 44 154

*  Group Executives who are members of the Board of Directors.
+ Resigned during the year.
@ Employed during the year.
** Resigned during the previous year.

Remuneration structure for independent non-executive directors

 
 

of the Board.
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additional retainer fee for committee membership. 

 
financial period.

Name of Board members 
Salary

R thousand

Other 
payments

R thousand

Total

 2013

R thousand

Total 
2012

R thousand
ME Mkwanazi (Chairperson) 999 1 1 000 1 000
NBP Gcaba# 156 – 156 633
MP Moyo# 163 – 163 645

 525 –  525 450
539 – 539 225

MA Fanucchi 450 – 450 450
NK Choubey 375 – 375 263
HD Gazendam 564 – 564 550
IB Skosana* 488 – 488 488
MP Malungani+ – – – 450
BD Mkhwanazi# 163 – 163 525
TZ Mnyaka# 187 – 187 600
N Moola 450 – 450 450
NP Mnxasana0 138 – 138 –
IM Sharma 488 – 488 450
E Tshabalala 501 – 501 488
DLJ Tshepe 506 – 506 450

6 692 1 6 693 8 117

*  Director’s fees paid to Kapela Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd.
+ Resigned during the year.
# Retired during the year.
0 Appointed during the year.
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Accounting policies 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Transnet SOC Ltd (the Company) is a company domiciled in South Africa.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 comprise the Company and its 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 May 2013.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), interpretations of those standards 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and applicable legislation.

Critical judgements and estimates made in applying the accounting policies 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of equity, assets and 
liabilities, revenue and expenses.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience, independent experts’ advice and 
inputs and various other factors that are considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements and estimates made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the 
financial statements are discussed in the relevant accounting policies below and the accompanying notes to the 
annual financial statements:

Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group (financial statements) are presented in South African Rand, 
rounded to the nearest million. The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
the following assets and liabilities that are stated at fair value: unlisted investments, derivative financial 
instruments, financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss, financial instruments classified as 

revalued amounts.

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

Except as otherwise disclosed, these accounting policies are consistent with those applied in previous years and 
are consistently applied throughout the Group.
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Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries (including special purpose entities, such as trusts) are entities controlled by the Group. Control 
exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Typically, this will be where the Group has more than 50% of the 
voting power. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or convertible are taken 
into account. The consolidated financial statements include the results of the Company and its subsidiaries, from 
the effective dates of acquisition to the effective dates of disposal.

The acquisition method of accounting in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations is applied in accounting 
for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the sum of:

the acquiree. 

Acquisition related costs such as advisory, legal and accounting fees are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
in which they are incurred and the services received.

Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 

with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations at the lower of carrying value and 
fair value less costs to sell. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share in the 
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognised as goodwill and accounted for in terms of 
the accounting policy on Intangible Assets and Goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the 
net assets acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a gain from a bargain purchase. The 

and contingent liabilities recognised.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the identifiable assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by 
the Group.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability 
will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement either in profit 
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is 
not remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

 
deficit balance. 
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Where there is a change in the interest in a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, the difference 

or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Special purpose entities are consolidated when the substance of the relationship between the Group and the 
special purpose entity indicates that it is controlled by the Group.

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
of the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses in the Company financial 
statements.

Equity accounted investments

acquisition reserves less any accumulated impairment losses.

statements until the investment is written down to a nominal value. Thereafter, losses are accounted for only 
to the extent that the Group is committed to providing financial support to the investee. The carrying amount of  
the investments is reduced to recognise any decline in value. 

 
associate’s net assets is recognised as goodwill and is included in the carrying value of the investment. If the cost 
of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
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Investments in associates

financial and operating policies of the entity. Significant influence is presumed in instances where the Group has 
an equity stake greater than 20,0% but less than 50,0% in an entity.

Investments in associates are equity accounted in the consolidated financial statements for the period in  

sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and  
Discontinued Operations. 

in the associates.

Investments in joint ventures

Joint venture agreements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an 

for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Separate financial statements

and associates are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Revenue
Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from the sale of goods and 

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s 
activities as described below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the 
type of customer, the type of transaction and the specific circumstances of each arrangement.

Where extended payment terms are granted by the Group, whether explicitly or implicitly, the effect of the time 
value of money is taken into account in the measurement of revenue irrespective of other factors such as the cash 
selling prices of the goods.

Rail transportation services

Revenue from rail freight and related services is recognised in profit or loss when the service is rendered by 
reference to the stage of completion of transactions as freight moves from the point of origin to destination. 

Engineering contracts revenue

Revenue arising from engineering contracts, including maintenance services is recognised when the outcome 
of the contract can be measured reliably by reference to the stage of completion of the contractual activity. 
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Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims 
and incentive payments receivable less penalties incurred to the extent that it is probable that they will result in 
revenue and can be measured reliably. 

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed. When the outcome of a 
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract 
costs incurred in the period that are likely to be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Ports revenue

Port infrastructure and related services

Ports revenue comprise port dues, light dues, vessel traffic services, berthing services, towage and pilotage and 
similar services related to the provision of port infrastructure and facilities to clients. The revenue is recognised 
in the period in which the service is rendered in accordance with the tariff schedule.

Port operations

Port operating revenue comprises freight handling, storage and other services related to the handling and 
processing of cargo through port terminals. The revenue is recognised when the service is rendered.

Pipeline revenue

Revenue from the transportation of petroleum and gas products is recognised at the point of delivery in the 
period the service is rendered based on the contractual terms and the related volumes transported. Revenue 
from the storage and handling of petroleum products is recognised when services are rendered over the period 
of the contract.

Revenue claw back adjustment

Two of the Group’s Operating divisions, namely Transnet National Ports Authority and Transnet Pipelines are 

of South Africa respectively. Both regulators apply the required revenue approach and the claw back mechanism 

activities reflects the economic impact of the regulators’ decisions regarding future revenues and tariffs arising 
from the application of the claw back mechanism. 

in setting tariffs for future periods. The Group recognises a liability for amounts accrued in the current and prior 
periods in excess of the allowed revenue set by the regulator, less allowable expenses incurred in generating the 
excess revenue. The liability is subsequently released to revenue in the periods in which the regulator claws back 

Rental income

the lease in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements. Lease incentives granted are recognised 
as an integral part of the total rental income.
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Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date the Group’s right to receive payments is established, 

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all suspensive conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is 
intended to compensate. 

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to 

Transactions giving rise to adjustments to revenue/purchases

The Group accounts for cash discounts and rebates received/(given) as follows:

deducted from the cost of inventories purchased.

Finance income
Finance income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial asset to the asset’s net carrying amount. 

Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, 
dividends on redeemable preference shares, amortisation of discounts on bonds and foreign exchange gains or 
losses, less amounts capitalised to qualifying assets.

Capitalised borrowing costs

The Group capitalises borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset, as part of the cost of that asset, until such time that the asset is substantially ready for its 
intended use. The Group identifies a qualifying asset as one that necessarily takes six months or more to get 
ready for its intended use. 

To the extent that funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the Group 
capitalises the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period less any investment income 
on the temporary investment of the borrowed funds.

To the extent that a qualifying asset is funded via general borrowings, the Group determines borrowing costs 
eligible for capitalisation by applying the weighted average cost of borrowings for the period, other than 
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, to the expenditures on that asset. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss under finance costs in the period in which they are 
incurred.
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Foreign currency

Functional and presentation currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated 
financial statements are prepared in South African Rand, which is the Company and Group’s functional and 
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency are defined as foreign currency 
transactions. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at exchange rates 
ruling on transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
the functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.

are carried at fair value denominated in the foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the 
exchange rate ruling when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

under “Derivative instruments and hedge accounting”

settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur, which form part of the net investment in the foreign operation 
and are initially recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve and subsequently recognised in profit 
or loss on disposal of the net investment.

Financial statements of foreign entities

The financial statements of foreign entities are translated into South African Rand as follows:

or appropriate average rates.

of the foreign entity and translated at the rates of foreign exchange ruling at the reporting date.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations 
and of related hedges where hedge accounting is applied are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
presented as a separate component of equity. 

On disposal, such translation differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
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Taxation
Income taxation on profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred taxation. Income taxation is 
recognised in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity.

The taxation effect of transactions with shareholders in their capacity as shareholders, including transactions 

income.

Current taxation

The charge for current taxation is the amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the 

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences arising between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their taxation bases. The following 
temporary differences are not provided for: 

probable they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred taxation provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities and is calculated using the taxation rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred taxation is charged or credited in the profit or loss, except 
where it relates to items charged or credited to other comprehensive income or recognised directly in equity. 

A deferred taxation asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available to be utilised against the associated unused taxation losses and deductible temporary differences. 
Deferred taxation assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related taxation benefit 
will be realised. 

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 

the temporary differences and it is probable that it will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group has the legal right to and intends to settle its current taxation assets and liabilities on a 
net basis.

In terms of the measurement criteria set out in IAS 12 Income Taxes, the Group has assessed its intention at  
the reporting date on recovering an asset or liability to the extent that this intention influences the rate of 
taxation to be applied in calculating deferred taxation. In this regard, the Group has recognised deferred taxation 
as follows:
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Land

As land is deemed to be realised through sale, there is no deferred tax effect on the difference between the tax 
base and the original cost of the land. Deferred taxation is calculated on the difference between the carrying 
amount and the capital gains taxation (CGT) base cost at the CGT rate.

Asset in respect of which no taxation allowances are granted

No deferred taxation is raised in the case where neither the accounting nor the taxation profit is affected. Where 
the asset is revalued, deferred taxation is calculated based on the Group’s intention. Where the intention is to 
sell the asset, deferred taxation is raised at the CGT rate on the difference between the CGT base cost and the 
revalued carrying amount. Where the intention is to use the asset, deferred taxation is raised at the usage rate on 
the difference between the taxation base and the revalued carrying amount.

Asset (other than land) carried at cost

Where an asset is carried under the cost model and a taxation allowance is available to be claimed against the 
asset, deferred taxation is calculated on the difference between the carrying amount and the taxation base at 
the usage rate.

Asset (other than land) carried at the revalued amount with the intention to use

As the future benefits are expected to flow from the use of the assets, deferred taxation is calculated at the 
usage rate on the difference between the taxation base and the revalued carrying amount.

Asset (other than land) carried at the revalued amount with the intention to sell

Where the intention is to recover the benefits of the asset through sale, deferred taxation is calculated at usage 
rate on the difference between the taxation base and the original cost, and at the CGT rate on the difference 
between the CGT base cost and the revalued carrying amount. 

Asset (other than land) carried at the revalued amount with the intention to use and sell

Where the intention is to recover the benefits of the asset through both use and sale, deferred taxation is 
calculated to reflect this intention. Deferred taxation is calculated at the usage rate on the difference between 
the taxation base and the original cost, at the CGT rate on the difference between the CGT base cost and the 
future selling price (residual value), and at the usage rate on the difference between the future selling price and 
revalued carrying amount.

Investment property (other than land) carried at fair value 

Deferred taxation on depreciable investment property (ie buildings) carried at fair value is calculated at the 
usage rate on the difference between the taxation base, where taxation allowances are available, and the original 
cost, and at the CGT rate on the difference between the CGT base cost and the fair value. Where the depreciable 

economic benefits over the life of the asset, deferred taxation is calculated at the usage rate on the difference 
between the taxation base and fair value.
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Dividend taxation

Dividend taxation is levied at a rate of 15,0% on dividends paid to a shareholder. The taxation is levied on the date 
of a dividend payment, which is deemed to be the date on which the dividend accrues to the shareholder. Dividend 
taxation is withheld by the Company paying the dividend. An exemption from dividend taxation is provided for, 
inter alia, where the beneficial owner is the Government.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, or revalued amount, less accumulated depreciation where 
appropriate and any accumulated impairment losses.

Recognition and measurement

Port operating assets, pipeline networks and port infrastructure assets are carried at revalued amounts. Formal 
revaluations are performed every three years by independent experts applying internationally acceptable and 
appropriately benchmarked valuation techniques such as depreciated optimised replacement cost and modern 
equivalent asset valuation methods dependent on the asset class being revalued. Appropriate indices are applied 
in the intervening periods to ensure that the assets are carried at fair value at the reporting date. 

Revaluation surpluses that arise are recognised in other comprehensive income and are accumulated in the 
revaluation reserve in equity, except to the extent that they reverse a revaluation decrease for the same asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the surplus is credited to the profit or loss to the extent of 
the decrease previously recognised. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of an asset is 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the revaluation 
reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset, 
the attributable revaluation surplus included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, borrowing costs capitalised 

Assets under construction, including capital work in progress, are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment 

relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, 

production overheads. 

Where components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items of property, plant and equipment and depreciated separately over their respective  
useful lives.

equipment if they are expected to be used for more than one period. If not, they are classified as inventory. 

property, plant or equipment are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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Subsequent costs

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing 
part of such an item when that cost is incurred and it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
within the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of 
the replaced part is derecognised. All other costs are recognised in the profit or loss as expenses when incurred.

recognition criteria are met.

Depreciation

whichever is shorter. Depreciation commences when the asset is available for use. Assets are depreciated over 
the following periods:

Asset class Years

Buildings and structures 10 – 50
Buildings and structures components 5 – 25
Permanent way and works 3 – 95
Aircraft including components 8 – 15
Pipelines including network components 6 – 75
Port infrastructure 12 – 100
Floating craft including components 5 – 40
Port operating equipment including components 3 – 40
Rolling stock 30 – 60
Rolling stock components 25 – 60
Containers 10 – 20
Vehicles 3 – 15
Machinery, equipment and furniture 3 – 50

appropriate. Changes resulting from this review are accounted for prospectively as changes in estimates. 

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when they are either disposed of, or when no further 
economic benefits are expected to flow from their use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds (if any) and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 
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Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to either earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
properties under construction for such purposes) and are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as described under the Revenue accounting policy.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a change in its 
use, any difference arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of the item immediately prior to 
transfer and its fair value is treated in the same way as a revaluation under IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 
and is recognised in other comprehensive income if it is a gain. Upon disposal of the item the gain is transferred 
to retained earnings. Any loss arising from the transfer is recognised immediately in profit or loss unless it is a 
reversal of a previous revaluation surplus in which case the loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
reduces the existing revaluation surplus.

value at the date of the reclassification becomes its deemed cost for subsequent accounting purposes. 

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that 
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes (owner occupied). 
If these portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for 
the different portions separately as either investment property or property, plant and equipment. If the portions 
are not separable, the entire property is only classified as investment property if an insignificant portion is owner 

The Group’s intention in respect of back of port properties is for the Group to hold these properties strategically 
for future development. Until the future strategic purpose of these properties is formalised through the relevant 
governance structures, they shall be held for capital appreciation.

The Group has areas where multiple buildings are on a single erf or multiple erfs defined as one area called a 
precinct. Certain buildings may be owner occupied and others rented to third parties or vacant. For classification 
purposes, a precinct, station or intermodal hub is assessed in its entirety and is classified as investment property 
if the relevant criteria above are met.

For valuation purposes the external rentals within the precinct, station or intermodal hub as well as for back of 
port properties are used as the basis to determine the fair value of these properties using the normalised income 
method of valuation which entails the capitalisation of the normalised net annual income from the property. 

Properties which were acquired for administrative purposes but are currently vacant or occupied by a third party 
tenant with a long term lease in excess of five years are classified as investment property even though there 
may be no plans to dispose of the assets. If the lease term is less than five years, the asset is not classified as 
investment property. If the criteria in IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations are 
met, the asset is classified under Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale.
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Intangible assets and goodwill

Software and licences

Software and licences are recognised and measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Costs associated with researching or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an expense as 
incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the development of identifiable software products controlled by 
the Group that will probably generate economic benefits beyond one year and for which the costs can be measured 
reliably, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the software development employee costs and 
an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Costs relating to the acquisition of licences are capitalised and 

Research and development

Research costs, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, 
are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Development costs, arising from the 
application of the research findings to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved 
products and processes are recognised as an asset if, and only if the Group can demonstrate all of the following:

The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion of overheads. 

Prefeasibility and feasibility study expenses are classified and accounted for as either research or development 
costs in accordance with the above criteria. 

Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 

lives. Development assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment at each 
reporting date.

Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss  
as incurred.
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Amortisation and impairment

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are not amortised 
but are tested for impairment at each reporting date. 
Intangible assets with a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 

estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. The estimated useful lives for 
the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Licences – term of the licence.

Goodwill

measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the net fair value of the Group’s share in the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill in 
respect of subsidiaries is tested for impairment annually as well as when there is an indication of impairment. 
For the purpose of impairment testing goodwill is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s 

assets or liabilities of the acquiree are allocated to those units (refer “Impairment of Non-financial assets”). Any 
impairment losses recognised are not subsequently reversed.

 
of the investment and is not tested separately for impairment on an annual basis (ie it is assessed for impairment 

the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented separately on the statement of financial position. 

the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured 

Gain from a bargain purchase

A gain from a bargain purchase represents the excess of the net fair value of the Group’s share in the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the cost of the acquisition.

The gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss, but only after a reassessment of whether all assets and 
liabilities of the acquiree have been identified and the fair values of all the assets acquired, liabilities assumed 
and the consideration given up.

Impairment of non-financial assets

determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the individual asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an asset does not 
generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. The Group considers its five operating segments or divisions per 
the segmental report as separate cash generating units for the purposes of impairment testing.
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Goodwill, intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which  
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent of the balance in the revaluation 

Calculation of recoverable amount

Fair value less costs to sell is determined by ascertaining the current market value of the asset and deducting 
 
 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (and the business unit 

the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill, whether recognised at an interim reporting date or at year end, is not 
reversed in subsequent periods.

In respect of other assets, a previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount 
increases as a result of a change in the estimates previously used to determine the recoverable amount, to an 
amount not higher than the carrying amount that would have resulted, net of depreciation or amortisation had 
no impairment loss been recognised. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, 
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation increase.

Financial instruments

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group 
has become party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. The Group applies trade date accounting for 
“regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets. 

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity. The classification depends on the purpose for which 
the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading and financial assets 
specifically designated into this category on initial recognition. 
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A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short 
term, is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is 

hedging instrument in an effective hedge or is a financial guarantee contract). 

Financial assets or liabilities may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition when:

otherwise arise from measuring financial assets or liabilities, or recognising gains and losses on them on 

value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about 

resulting from those financial instruments.

The fair value designation, once made, is irrevocable.

Loans and receivables

quoted in an active market, other than those designated on initial recognition as “at fair value through profit 
or loss” or as “available-for-sale”. Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for maturities 

statement of financial position.

assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within twelve months of the end of 
the reporting period, in which case they are included in current assets.

fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than assets that are 
included in the other categories above.

Measurement

Financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or a financial 
liability not carried at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price, ie 
the fair value of the consideration given or received, unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by 
comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument (ie without modification 
or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets. 
Where the transaction price does not provide the best evidence of fair value at initial recognition, the financial 
instrument is initially measured at the transaction price and any difference between this price and the value 
initially obtained from a valuation model is subsequently recognised in profit or loss on the basis of the individual 
facts and circumstances of the transaction but not later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable 
market data or when the financial instrument is derecognised.

Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are measured as set out below:
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Investments 

measured at fair value. Fair value is the market value for listed investments and either the market value of a 
substantially similar investment or the present value of expected future cash flows of the net asset base for 

at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition over the period to maturity. 

Derivative instruments and hedge accounting 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, which include futures, forward exchange and currency option 
contracts, cross currency and interest rate swaps and interest rate options to hedge its exposures arising from 
operational, financing and investment activities.

In accordance with the Financial Risk Management policy, the Group does not trade in derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes. 

derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of host contracts and the host 
contracts are not carried at fair value through profit or loss. The Group assesses whether an embedded derivative 
is required to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a standalone derivative when the Group 
first becomes a party to the contract. Subsequent reassessment is only performed by the Group if there is a 
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that otherwise would be required 
under the contract.

Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. The fair value 

instrument in a cash flow hedge, refer below). The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that 
the Group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the reporting date, taking into account current interest 
rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. The fair value of the forward exchange 
contracts is their quoted market price at the reporting date, being the present value of the quoted forward price.

The Group applies fair value and cash flow hedge accounting to qualifying hedge relationships in accordance 
with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement by designating certain derivatives as hedges 
of the variability in the fair value of recognised assets, liabilities or unrecognised firm commitments (fair value 
hedges) or hedges of the variability in cash flows attributable to particular risks associated with recognised 
assets, liabilities or highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges). At the inception of the hedge 
relationship, the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item is documented, along with the 

of the hedge relationship and on an ongoing basis, the Group assesses whether the hedging instrument is highly 
effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in profit 
or loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset, liability or unrecognised firm 
commitment that are attributable to the hedged risk. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges is initially recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow hedge accounting 
reserve in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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The amounts initially recognised in other comprehensive income and included in equity are reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss in the period(s) in which the hedged item affects profit or loss and are included in the 
same line as the hedged item. However, where the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.

Basis for determining the fair value of financial instruments

Derivatives

The fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities are determined based on the net present values of 
all future cash flows, discounted at the prevailing market interest rates at the reporting date. Only observable 

Bonds

The fair value of bonds designated at fair value through profit or loss is determined by applying the Johannesburg  
Securities Exchange (JSE) closing rates with the SA Bond formula. 

values of all future cash flows, discounted at the prevailing market interest rates at the reporting date. 

Short term financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of six months or less are assumed to 
approximate fair value.

any impairment recognised. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any transaction costs, and any 
discount or premium on settlement.

Trade and other receivables

cost using the effective interest method. Allowances for irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the profit or 

between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The allowance accounts in respect of trade and loan receivables are used to record impairment losses unless the 
Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount is possible, in which case the amount is considered irrecoverable 
and is written off against the financial asset directly.

The Group renegotiates terms for financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired in instances 
where the debtor provides evidence of the ability to meet the obligations in terms of the renegotiated terms. 

financial assets.



A
n

n
u

a
l fi

n
a

n
ci

a
l s

ta
te

m
e

n
ts

57

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, and instruments which are readily convertible, 

equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts.

Financial liabilities

After initial recognition, financial liabilities other than financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by 
taking into account any transaction costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and the resultant gains and 

 

redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest 
basis.

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss represent a portion of the Group’s bonds that 
are part of the Group’s market making portfolio. The Group makes a market in its bonds to ensure that the bonds 
remain attractive to investors. Positions in Group’s bonds are hedged with opposite positions in Government or 
Corporate bonds. These bonds are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance 
with the Group’s risk management strategy.

Trade payables and accruals

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable which are settled within normal terms are stated at  
amortised cost.

Impairment of financial assets

significant financial difficulty experienced by the debtor, breach of contract by the debtor, concessions granted 
to the debtor by the Group to restructure payment terms, probability of bankruptcy or financial reorganisation of 
the debtor, and observable data indicating a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows from a group of 
debtors even though the decrease cannot yet be identified with individual debtors in the portfolio. 

If evidence of impairment exists, the estimated recoverable amount of the asset (or group of assets) is determined 
and an impairment loss is recognised for the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount 
as follows:
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discounted estimated recoverable amount (present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate), and the resulting loss is recognised in the profit or loss for the period. 
Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. Assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually 

portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the 
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 30 days, as well as observable 
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

the cumulative loss that was previously recognised in other comprehensive income is removed from equity and 
recognised in profit or loss for the period even though the financial asset has not been derecognised.

occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. The impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment 
loss has been recognised.

event occurring after the impairment loss was originally recognised in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss in respect of an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair 
value cannot be measured reliably, whether recognised at an interim reporting date or at year end, is not reversed 
in subsequent periods. 

Offset

Where a legally enforceable right of offset exists for recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and 
there is an intention to settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, or settle on a net basis, all related 
financial effects are offset.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or equity according to their 
substance and the definitions of financial liabilities and equity.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recognised at the fair value of the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

Gains and losses on financial instruments

Net gains or net losses on:

Available-for-sale financial assets are determined with reference to quoted share prices on the stock exchange 

recognised in profit and loss when the right to receive payment is established. Impairment losses are recognised 
in profit or loss for the period.
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Loans and receivables and financial assets held-to-maturity represent impairment losses or reversal of impairment 
losses, interest earned on outstanding balances, as well as gains or losses recognised on derecognition of the asset. 
These gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss for the period under finance costs.

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit and loss 

for the period on the fair value line.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost represent the amortisation of discounts on or premiums given/received, 
interest costs as well as any derecognition gains or losses on these liabilities. Gains or losses on liabilities held at 
amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss for the period under finance costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets (or a portion thereof) are derecognised when the Group’s rights to the cash flows expire, or when 
the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards related to the financial asset or when the Group loses 
control of the financial asset. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial 

included in the consolidated profit or loss.

Financial liabilities (or a portion thereof) are derecognised when the obligations specified in the contract are 
discharged, cancelled or expire. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying value of the financial 
liability, including related unamortised costs, and settlement amounts paid is included in the consolidated profit 
or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less all estimated costs of completion and selling.

Cost is determined as follows:

direct labour cost and an appropriate portion of related manufacturing overhead cost, based on normal 
capacity.

A provision for inventory obsolescence is raised to write down inventory to net realisable value based on a 
physical count and inspection of inventory items which is performed at least annually and takes into account the 
age, condition and usage rates of the inventory.

Writedowns to net realisable value and other inventory expenses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

Construction contracts
Construction contract balances represent the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers 
for contract work performed to date. They are measured at cost plus profit recognised to date less progress 

of fixed and variable overheads incurred in the Group’s contract activities based on normal operating capacity.

Construction work in progress is presented as part of trade and other receivables in the statement of financial 
position. Where payments received from customers exceed the income recognised, the difference is presented 
as deferred income in the statement of financial position.
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Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale and discontinued operations

principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the 
sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed 
sale within one year from the date of classification.

value less costs to sell.

assets were carried at revalued amounts. The same applies to gains and losses on subsequent measurement. 
A gain or subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell may not exceed the cumulative impairment losses 
previously recognised in terms of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations or  
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

or geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resell.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be 

operation.

of the standard, and management believes that the delay was caused by events or circumstances beyond the 
Group’s control and there is sufficient evidence that the Group remains committed to its plan to sell the assets or 

Share capital
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
taxation, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares for the acquisition 
of a business are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

When share capital is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, is 
deducted from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from 
the total equity until they are cancelled, reissued or disposed of.

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

Employee benefits
The Group operates several defined benefit funds and a defined contribution fund. The assets of each scheme 
are held separately from those of the Group and are administered by the schemes’ trustees. The defined benefit 
funds are actuarially valued for accounting purposes by professional independent consulting actuaries on an 
annual basis.

Defined contribution fund

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution fund are recognised in the profit or loss in the period to 
which they relate.
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Defined benefit funds

The benefit costs and obligations under the defined benefit funds are determined separately for each fund using 

losses are recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by the 

until the benefit becomes vested. To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognised 
immediately in the profit or loss.

value of plan assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to the unrecognised past service cost plus 
the present value of available refunds and reductions in the future contributions to the plan.

 
benefit costs are determined through annual actuarial valuations by independent consulting actuaries using the 

contributions is recognised in the period in which the employee renders the related service.

medical benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the 
current and prior periods.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal 
retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The 
Group recognises termination benefits when it has demonstrated its commitment to either terminate the 
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to 
provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

Leases

Group as a lessee

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leased assets and the related liabilities recognised at the 
commencement of the lease term at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to 
achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. The corresponding rental 

The interest element of the finance lease payment is recognised in the profit or loss or capitalised to qualifying 
assets over the lease period if the relevant criteria are met. Any contingent rentals are charged as expenses in the 
period in which they are incurred. Property, plant and equipment acquired under a finance lease are depreciated 
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.
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Leases where the lessor retains a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net of any incentives received from the lessor, 
(including contracts with fixed escalation clauses), are charged to the profit or loss on a straight line basis over 
the period of the lease.

The Group capitalises all leasehold improvements and depreciates them over their useful life or the remaining 
period of the lease (if shorter). 

Group as a lessor

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the Group derecognises the leased asset and recognises the 
net investment in the lease as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of 
the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease 
using the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

Assets leased to third parties under operating leases are included under property, plant and equipment (or 
investment property where applicable) in the statement of financial position. They are depreciated over their 
expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar owned property, plant and equipment. Rental income (net 

Sale and leaseback

Where a sale and leaseback agreement is classified as a finance lease, any excess of the sale proceeds over the 
carrying value is deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the lease.

Where a sale and leaseback agreement is classified as an operating lease and the transaction took place at fair 
value, any excess or deficit of the sale proceeds over the carrying values of the assets sold is recognised in the 
profit or loss in the year in which it arises. If the deficit is compensated for by future lease payments at below 
market price, the deficit is deferred and amortised in proportion to the lease payments over the period for which 
the asset is expected to be used. If the sale price is above fair value, the excess over fair value shall be deferred 
and amortised over the period for which the asset is expected to be used.

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

The Group ensures that the following two requirements are met, in order for an arrangement transacted by the 
Group to be classified as a lease in terms of IAS 17 Leases:

implicitly stated in the contract), and

the right to control the use of the underlying asset. This will be the case if any one of the following conditions 
are met:

 –  The purchaser has the ability or right to operate the asset or direct others to operate the asset in a manner 
it determines while obtaining or controlling more than an insignificant amount of the output or other utility 
of the asset.

 –  The purchaser has the ability or right to control physical access to the asset while obtaining or controlling 
more than an insignificant amount of the output or other utility of the asset.

 –  There is only a remote possibility that parties other than the purchaser will take more than an insignificant 
amount of the output or other utility of the asset and the price that the purchaser will pay  
for the output is neither contractually fixed per unit of output nor equal to the current market price per unit 
at the time of delivery. 
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The Group’s assessment of whether an arrangement contains a lease is made at the inception of the arrangement, 
with reassessment occurring in the event of limited changes in circumstances as specified by IFRIC 4 Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 

 
of money and the risks specific to the liability.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that the reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Warranties

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is  
based on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

Restructuring

A provision for restructuring costs is recognised when the Group has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 
and the Group has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to 
implement that plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. Restructuring provisions only include 
those direct expenditures which are necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing 
activities of the Group. Future operating costs are not provided for.

Decommissioning and environmental liabilities

Decommissioning liabilities

A provision for the dismantling and removal of an item of property, plant and equipment and restoring the site 
is recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) to decommission the asset and 
restore the site on which the asset is located and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the cost to dismantle and remove the item and 
rehabilitate the site and may change from year to year taking into account the changes in intended use of the asset, 
new techniques and knowhow in rehabilitating affected sites, estimated risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation and the time value of money. These estimates are reviewed at least annually.

Decommissioning costs where the obligation arises as a result of either having acquired or constructed the 
asset or as a consequence of having used the asset in the current and/or prior periods for purposes other than 
to produce inventories are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. Where the obligation arises as a result of 
having used the asset to produce inventories, the decommissioning costs are recognised as part of the cost of 
the inventory. 

The effect of subsequent changes to assumptions in estimating an obligation for which the provision was 

which did not relate to the initial acquisition or construction of a related asset are charged to the income 
statement.
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Environmental liabilities

In accordance with the Group’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for 

(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. 

The Group’s environmental obligations arise from legislation which requires the Group to remove waste material 
and remediate land contaminated by asbestos, ferromanganese, manganese, mixed soil (including chrome, 
sulphur and manganese), fuel and rubble. 

A number of factors are considered in determining the amount of the obligation, including: 

The above estimates are reviewed at least annually and the effect of subsequent changes thereto is recognised 
prospectively in the income statement as a change in accounting estimate.

Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the unavoidable costs of meeting the Group’s obligations 
under a contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under the contract.

Other provisions

are recognised when they meet the recognition requirements as per IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are (a) possible obligations of the Group that arise from past events whose existence will be 

control of the Group, or (b) present obligations that arise from past events and it is either not probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial 
statements but are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements unless the probability of occurrence is 
remote.

Contingent assets

Contingent assets are possible assets of the Group that arise from past events and whose existence will be 

control of the Group. Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial statements and are only disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
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Financial guarantees 

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the 
original or modified terms of the debt instrument. The Group recognises financial guarantee contracts initially at 
fair value. Subsequently these are recognised at the higher of:

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; 
and 

with IAS 18 Revenue.

Legal claims

A provision for legal claims is recognised when all the recognition criteria for provisions above are met and is 
based on legal opinion, taking into account the risk and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

Compensation receivable
Compensation receivable from third parties such as insurance companies in respect of assets that are impaired, 
lost or given up or for any other loss incurred is recognised in the profit or loss when, and only when, it is virtually 
certain that the payment will be received and the amount can be measured reliably. 

Segment disclosure
For management purposes, the Group is organised into five Operating divisions based on their products and/ or 
services, which form the basis of reporting segment information in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments. 
Further information on the operations of the Operating divisions is available in the Operational Review report.

maker reviews regularly in allocating resources to segments and in assessing their performance. Reportable 
segments are identified based on quantitative thresholds of revenue, profit or loss and assets.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis, similar to transactions with third 

segment transactions” column of the segment report.

Related-party transactions
Transactions with related parties are conducted on an arm’s length basis similar to transactions with third parties.
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million Notes

2013
R million

2012

R million

 45 866  50 156 Revenue 1  50 194  45 900 

 (26 983)  (29 213)
Net operating expenses excluding depreciation, 
derecognition and amortisation 2  (29 143)  (27 018)

 18 883  20 943
Profit from operations before depreciation, 
derecognition, amortisation and items listed below  21 051  18 882 

 (8 355)  (9 277) Depreciation, derecognition and amortisation 3  (9 277)  (8 355)
 10 528  11 666 Profit from operations before the items listed below 4.1  11 774  10 527 

 (367)  (551)   Impairment of assets 4.2  (588)  (342) 
  2   1 Dividends received 4.3  –   –

  31   28 Post-retirement benefit obligation income 4.4   28 31
 (202)   222 Fair value adjustments 5   222 (202)

   Income/(loss) from associates and joint ventures 13   24 (6)
 9 992  11 366 Profit from operations before net finance costs  11 460  10 008 

 (4 254)  (5 545) Finance costs 6  (5 545)  (4 255)
  462   385 Finance income 7   405   488 

 6 200  6 206 Profit before taxation  6 320  6 241 
 (2 110)  (1 970) Taxation 8  (1 980)  (2 122)

4 090  4 236 Profit for the year  4 340 4 119 
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million Notes

2013
R million

2012

R million

 4 090  4 236 Profit for the year  4 340  4 119 
Other comprehensive income

 –   –   
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations  (25)   1 

 2 942  1 772 Gains on revaluations  1 680  2 899 
 (61)   329 Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges   329  (61)

 (501)  (307) Actuarial loss on post-retirement benefit obligations  (307)  (501)
 2 380  1 794  1 677  2 338 

(713)  (506)
Taxation relating to components of other 
comprehensive income 8.1  (484)  (702)

 1 667  1 288 
Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of taxation  1 193  1 636 

 5 757 5 524 Total comprehensive income for the year 5 533  5 755 

Statements of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Disclosure of components of other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million Notes

2013
R million

2012

R million

 2 074  1 272 Net gains on revaluation reserve  1 202  2 042 
 2 942  1 772 Gains on revaluations  1 680  2 899 

  166   423 –  Gain on revaluation of pipeline networks 22   423   166 
 2 730  1 325 –  Gain on revaluation of port facilities 22  1 325  2 730 

 (25)  (93)
–    Decommissioning restoration liability 

adjustment 22  (93)  (25)

  71   9 
–    Net gain on revaluation of land, buildings 

and structures 22   9   71 

 –     16 
–    Gain/(loss) on revaluation of other 

investments 22   16  (43)
–   92 –  Transfer in on liquidation of subsidiary 22  –   –

 (868)  (500) Taxation effect of revalued items 8.1  (478)  (857)
 (44) 237 Net gain/(loss) on cash flow hedging reserve   237  (44)
 (61)   329 –  Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges 22 329  (61)

  17  (92)
–    Taxation effect of cash flow hedge  

(gain)/loss 8.1    (92)   17 

 –   –
Net movement on foreign currency translation 
reserve 22  (25)   1 

(363)  (221)
Net actuarial loss on post-retirement  benefit 
obligations  (221) (363)

(501)  (307)
Actuarial loss on post-retirement benefit 
obligations 22  (307) (501)

(220)  (170)
–   Actuarial loss on the Transport Pension 

Fund: Transnet Sub-fund 32.1.2  (170) (220)

(147)  (101)
–   Actuarial loss on the Transnet Second 

Defined Benefit Fund 32.1.3  (101) (147)

(9)  (8)
–   Actuarial loss on the Transnet Top 

Management Pension 32.1.4  (8) (9)

(72)  (62)
–   Actuarial loss on the Transnet Workmen's 

Compensation Act pensioners 32.1.4  (62) (72)

(49) (41)
–    Actuarial loss on the Transnet SATS 

Pensioner’s medical benefits 32.2.1  (41) (49)

(4)  75
–    Actuarial gain/(loss)on the Transnet 

employees medical benefits 32.2.2 75 (4)
  138   86 Taxation effect of net actuarial loss 8.1 86     138 

 1 667 1 288 Other comprehensive income for the year 1 193  1 636 
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million Notes

2013
R million

2012

R million

 Assets  
165 542 190 107 Non-current assets 189 982 165 380
 155 953  176 921 Property, plant and equipment 9  176 921  155 953 

 7 732  7 938 Investment properties 10  7 938  7 732 
  586   534 Intangible assets 11   534   586 
  222   208 Investments in subsidiaries 12

  12   10 Investments in associates and joint ventures 13   93   72 
  467  3 821 Derivative financial assets 14  3 821   467 

  2   4 Long-term loans and advances 15   4   2 
  568   671 Other investments and long-term financial assets 16   671   568 

12 106 13 294 Current assets 13 639 12 394
 2 591  3 400 Inventories 17  3 400  2 591 
 5 613  6 243 Trade and other receivables 18  6 248  5 615 

  214  –   Current taxation asset  –     209 
  35   34 Derivative financial assets 14   34   35 

 2 755  1 359 Other short-term investments 16  1 359  2 755 
  898  2 258 Cash and cash equivalents 19  2 598  1 189 
  132   275 Assets classified as held-for-sale 20   275 231

 12 238  13 569  13 914  12 625 
 177 780  203 676 Total assets  203 896 178 005

 Equity and liabilities
79 251 84 775 Capital and reserves 84 954 79 421
 12 661  12 661 Issued capital 21  12 661  12 661 
 66 590 72 114 Reserves 22 72 293  66 760 
78 923  98 541 Non-current liabilities  98 543 78 946 

 3 322 3 117 Employee benefits 23 3 117  3 322 
 52 564  66 768 Long-term borrowings 24  66 770  52 566 

  82   62 Derivative financial liabilities 14   62   82 
 1 626  1 902 Long-term provisions 25 1 902  1 626 

 18 029 20 471 Deferred taxation liabilities 26 20 471  18 050 
 3 300  6 221 Other non-current liabilities* 16  6 221  3 300 

19 606 20 360 Current liabilities 20 399 19 638
 11 119 11 849 Trade payables and accruals 28 11 884  11 151 

 5 566  6 318 Short-term borrowings 29  6 318  5 566 
 –     52 Current taxation liability   56  –   

  62   23 Derivative financial liabilities 14   23   62 
  934 991 Short-term provisions 25 991   934 

 1 925  1 127 Other current liabilities* 16  1 127 1 925

 177 780  203 676 Total equity and liabilities  203 896 178 005

*  R900 million for the provision of excessive tariff increase margin credit raised in the 2012 financial year has been re-allocated from long-term to 
short-term for both Company and Group, as at 31 March 2012.

Statements of financial position
as at 31 March 2013
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

 Issued
   capital

R million

 Revalua-
tion

 reserve
R million 

 Foreign
 currency

trans-
lation

 reserve 
R million 

 Actuarial 
gains and 

losses 
R million

 Cash
flow 

hedging 
reserve 

R million
 Other

 R million

 Retained
 earnings 
R million

 Total
R million 

Company
Opening balances as at  

1 April 2011  12 661  28 445  –    2 348  (32)   250  29 822  73 494 
Profit for the year  –    –    –    –    –    –    4 090  4 090 
Other comprehensive income 
for the year  –    2 074  –    (363)  (44)  –   –  1 667 
Transfer to retained earnings  –    (31)  –    –    –    –     31  –   
–  Gross transfers  –    (38)  –    –    –    –     38  –   
–   Taxation effect relating to 

transfers  –     7  –    –    –    –    (7)  –   

Balances at 31 March 2012  12 661  30 488  –    1 985  (76)   250  33 943  79 251 
Profit for the year  –    –    –    –    –    –   4 236 4 236

Other comprehensive income 
for the year  –    1 272  –    (221)   237  –   –  1 288 

Balances at 31 March 2013  12 661  31 760  –    1 764   161   250 38 179 84 775

Group
Opening balances as at  

1 April 2011  12 661  28 547   19  2 348  (32)   249  29 874  73 666 
Profit for the year  –    –    –    –    –    –    4 119  4 119 
Other comprehensive income 
for the year  –    2 042   1  (363)  (44)  –    –    1 636 
Transfer to retained earnings  –    (31)  –    –    –    –     31  –   
–  Gross transfers  –    (38)  –    –    –    –     38  –   
–    Taxation effect relating to 

transfers  –     7  –    –    –    –    (7)  –   

Balances at 31 March 2012  12 661  30 558   20  1 985  (76)   249  34 024 79 421
Profit for the year  –    –    –    –    –    –   4 340 4 340

Other comprehensive income 
for the year  –    1 202  (25)  (221)   237  –    –    1 193 

Balances at 31 March 2013  12 661  31 760  (5)  1 764   161   249 38 364 84 954
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million Notes

2013
R million

2012

R million

17 887 16 726 Cash flows from operating activities 16 776 17 910
20 613 22 559 Cash generated from operations 34.1 22 599 20 616
 1 315  1 315 Security of supply petroleum levy  1 315 1 315

  777  (1 273) Changes in working capital 34.2  (1 273)   781 

 22 705  22 601 

Cash generated from operations after working 

capital changes  22 641  22 712 
 (4 233)  (5 328) Finance costs 34.3  (5 328)  (4 233)

  381   302 Finance income 34.4   322   407 
 (85)   232 Taxation refunded/paid 34.5   222  (95)

 (270)  (253) Settlement of post-retirement benefit obligations  (253)  (270)
 (611)  (828) Derivatives raised and settled  (828)  (611)

(24 659)  (27 240) Cash flows utilised in investing activities  (27 241) (24 661)
 (11 465)  (16 246) Investment to maintain operations  (16 247)  (11 467)
 (10 331)  (16 238) Replacements to property, plant and equipment  (16 238)  (10 331)

 (88)  (108) Additions to intangible assets  (108)  (88)
 (36)  (92) Borrowing costs capitalised  (92)  (36)

  105   12 

Proceeds on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment   12   105 

  92   2 Proceeds on the disposal of investment property   2   92 
  2   1 Dividend income  –    –   

 (1)   1 

Net receipts/(advances) of long-term loans and 
advances   1  (1)

 (1 208)   176 Net decrease/(increase) in other investments   176  (1 208)
 (13 194)  (10 994) Investment to expand operations  (10 994)  (13 194)
 (11 585)  (10 033) Expansions – property, plant and equipment  (10 033)  (11 585)

 (1 609)  (961) Borrowing costs capitalised  (961)  (1 609)
(2 936) 11 874 Cash flows from/(utilised in) financing activities 11 874 (2 936)

 11 110  19 800 Borrowings raised  19 800  11 110 
 (14 046)  (7 926) Borrowings repaid  (7 926)  (14 046)

 (9 708)  1 360 Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1 409  (9 687)

 10 606   898 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the year  1 189  10 876 

  898  2 258 

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end  

of the year 34.6  2 598  1 189 

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Segmental report 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Continuing operations

Freight
Rail

R million
Engineering

R million

National 
Ports

Authority
R million

For the year ended 31 March 2013
External revenue* 30 608 1 371 7 410
Internal revenue 1 189 11 692 918
Total revenue 31 797 13 063 8 328
Energy costs (4 121) (228) (353)
Maintenance costs (1 294) (309) (276)
Material costs (1 005) (5 916) (75)
Personnel costs (9 765) (4 424) (1 472)
Other costs (2 650) (712) (566)
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, derecognition and 
amortisation (EBITDA) 12 962 1 474 5 586
Depreciation, derecognition and amortisation (5 852) (193) (1 266)
Impairment of assets (91) – (13)
Dividends received and income from associates – – –
Fair value adjustments and post-retirement benefit obligations 29 (6) 121
Finance costs (2 031) (252) (1 728)
Finance income 53 (1) 5
Profit before taxation 5 070 1 022 2 705
Total assets# 80 011 10 782 66 107
Total liabilities 48 606 6 954 38 317
Capital expenditure*** 18 277 1 315 1 698
Cash generated from operations after working capital changes 12 044 554 5 194
Net cash surplus/(shortfall) 6 1 3 616
EBITDA margin 40,8% 11,3% 67,1%
Number of employees 29 489 12 752 3 584

For the year ended 31 March 2012
External revenue* 27 371 1 477 7 423
Internal revenue 287 9 789 834
Total revenue 27 658 11 266 8 257
Energy costs (3 252) (198) (274)
Maintenance costs (3 438) (233) (275)
Material costs (459) (4 657) (67)
Personnel costs (7 488) (4 514) (1 440)
Other costs (2 480) (622) (448)
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, derecognition and 
amortisation (EBITDA) 10 541 1 042 5 753
Depreciation, derecognition and amortisation (5 368) (169) (1 248)
Impairment of assets (58) 2 (5)
Dividends received and loss from associates – – –
Fair value adjustments and post-retirement benefit obligations 7 (21) 260
Finance costs (1 613) (184) (1 433)
Finance income 44 18 6
Profit before taxation 3 553 688 3 333
Total assets# 65 851 8 400 64 313
Total liabilities 38 712 5 179 33 598
Capital expenditure*** 14 792 722 1 749
Cash generated from operations after working capital changes 13 056 1 298 7 440
Net cash surplus/(shortfall) (4 028) (129) 2 892
EBITDA margin 38,1% 9,2% 69,7%
Number of employees 26 850 12 572 3 422
*   Revenues from segments below the quantitative thresholds are attributable to two operating segments of Transnet. Those segments include 

Transnet Property that manages internal and external leases of commercial and residential property and Transnet Capital Projects.
**     Other adjustments include the Corporate Centre functions.
***   Excludes capitalised borrowing costs, includes capitalised finance leases and capitalised decommissioning liabilities.
#      Excludes assets held-for-sale.    
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Port
Terminals

R million
Pipelines
R million

Total for
reportable 

segments
R million

All other
segments 
and other 

adjustments**
R million

Elimination of
intersegment
 transactions

R million
Total 

R million

7 421 2 823 49 633 561 – 50 194
3 6 13 808 2 621 (16 429) –

7 424 2 829 63 441 3 182 (16 429) 50 194
(439) (192) (5 333) (137) – (5 470)
(282) (49) (2 210) (186) 2 142 (254)
(350) (10) (7 356) (20) 4 784 (2 592)

(2 714) (275) (18 650) (1 201) 5 344 (14 507)
(1 643) (139) (5 710) (3 673) 3 063 (6 320)

1 996 2 164 24 182 (2 035) (1 096) 21 051
(1 416) (547) (9 274) (156) 153 (9 277)

(10) (48) (162) (426) – (588)
– – – 24 – 24

(10) 2 136 114 – 250
(374) (302) (4 687) (7 562) 6 704 (5 545)

32 4 93 7 016 (6 704) 405
218 1 273 10 288 (3 025) (943) 6 320

18 377 28 098 203 375 13 040 (12 794) 203 621
10 477 16 704 121 058 5 700 (7 816) 118 942

2 208 2 799 26 297 2 225 (1 051) 27 471
3 602 3 012 24 406 (1 765) n/a 22 641

(85) – 3 538 (2 129) n/a 1 409
26,9% 76,5% 38,1% n/a n/a 41,9%
6 662 627 53 114 1 612 n/a 54 726

7 053 2 093 45 417 483 – 45 900
2 3 10 915 3 625 (14 540) –

7 055 2 096 56 332 4 108 (14 540) 45 900
(379) (154) (4 257) (189) – (4 446)
(248) (44) (4 238) (121) 3 928 (431)
(316) (12) (5 511) (368) 3 572 (2 307)

(2 519) (266) (16 227) (2 082) 4 246 (14 063)
(1 382) (118) (5 050) (2 562) 1 841 (5 771)

2 211 1 502 21 049 (1 214) (953) 18 882
(1 133) (383) (8 301) (187) 133 (8 355)

(15) 12 (64) (278) – (342)
– – – (6) – (6)

17 1 264 (435) – (171)
(362) 148 (3 444) (7 142) 6 331 (4 255)

47 2 117 6 702 (6 331) 488
765 1 282 9 621 (2 560) (820) 6 241

13 504 24 760 176 828 10 639 (9 693) 177 774
7 084 14 674 99 247 4 988 (5 651) 98 584
1 472 4 507 23 242 1 (984) 22 259
2 506 2 917 27 217 (4 505) n/a 22 712

969 (2 828) (3 124) (6 563) n/a (9 687)
31,3% 71,7% 37,4% n/a n/a 41,1%
6 211 631 49 686 1 236 n/a 50 922
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

1. Revenue
 45 127  48 696 Rendering of services  48 734  45 161 

 1 210  1 323 Rental income  1 323  1 210 
  20   14 Finance income from lending activities   14   20 

  967   764 Construction contracts (refer note 27)   764   967 

 47 324  50 797  50 835  47 358 
 (1 458)  (641) Revenue claw back adjustment  (641)  (1 458)

 45 866  50 156  50 194  45 900 
Refer to the Segmental Report for the split of  
revenue streams.

2. Net operating expenses excluding 
depreciation and amortisation

  314   313 Accommodation and refreshments   313   314 
  662   720 Electronic data costs   720   662 

 4 446  5 470 Energy costs  5 470  4 446 
  300   374 Health and sanitation   374   300 
  262   205 Insurance   205   262 
  431   254 Maintenance costs   254   431 
  806  1 599 Managerial and technical consulting fees (refer note 4.1)  1 599   806 

 2 307  2 592 Material costs  2 592  2 307 
 1 493  1 479 Operating leases (refer note 4.1)  1 479  1 493 

 14 063 14 507 Personnel costs 14 507  14 063 
  79   90 Printing and stationery   90   79 

 (39)   62 

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (refer note 4.1)   62  (39)

  167   190 Promotions and advertising   190   167 
  713   783 Security   783   713 
  232   262 Telecommunications   262   232 

  90   95 Transport   95   90 
  71   137 Research and development costs (refer note 4.1)   137   71 

  586   81 Other costs   11   621 

 26 983 29 213 29 143  27 018 
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

3. Depreciation, derecognition and 
amortisation (refer annexure B)

 6 058  6 528 

Depreciation and derecognition – Owned assets  

at historic cost  6 528  6 058 
  22   23 Aircraft   23   22 

  108   108 Floating craft   108   108 
  602   751 Land, buildings and structures   751   602 
  491   498 Machinery, equipment and furniture   498   491 
  777   745 Permanent way and works   745   777 

 4 028  4 344 Rolling stock and containers  4 344  4 028 
  30   59 Vehicles   59   30 

 1 983  2 352 

Depreciation and derecognition – Owned assets 

revalued portion  2 352  1 983 
  355   515 Pipeline networks   515   355 

 1 628  1 837 Port facilities  1 837  1 628 

  114   205 

Depreciation and derecognition – Leased assets  

at historic cost   205   114 
  14   17 Machinery, equipment and furniture   17   14 

33 28 Permanent way and works 28 33
  67    160 Rolling stock and containers   160     67   

 8 155  9 085  9 085  8 155 
Amortisation of intangible assets (refer note 11)

  200   192 Software and licences   192   200 
 8 355  9 277 Total depreciation, derecognition and amortisation  9 277  8 355 
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2013

Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

4.1 Profit from operations before impairment of 
assets, dividends received, post-retirement 
benefit obligation income, fair value 
adjustments and income/(loss) from 
associates and joint ventures

is stated after taking into account the  
following amounts:
Auditors’ remuneration

Group auditors

  67   53 Audit fees 53   67 
  13   13 Fees for audit related and other services 13   13 

  1 3 Expenses 3   1 
  81   69    69   81 

  806  1 599 Managerial and technical consulting fees  1 599   806 

Operating lease charges

  879   861 Land, buildings and structures   861   879 
  539   562 Vehicles   562   539 

  55   35 Rolling stock   35   55 
  20   21 Other   21   20 

 1 493  1 479  1 479  1 493 

 (39)   62 

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant  

and equipment   62  (39)

  71   137 Research and development costs   137   71 

Directors' and executives' emoluments (full details are 

disclosed in the Report of the Directors)

  22   14 Executive directors   14   22 
  8   7 Independent non-executive directors   7   8 

  101   67 Senior executives   67   101 
  131   88   88   131 
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

4.2 Impairment of assets
  150   67 Property, plant and equipment (refer annexure B)   67   150 

 –     29 Intangible assets (refer note 11)   29  –   

  26  (38)

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of associates  
and subsidiaries  (1)   1 

  10  (3) Long-term loans and advances (refer note 15)  (3)   10 
 (66)  –   Impairment reversal of assets held-for-sale  –    (66)

  247   496 Trade and other receivables   496   247 
  367   551   588   342 

4.3 Dividends received
2 1 Dividends from associate
2 1

4.4 Post-retirement benefit obligation  
(income)/costs

 (204)  (156) Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-fund  (156)  (204)
 (147)  (101) Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund  (101)  (147)

  7   6 Transnet Top Management Pension   6   7 
  32   35 Transnet Workmen’s Compensation Act pensioners   35   32 

  69   56 

Transnet SATS Pensioners’ post-retirement  
medical benefits   56   69 

  62   62 Transnet employees’ post-retirement medical benefits   62   62 

  150   70 

Other post-retirement and medical benefits  
(refer note 23)   70   150 

 (31)  (28)  (28)  (31)

5. Fair value adjustments
  27   98 Derivative fair value adjustments  (refer note 14)   98   27 

  353   274 

Fair value adjustment of investment property  
(refer note 10)   274   353 

 (59)  (150) Fair value adjustment on firm commitments  (150)  (59)
 (523)  –   Loss on redemption of T018 bond  –    (523)
 (202)   222   222  (202)
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2013

Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

6. Finance costs
 (9)   179 Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) on translation   179  (8)

  30   38 Discounts on bonds amortised (refer note 24)   38   30 
  19   16 Finance lease obligation   16   19 

 5 859  6 365 Interest cost – Financial liabilities at amortised cost  6 365  5 859 
 5 899  6 598 Gross finance costs  6 598  5 900 

 (1 645)  (1 053) Borrowing costs capitalised*  (1 053)  (1 645)
 4 254  5 545  5 545  4 255 

*  The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed 
generally is 11,84% per annum (2012: 9,86% per annum).

7. Finance income
  310   232 Interest received – Bank deposits   252   336 

  71   70 Interest received – Loans and receivables  70   71 
  81 83  Interest received – Held-to-maturity 83     81 

    462    385   405   488 

8. Taxation
South African normal taxation

  168   34 –  Current year   39   173 
 (66)  –   –  Prior year  –    (66)

Deferred taxation (refer note 26)
 1 933 1 936 –  Current year 1 937  1 933 

  66  –   –  Prior year  –     66 
Capital gains taxation

  9  –   –  Current year  –     9 
Foreign taxation

 –    –   –  Current year   4   7 
 2 110 1 970 1 980  2 122 

% % % %
Reconciliation of taxation rate

 28,00 28,00 Standard rate – South African normal taxation 28,00 28,00
  6,03  3,74 Adjustment for differences  3,33  6,00 
 2,33 3,76 Expenses not included for taxation purposes  3,33  2,27 

 (0,03)  (0,02) Exempt local dividends  –    –   
 3,73  –   Capital gains taxation inclusion rate change  –    3,73 

 34,03  31,74 Effective rate of taxation  31,33  34,00 
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

8.1 Taxation recognised in other comprehensive 
income
Arising on the taxation effects of items recognised in 

comprehensive income:

 (41)  (102)
Gain on revaluations of pipeline networks and 
decommissioning restoration liability  (102)  (41)

 (789)  (370)
Gain on revaluations of port facilities and 
decommissioning liability  (370)  (789)

 (38)  (2) Gain on revaluations of land, buildings and structures  (2)  (38)

 –    (26)
(Gain)/loss on revaluation of investments to market 
value (ALL Group Ltd)  (4)   11 

  17  (92) Cash flow hedge (gain)/loss  (92)   17 

  138   86 Actuarial loss on post-retirement benefit obligations   86   138 

 (713)  (506)

Total taxation recognised in other comprehensive 

income  (484)  (702)

9. Property, plant and equipment  
(refer annexure B)
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 
cost except for pipeline networks and port facilities, 
which are stated at revalued amounts.

 155 953  176 921 Net book value  176 921  155 953 

 217 847  246 537 Gross carrying value  246 537  217 847 

 (61 894)  (69 616) Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (69 616)  (61 894)

Comprising:

Historical cost

 112 832  135 645 Gross carrying value  135 645  112 832 

  153   157 –  Aircraft   157   153 

 2 127  2 131 –  Floating craft  2 131  2 127 

 18 746  22 392 –  Land, buildings and structures  22 392  18 746 

 6 683  7 199 –  Machinery, equipment and furniture  7 199  6 683 

 23 075  25 166 –  Permanent way and works  25 166  23 075 

 48 136  57 857 –  Rolling stock and containers  57 857  48 136 

  816   988 –  Vehicles   988   816 

 13 096  19 755 –  Capital work-in-progress*  19 755  13 096 
*  Included in CWIP are the following advance payments:  

(i) R507 million relating to power sub-stations under 
construction by Eskom (2012: R474 million). One of the power 
sub-stations (cost R474 million) was commissioned by Eskom 
on the 16 April 2013,  and (ii) R nil for locomotives under 
construction (2012: R691  million). Payments for locomotives 
are based on the achievement of contractual milestones.  
The delivery of locomotives has already commenced on most 
contracts and the last locomotive is expected to be delivered  
in January 2015.
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

9. Property, plant and equipment  
(refer annexure B) (continued)

 (27 367)  (31 893) Accumulated depreciation  (31 893)  (27 367)

 (89)  (109) –  Aircraft  (109)  (89)

 (387)  (485) –  Floating craft  (485)  (387)

 (3 556)  (4 308) –  Land, buildings and structures  (4 308)  (3 556)

 (3 414)  (3 784) –  Machinery, equipment and furniture  (3 784)  (3 414)

 (4 386)  (5 099) –  Permanent way and works  (5 099)  (4 386)

 (15 035)  (17 568) –  Rolling stock and containers  (17 568)  (15 035)

 (500)  (540) –  Vehicles  (540)  (500)

 (1 287)  (1 294) Accumulated impairment  (1 294)  (1 287)

 –    (1) –  Floating craft  (1)  –   

 (159)  (162) –  Land, buildings and structures  (162)  (159)

 (177)  (164) –  Machinery, equipment and furniture  (164)  (177)

 (246)  (250) –  Permanent way and works  (250)  (246)

 (477)  (493) –  Rolling stock and containers  (493)  (477)

 (1)  (6) –  Vehicles  (6)  (1)

 (227)  (218) –  Capital work-in-progress  (218)  (227)

 84 178  102 458 

Net book value of property, plant and equipment stated 

at historic cost  102 458  84 178 

Revaluation

 105 015  110 892 Gross carrying value  110 892  105 015 

 27 846  28 782 –  Pipeline networks  28 782  27 846 

 77 169  82 110 –  Port facilities  82 110  77 169 

 (32 429)  (35 585) Accumulated depreciation  (35 585)  (32 429)

 (9 328)  (10 266) –  Pipeline networks  (10 266)  (9 328)

 (23 101)  (25 319) –  Port facilities  (25 319)  (23 101)

 (811)  (844) Accumulated impairment  (844)  (811)

 (204)  (246) –  Pipeline networks  (246)  (204)

 (607)  (598) –  Port facilities  (598)  (607)

 71 775  74 463 

Net book value of property, plant and equipment stated 

at revalued amounts  74 463  71 775 

 155 953  176 921 Total net book value  176 921  155 953 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2013
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

Land, buildings and structures

A register of land, buildings and structures is available 
for inspection at the Company.

During the year, the Group transferred R96 million 
(2012: R nil) from investment properties to property, 
plant and equipment. The fair values of these properties 
are deemed cost for subsequent accounting in 
accordance with IAS 40.

In the previous year, the Group transferred R92 million 
from property, plant and equipment to investment 
properties.  The carrying values of these properties were 
restated to fair value in accordance with IAS 16.

  520   565 

Rolling stock 

Included in rolling stock assets are capitalised leased 
assets with a carrying value of   565   520 
These assets were part of a sale and lease back 
arrangement giving rise to a finance lease entered into in 
1997. The present value of the lease commitments has 
been settled in full.
Pipeline networks

The Group’s policy is to perform a revaluation of its pipeline 
networks every three years and apply appropriate valuation 
indices in the intervening years. An external revaluation was 
performed in the prior year, by Arthur D. Little Inc., an 
independent firm of professional valuers on the basis of the 
modern equivalent net asset value. In the current year an 
index revaluation resulted in a net increase of R423 million 
(2012: R166 million) to the carrying value of the Group’s 
pipeline networks, which has been adjusted accordingly.

15 796  15 580 The historic cost carrying values of these assets amount to  15 580 15 796
Port facilities
The Group’s policy is to perform a revaluation of its port 
operating assets and infrastructure every three years and 
apply appropriate valuation indices in the intervening years. 
In the current year, the index revaluation resulted in an 
increase of R1 063 million (2012: R2 430 million) for port 
infrastructure and  R262 million (2012: R300 million) for 
port operating assets.
The estimated replacement cost of port infrastructure 
assets that are subject to revaluation amounted to  
R53,9 billion (2012: R47,3 billion) as determined by 
independent valuation experts, however the revaluation 
was limited to the present value of future discounted cash 
flows, amounting to R47,9 billion (2012: R46,6 billion).

 18 305  19 153 The historic carrying values of these assets amount to  19 153  18 305 
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

9. Property, plant and equipment  
(refer annexure B) (continued)

Included in Port facilities are encumbered assets of  
R1 009 million (2012: R1 108 million) as security for the 
finance leases.

Useful lives and residual values
In terms of IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment, the 
useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment must be reviewed at each reporting date.  
The useful lives are estimated by management based on 
historic analysis, benchmarking and other available 
information. The residual values are based on the 
assessment of useful lives and other available information.

Residual values
During the year, management conducted their annual 
assessment of residual values on existing assets. The 
exercise resulted in a change in the residual values of the 
railway component of the permanent way assets based 
on scrap steel prices obtained during the current financial 
year, and steel prices as per the secondary scrap market. 
This resulted in a reduction in depreciation expense of 
R22,6 million (2012: R nil).

During the year, management also conducted an 
extensive asset verification exercise on rolling stock 
(wagons, coaches and locomotives). The Group identified 
a number of items that were previously written-off as 
they could not be traced and were thus not in use. This 
exercise resulted in the reinstatement of R195 million 
(2012: R nil) worth of assets at their residual values.  

Useful lives
Rolling Stock – Locomotives
The locomotive useful lives were re-assessed in relation 
to the locomotive phase out plan over the next 20 years. 
The exercise resulted in a net decrease in the useful  
lives of certain sub-components and an increase in 
depreciation expense of R127,7 million (2012:  
R783 million). 

Rolling Stock – Wagons and locomotives
Consistent with the prior year, all wagon and locomotive 
sub components that had capitalised expenditure 
incurred on them in the current year had their useful lives 
re-assessed and increased accordingly. The exercise 
resulted in a reduction in depreciation expense of  
R167,1 million (2012: R68 million).

Assets with less than 2 years remaining useful life
Management identified assets that had a remaining 
useful life of twenty four months or less that were still in 
use and which the Group intend to continue utilising 
beyond the estimated useful life. The exercise resulted in 
an extension in useful lives and a reduction in 
depreciation expense of R47,9 million (2012: R nil). 

The above adjustments were accounted for 
prospectively.
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

10. Investment properties
 7 368  7 732 Fair value at the beginning of the year  7 732  7 368 

  92  (96)

Transferred (to)/from property, plant and equipment 
(refer annexure B)  (96)   92 

  353   274 Recognised in income statement (refer note 5)   274   353 

 (5)  (2) Disposals  (2)  (5)

 –     30 Additions   30  –   

 (76)  –   Transferred to assets held-for-sale  –    (76)

 7 732  7 938 Fair value at the end of the year  7 938  7 732 

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at  
31 March 2013 was arrived at on the basis of valuations 
carried out at that date by Transnet Property valuers.

The valuations, which conform to the Property Valuers 
Profession Act, No.47 of 2000, were arrived at by 
capitalising the first year’s normalised net operating 
income at a market derived capitalisation rate.

Various assumptions were made in order to derive the 
net present value of the future cash flows. These 
assumptions were arrived at after wide consultation 
with subject matter experts.

The more critical assumptions made were:

market related rentals per investment property. 
 

for the purposes of determining present value was the 
market related return rate adjusted to reflect the 
appropriate risk profile of each individual property.

 
for the various properties.

The gross property rental income earned by the  
Group from its investment properties, which are  
leased out under operating leases, amounted to  
R1 323 million (2012: R1 210 million).  

Direct operating expenses arising on investment 
properties during the year amounted to R356 million 
(2012: R325 million).

No material direct expenses (including repairs and 
maintenance) arising on investment property, that did 
not generate rental income during the period were 
incurred.
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

11. Intangible assets
  586   534 Intangible assets   534 586

 1 582  1 588 Cost  1 588  1 582 

 (996)  (1 054) Accumulated amortisation  (1 054)  (996)

Comprising:

Finite life intangible assets

  586   534 Software and licences: carrying value   534   586 

 1 582  1 588 Cost  1 588  1 582 

 1 283  1 582 Balance at the beginning of the year  1 582  1 283 

  88   108 Additions   108   88 

  1  –   Borrowing costs capitalised  –     1 

 (26)  (165) Disposals  (165)  (26)

  17  –   Transferred from assets classified as held-for-sale  –     17 

  219   63 

Transfers in from property, plant and equipment 
(refer annexure B)   63   219 

 (996)  (1 054) Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (1 054)  (996)

 (819)  (996) Balance at the beginning of the year  (996)  (819)

  26   163 Disposals   163   26 

 (200)  (192) Amortisation (refer note 3)  (192)  (200)

 –    (29) Impairment (refer note 4)  (29)  –   

 (3)  –   Transferred from assets classified as held-for-sale  –    (3)

  586   534   534   586 
Software and licenses are assessed as having a finite 
life and are amortised on a straight-line basis over a 
period of three to five years.

12. Investments in subsidiaries  
(refer annexure D)

  262   208 Shares at carrying value

  386   389 Amounts owing by subsidiaries

  648   597 

 (426)  (389) Provision for impairment and losses 

  222   208 
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2012
R million

2013

R million

2013

R million

2012
R million

13. Investments in associates and joint 
ventures (refer annexure D) 

12 10 93 72

  13   12 Balance at the beginning of the year   72   81 

 –    (3) Disposals  (3)  –   

 –    –   Equity accounted earnings   24  (6)

 –    –   Dividends received  (1)  (2)

 (1)   1 Reversal of impairments/(impairments)   1  (1)

12 10

Directors' valuation of unlisted investments in 
associates and joint ventures 93 72

Income/(loss) from associates and joint ventures 24 (6)

14. Derivative financial assets and liabilities
Both the Company and the Group use approved financial 
instruments, in particular forward exchange contracts, 
cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps to hedge 
the financial risks associated with underlying business 
activities. All derivative financial instruments have been 
measured at fair value with the resulting gain or loss 
taken to the statement of comprehensive income.

  502  3 855 Derivative financial assets  3 855   502 

  45   502 Opening balance   502   45 

  373  2 652 Fair value adjustments  2 652   373 

  84   701 Derivatives raised and settled   701   84 

  144   85 Derivative financial liabilities   85   144 

  650   144 Opening balance   144   650 

  21   68 Fair value adjustments   68   21 

 (527)  (127) Derivatives raised and settled  (127)  (527)

  352  2 584 Net fair value adjustments  2 584   352 

  27   98 Derivative fair value adjustments (refer note 5)   98   27 

 (635)  (1 004) Finance costs  (1 004)  (635)

  960  3 490 

Recognised in other comprehensive income  
(refer note 22)  3 490   960 
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2012
R million

2013

R million

2013

R million

2012
R million

14. Derivative financial assets and liabilities 
(continued)

Comprise the following financial instruments:

  467  3 821 Non-current assets  3 821   467 

  15  –   Forward exchange contracts  –     15 

  452  3 821 Cross-currency swaps and options  3 821   452 

  35   34 Current assets   34   35 

  35   34 Forward exchange contracts   34   35 

  82   62 Non-current liabilities   62   82 

  82   62 Forward exchange contracts   62   82 

  62   23 Current liabilities   23   62 

  62   23 Forward exchange contracts   23   62 

Fair value hedges of firm commitments
The Group entered into fair value hedges of the foreign 
exchange risk on firm commitments of the Group to 
import items of property, plant and equipment.  The 
Group settles the contract price of these items by 
making pre-determined progress payments (in foreign 
currency) to the relevant suppliers as specified 
milestones are achieved.

At 31 March 2013, the Group held a series of forward 
exchange contracts as hedging instruments for this 
purpose.  These hedges were assessed to be effective. 
The ineffective portion of the hedge has been recorded 
in the profit and loss.

The fair values of these forward exchange contracts held 
as hedging instruments at 31 March 2013 are as follows:

  15   12 Currency bought forward – Japanese Yen – profit   12   15 

 –     5 Currency bought forward – Australian Dollar – profit   5  –   

 (29)  15

Currency bought forward – United States Dollar – 
profit/(loss)  15  (29)

 (94)  (83) Currency bought forward – Euro – loss  (83)  (94)
The net fair value gain/(loss) recognised in profit and 
loss on these fair value hedges during the year was R nil 
(2012: R nil). This net fair value adjustment comprised of 
a loss of R150 million (2012: R59 million) with respect to 
foreign exchange risk on the firm commitments, and a 
gain of R150 million (2012: R59 million) on the forward 
exchange contracts.
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Company Group

2012
R million

2013

R million

2013

R million

2012
R million

14. Derivative financial assets and 
liabilities (continued)

The nominal values of these forward exchange contracts 
at 31 March 2013 are as follows:

Currency bought forward – Rand equivalent

  791   337 Japanese Yen   337   791 

 –     82 Australian Dollar   82  –   

  914   407 United States Dollar   407   914 

  468   164 Euro   164   468 

 million million million million

Currency bought forward – foreign currency

 8 494  3 501 Japanese Yen  3 501  8 494 

 –     9 Australian Dollar   9  –   

  110   45 United States Dollar   45   110 

  30   6 Euro   6   30 

Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency interest rate swaps

On 31 March 2013, the Group was party to cross-
currency interest rate swap contracts which are 
designated as cash flow hedges of the foreign exchange 
rate and interest rate risks associated with foreign 
currency-denominated borrowings listed below.

The borrowings being hedged are; two loans from the 
Japan Bank for International Cooperation (JBIC) for 
JPY18,8 billion and JPY4,6 billion respectively, the 
American Family Life Assurance Company of Columbus 
(AFLAC) Japan Branch for JPY15 billion,  African 
Development Bank (AfDB) for USD410 million, Export 
Development Canada (EDC) for USD100 million, a  
US Dollar bond for USD750 million (TNUS16) and a  
US Dollar bond for USD1 000 million (TNUS22) under 
the GMTN programme.
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R million

2013

R million

2013

R million

2012
R million

14. Derivative financial assets and 
liabilities (continued)

Under the hedge for the first tranche of the JBIC loan, 
the Group pays 11,46% fixed (ZAR) and receives LIBOR 
+1,48% (JPY). Under the hedge for the second tranche 
of the JBIC loan, the Group pays 9,91% fixed (ZAR) and 
receives LIBOR +1,48% (JPY). Under the hedge for the 
AFLAC loan, the Group pays 12,22% fixed (ZAR) and 
receives 2,70% fixed (JPY). Under the hedge for the 
AfDB loan the Group pays 8,69% fixed (ZAR) and 
receives LIBOR + 1,75% USD). Under the hedge for the 
EDC loan the Group pays 7,47% fixed (ZAR) and 
receives LIBOR + 1,75% (USD). Under the hedge for the 
TNUS16 bond, the Group pays 10,4% fixed (ZAR) and 
receives 4,5% fixed (USD). The TNUS22 bond was 
hedged in two equal parts of USD500 million each. 
Under the hedge for the first tranche of the TNUS22 
bond, the Group pays 8,98% fixed (ZAR) and receives 
4% fixed (USD).  Under the hedge for the second 
tranche of the TNUS22 bond, the Group pays 8,935% 
fixed (ZAR) and receives 4% fixed (US dollar).

The terms of the cross-currency interest rate swaps 
closely match those of the foreign currency-denominated 
borrowings they hedge and were assessed as highly 
effective hedges. The amount of ineffectiveness 
recognised in profit and loss for the period with respect 
to these hedges was an R18 million loss (2012: R5 million 
gain). The amount recycled to profit and loss to offset  
the hedged risks was R3 161 million credit (2012:  
R1 021 million credit), included in finance costs.

The cash flows are projected to occur semi-annually in 
February and August until February 2021 on the JBIC 
hedge, semi-annually in May and November until 
November 2019 on the AFLAC hedge, semi-annually in 
February and August until February 2016 on the 
TNUS16 bond hedge,  semi-annually in February and 
August until August 2018 on the AfDB hedge, semi-
annually in May and November until November 2018  
on the EDC hedge, semi-annually in July and January  
until July 2022 on the both tranches of the TNUS22 
bond hedge.

The fair values of the cross-currency interest rate 
swaps at 31 March 2013 are as follows:

Cross-currency interest rate swaps:

452  3 821

JBIC: R203 million, AFLAC: R71 million, AfDB:  
R604 million, EDC: R12 million, TNUS16: R1 561 million 
and  TNUS22: R1 370 million.  3 821 452
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Company Group

2012
R million

2013

R million

2013

R million

2012
R million

   

The nominal amounts of the cross-currency interest rate 
swaps at 31 March 2013 are as follows:    

 8 896  20 901 South African Rand  20 901  8 896 

 41 334  38 408 Japanese Yen  38 408  41 334 

750  2 260 United States Dollar  2 260 750

Forward exchange contracts

The forward exchange contracts which were held on  
31 March 2012 to hedge the acquisition of locomotives, 
spares and tools have all matured. No hedge 
ineffectiveness was recognised in profit or loss for the 
period (2012: R nil).

The cash flows have occurred in the period between  
18 April 2011 and 18 June 2012.

The fair values of the forward exchange contracts at  
31 March 2013 are as follows:

14 – Currency bought forward – Japanese Yen – loss – 14
The nominal values of these forward exchange contracts 
at 31 March 2013 are as follows:

992 – Currency bought forward – Japanese Yen – 992
Refer note 22 for details of the amounts recognised in 
other comprehensive income, amounts recycled to profit 
and loss or included in the initial cost of non-financial 
assets or liabilities with respect to the above hedges.

15. Long-term loans and advances
2 4 4 2

  11   2 Balance at the beginning of the year   2   11 

  2  –   Advances  –     2 

 (1)  (1) Repayments  (1)  (1)

 (10)   3 Reversal of impairment/(impairment)   3  (10)

Comprising:

 –     2 Employee housing and other loans   2  –   

  8  –   Balance at the beginning of the year  –     8 

  2  –   Advances  –     2 

 –    (1) Repayments  (1)  –   

 (10)   3 Reversal of impairment/(impairment)   3  (10)

  2   2 Other loans and advances   2 2

  3   2 Balance at the beginning of the year 2 3

 (1)  –   Repayments –  (1)

2 4 4 2



90 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2013

Company Group

2012
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2013
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2013
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16. Other investments, long-term financial 
assets and other liabilities

  568  671 Other financial assets   671   568 

  568  671 

Total long-term investments and long-term  

financial assets 671   568 

 2 755  1 359 

Short-term portion of other investments including 
investments under resale agreement  1 359  2 755 

 2 755  1 359 Total short-term investments  1 359  2 755 

 2 591  3 847 Security of supply petroleum levy*  3 847  2 591 

  12   9 Other   9   12 

 2 603  3 856  3 856  2 603 

*  During the year, the Group received  the final installment of  
R1 500 million (2012: R1 500 million) inclusive of VAT from 
Government for the security of supply petroleum requirement 
of the New Multi-Product Pipeline.  The levy, in terms of  
the Minister of Finance approval, totalled R4,5 billion  
(VAT inclusive) and was received over a period of three years, 
from the 2011 financial year. The levy is administered by the 
Department of Energy and was received in quarterly 
instalments of R375 million (VAT inclusive), subject to 
progress on the project. In January 2012 the pipeline was 
commissioned which resulted in R43 million (2012: R5 million) 
being recognised in the income statement. In the current  
year R53 million was transferred to current liabilities being 
the portion that will be recognised as revenue in the  
2014 financial year.

  697  2 138 Deferred income Transnet National Ports Authority  2 138   697

  750  2 137 Balance at the beginning of the year  2 137   750 

 (186)  (540) Unwinding of prior year claw back  (540)  (186)

 1 573  1 263 Additional claw back raised  1 263  1 573 

–   178 Interest factor on claw back   178 –

 2 137  3 038  3 038  2 137 

 (1 440)  (900) Less: Short-term portion classified as current liabilities**  (900)  (1 440)

**  R900 million for the provision of excessive tariff increase 
margin credit raised in the 2012 financial year has been 
re-allocated from long-term to short-term for both  
Company and Group, as at 31 March 2012.
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2013

R million

2013

R million

2012
R million

– 227 Deferred income Transnet Pipelines 227 –

  414   485 Balance at the beginning of the year   485   414 

 (285)  (485) Unwinding of prior year claw back  (485)  (285)

  356   403 Additional claw back raised   403   356 

  485   403   403   485 

 (485)  (227) Less: Short-term portion classified as current liabilities  (227)  (485)

–   51 Add: Long-term portion classified as non-current asset   51 –

 3 300  6 221 Total other non-current liabilities  6 221  3 300

 1 925  1 127 Total other current liabilities  1 127  1 925

17. Inventories
At weighted average cost

 1 833  2 207 Maintenance material  2 207  1 833 
  195   369 Consumables   369   195 
  153   187 Finished goods   187   153 
  118   264 Work-in-progress*   264   118 
 (325)  (330) Provision for stock obsolescence**  (330)  (325)

 1 974  2 697  2 697  1 974 
At net realisable value   

  602   705 Maintenance material   705   602 
  35   37 Consumables   37   35 
  15 – Finished goods –   15 
 (35)  (39) Provision for stock obsolescence  (39)  (35)

  617   703   703   617 
 2 591  3 400  3 400  2 591 

*    Included in work-in-progress are costs for construction 
contracts in progress (refer note 27).

**  The increase in the provision for stock obsolescence is due to 
slow moving items assessed at the end of the current financial 
year. No items of inventory have been pledged as security as at 
31 March 2013 (2012: R nil).  
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2013

R million

2013

R million

2012
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18. Trade and other receivables
 4 211  4 920 Trade receivables – net of allowances for credit losses  4 923  4 213 

  407   236 

Amounts due from customers under construction 
contracts (refer note 27)                        236   407 

  23   15 Retention debtors (refer note 27)   15   23 
  970  1 070 Prepayments and other amounts receivable  1 072   970 

  2   2 Short-term portion of loans and advances   2   2 
 5 613  6 243  6 248  5 615 

Risk profile of allowances for credit losses  

(Refer annexure A)

Low risk

 (352)  (595) Opening balance  (595)  (352)
 (264)  (65) Raised  (65)  (264)

  21   15 Utilised   15   21 
  –   1 Disposals   1   – 

 (595)  (644) Closing balance  (644)  (595)
Medium risk

 (107)  (32) Opening balance  (32)  (107)
–  (49) Raised  (49) –

75 1 Utilised 1 75
  –   37 Disposals   37   – 

 (32)  (43) Closing balance  (43)  (32)

High risk

 (201)  (295) Opening balance  (312)  (201)

 (94)  (105) Raised  (105)  (111)

– 52 Utilised 53 –

(295) (348) Closing balance (364) (312)

Total provisions

 (660)  (922) Opening balance  (939)  (660)

 (358)  (219) Raised  (219)  (375)

96 68 Utilised 69 96

  –   38 Disposals  38 –

 (922) (1 035) Closing balance (1 051) (939)

19. Cash and cash equivalents
898 2 258 Cash and cash equivalents* 2 598 1 189

898 2 258 2 598 1 189

*  Included in cash and cash equivalents are restricted benevolent accounts amounting to R131 million (2012: R125 million).
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2012
R million

2013

R million

2013

R million

2012
R million

20. Assets classified as held-for-sale and 
liabilities directly associated with assets 
classified as held-for-sale  
(refer annexure C)
Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale 

  126   158 Property, plant and equipment   158   126 

  6   3 Investment property   3   6 

–   114 Other investments   114   99 

132 275 275 231

21. Issued capital 
Authorised

30 000 30 000 30 000 000 000 ordinary par value shares of R1 each 30 000 30 000

Issued

12 661 12 661

12 660 986 310 ordinary par value shares of R1 each 
(2012: 12 660 986 310). 12 661 12 661
The unissued share capital is under the control of the 
South African Government, the sole shareholder of  
the Company.

Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to 
maintain investor, creditor and market confidence to 
support future growth of the business. Capital 
efficiency is measured in terms of returns on equity and 
the asset base, as well as the gearing ratio, which is 
monitored by the Board. The capital structure of the 
Group consists of equity attributable to the equity 
holder, the South African Government, comprising 
issued capital, non distributable reserves and retained 
earnings as disclosed in notes 21 and 22. Other than 
loan covenants, Transnet SOC Ltd is not subject to any 
other externally imposed capital requirements.

Based on the significant capital investment plan of the 
Company, as well as its revenue generating ability, the 
target debt to equity ratio will remain below the 50% 
limit that forms part of the Shareholders Compact with 
the Shareholder Representative (2013: actual 44,6%).

There were no changes to the capital management 
approach during the year.
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22. Reserves
 30 488  31 760 Revaluation reserve 31 760  30 558 

3 612  3 942 Revaluation of pipeline networks  3 942  3 612 

 3 475  3 612 Balance at the beginning of the year  3 612  3 475 

  166   423 Revaluation during the year   423   166 

 (7) – Transfer to retained earnings –  (7)

 (22)  (93) Decommissioning restoration liability adjustment  (93)  (22)

37 723  39 048 Revaluation of port facilities  39 048  37 723 

 35 020  37 723 Balance at the beginning of the year  37 723  35 020 

 2 730  1 325 Revaluation during the year  1 325  2 730 

 (24) – Transfer to retained earnings –  (24)

 (3) – Decommissioning restoration liability adjustment –  (3)

881   890 Revaluation of land, buildings and structures   890   881 

  817   881 Balance at the beginning of the year   881   817 

  71   9 Fair value movement during the year   9   71 

 (7) – Transfer to retained earnings –  (7)

 –   108 

ALL Group Ltd (refer annexure D) – revaluation of 

investment to market value   108   92 

 –  – Balance at the beginning of the year   92   135 

 –   92 Transfer in on liquidation of subsidiary – –

 –   16 Fair value movement during the year   16  (43)

 (11 728)  (12 228)

Deferred taxation impact of items relating to 

revaluation reserves  (12 228)  (11 750)

– – Foreign currency translation reserve (5) 20

– – Balance at the beginning of the year   20 19

– – (Losses)/gains arising during the year  (25) 1

 (76) 161 Cash flow hedging reserve 161 (76)

 (105) 224 Gross cash flow hedging reserve 224  (105)

 (44)  (105) Balance at the beginning of the year  (105)  (44)

  960  3 490 Gains arising during the year  3 490   960 

 (1 021)  (3 161) Transfer to foreign exchange differences  (3 161)  (1 021)

29   (63) 

Deferred taxation impact of items relating to cash 

flow hedging reserve (63) 29
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2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

 1 985  1 764 

Actuarial gains on post-retirement benefit 

obligations  1 764  1 985 

 2 761  2 454 

Gross actuarial gains on post-retirement benefit 

obligations  2 454  2 761 

 3 262  2 761 Balance at the beginning of the year  2 761  3 262 

 (501)  (307) Losses arising during the year  (307)  (501)

 (776)  (690) Deferred taxation impact of net actuarial gains  (690)  (776)

  250   250 Other reserves   249 249

250  250 

Share of pension fund surplus (retained for 
application against pensioners) 249   249 

 33 943 38 179 Retained earnings 38 364  34 024 

 29 822  33 943 Balance at the beginning of the year  34 024  29 874 

  31 – Transfers into retained earnings –   31 

 4 090 4 236 Profit for the year attributable to the equity holder 4 340  4 119 

 66 590 72 114 72 293  66 760 

23. Employee benefits 
2 003 1 959 Post-retirement benefit obligations 1 959 2 003

 1 953  2 003 Balance at the beginning of the year  2 003  1 953 

 (181)  (98) Income statement credit  (98)  (181)

 (270)  (253) Settlements during the year  (253)  (270)

  501   307 Actuarial loss   307   501 

Comprising:

– –

Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-fund  
(refer note 32.1.2) – –

– –

Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund  
(refer note 32.1.3) – –

  84   89 

Transnet Top Management Pension  
(refer note 32.1.4)   89   84 

  433   481 

Transnet Workmen’s Compensation Act pensioners 
(refer note 32.1.4)   481   433 

  881   832 

Transnet SATS Pensioner’s post-retirement  
medical benefits (refer note 32.2.1)   832   881 

  605   557 

Transnet employees post-retirement medical 
benefits (refer note 32.2.2)   557   605 

 2 003  1 959  1 959  2 003 
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23. Employee benefits (continued)

Various assumptions have been applied by management 
and actuaries in the calculation of post-retirement 
benefit obligations. 

The assumptions and their sensitivities are disclosed in 
note 32.

330 70 Other post-retirement and medical benefits 70 330

  579 533 Balance at the beginning of the year 533   579 

  150 70 Income statement charge 70   150 

 (196)  (427) Utilised during the year  (427)  (196)

533 176 176 533

(203)  (106) Less: Short-term portion classified as current liabilities  (106) (203)

604 709 Leave pay 709 604

 1 390  1 440 Balance at the beginning of the year  1 440  1 390 

  992 764 Accruals made during the year 764   992 

 (942)  (461) Utilised during the year  (461)  (942)

 1 440  1 743  1 743  1 440 

 (836)  (1 034) Less: Short-term portion classified as current liabilities  (1 034)  (836)

385 379 Incentive bonuses 379 385

 1 563 2 259 Balance at the beginning of the year 2 259  1 563 

 2 112 772 Accruals made during the year 772  2 112 

 (1 416)  (1 935) Utilised during the year  (1 935)  (1 416)

2 259 1 096 1 096 2 259

(1 874)  (717) Less: Short-term portion classified as current liabilities  (717) (1 874)

3 322 3 117 Total employee benefits 3 117 3 322

Other post-retirement and medical benefits

Included in total employee benefits is an amount of 
R106 million (2012: R383 million) for the restructuring 
of the SATS pensioners’ medical subsidy and R70 million 
(2012: R150 million) relating to an ex gratia payment to 
disadvantaged Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund 
and Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-fund 
pensioners.
Leave pay

Relates to accrual for unutilised leave at year-end.  
The leave is expected to be taken over the next two 
financial years and is calculated based on employee 
total cost-to-company.
Incentive bonuses

Accrual for incentive bonuses in terms of the incentive 
bonus scheme. 
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2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
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2012

R million

24. Long-term borrowings  
(refer annexure A)

52 564 66 768 66 770 52 566

 50 450  52 564 Total long-term borrowings at the beginning of the year  52 566  50 452 
 10 868  16 743 Raised  16 743  10 868 
 (6 000) – Repaid –  (6 000)

  980  3 010 Foreign exchange movement  3 010   980 
  30   38 Amortisation of discount   38   30 

 (3 764)  (5 587)

Current portion of long-term borrowings redeemable 
within one year transferred to short-term borrowings 
(refer note 29)  (5 587)  (3 764)
Unsecured liabilities

42 839 43 477 Rand denominated 43 477 42 839
 33 768  35 728 Bonds at nominal value  35 728  33 768 

 (908)  (687) Unamortised discounts  (687)  (908)
 32 860  35 041 Bonds at carrying value#  35 041  32 860 

 9 979  8 436 Other unsecured liabilities*  8 436  9 979 
9 593 24 641 Foreign currency denominated†  24 641  9 593 

 5 762  16 252 Bonds at nominal value  16 252  5 762 
 (26)  (125) Unamortised discounts  (125)  (26)

 5 736  16 127 Bonds at carrying value  16 127  5 736 
 3 857  8 514 Other unsecured liabilities  8 514  3 857 
3 896 4 237 Secured loans** and capitalised finance leases^ 4 239 3 898
3 896 4 237 Rand denominated 4 237 3 896

– – Foreign currency denominated 2 2

 56 328  72 355 Total long-term borrowings 72 357 56 330

 (3 764)  (5 587)

Current portion of long-term borrowings redeemable 
within one year transferred to short-term borrowings 
(refer note 29)  (5 587)  (3 764)

 52 564  66 768 66 770 52 566
#    Rand denominated secured Eurorand bonds bear interest between 10,0% and 13,5% and are repayable in 2028 and 2029 (refer annexure A).  

The rand denominated unsecured and non-guaranteed bonds are redeemable between 14 November 2017 and 14 November 2027 and bear 
interest at a rate between 8,9% and 10,8%.

†      Foreign currency bonds are denominated in United States Dollar, is redeemable between 10 February 2016 and 26 July 2022, and bears interest 
at a rate between 4,0% and 4,5%. Foreign currency unsecured loans are denominated in Japanese Yen and United States Dollar, bears interest at 
rates between 1,74643% and 2,7%, and is repayable between 1 August 2018 and 20 February 2021.

*      Rand denominated unsecured domestic loans bear interest at rates ranging between 5,531% and 10,95%. These liabilities are repayable over 
periods between 14 December 2014 and 30 November 2024. 

**   Rand denominated secured loans bear interest at rates ranging between 5,375% and 7,375% with floating rates linked to JIBAR. These liabilities 
are repayable on 20 December 2021.  

^    Rand denominated capitalised finance lease liabilities bear interest at rates ranging between 11,00% and 16,93% with all rates fixed. These 
liabilities are repayable over periods between 2013 and 2027.
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2013
R million

2013
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2012

R million

25. Provisions
1 626 1 902 Comprising 1 902  1 626 

 1 174  1 626 Total provisions at the beginning of the year  1 626  1 174 

 1 750  1 719 

Provisions raised during the year and unwinding  
of discounts  1 719  1 750 

 (1 036)  (1 386) Provisions utilised  (1 386)  (1 036)

 (262)  (57)

Increase in short-term provisions classified as  
current liabilities  (57)  (262)

159   189 Third-party claims   189   159 

  174   159 Balance at the beginning of the year   159   174 

  365   201 Provisions made during the year   201   365 

 (380)  (171) Utilised during the year  (171)  (380)

  40     44  Customer claims   44   40 

  26   40 Balance at the beginning of the year   40   26 

  17   4 Provisions made during the year   4   17 

 (3) – Utilised during the year –  (3)

 1 828  2 037 Decommissioning and environmental liabilities  2 037  1 828 

 1 267  1 828 Balance at the beginning of the year  1 828  1 267 

  681   350 

Provisions made during the year and unwinding  
of discounts   350   681 

 (120)  (141) Utilised during the year  (141)  (120)

29   29 Restructuring   29   29 

  30   29 Balance at the beginning of the year   29   30 

 (1) – Utilised during the year –  (1)

  504   594 Other   594   504 

  349   504 Balance at the beginning of the year   504   349 

  687  1 164 Provisions made during the year  1 164   687 

 (532)  (1 074) Utilised during the year  (1 074)  (532)

 2 560  2 893 Total provisions  2 893  2 560 
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2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

25. Provisions (continued)

  934 991

Less: Short-term provisions classified as current 
liabilities 991   934 

  149   179 Third-party claims   179   149 

  40   44 Customer claims   44   40 

  241 174 Decommissioning and environmental liabilities 174   241 

  504   594 Other   594   504 

 1 626 1 902 Long-term provisions 1 902  1 626 

Various assumptions are applied in arriving at the carrying value of provisions that are recognised in terms of the requirements 
of IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Management further relies on input from the Group’s lawyers in assessing the probability on matters of a contingent nature. 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 31.

Third-party claims

This provision represents the best estimate of known third party claims together with an allowance for claims incurred but not 
yet reported based on historical experience.

Customer claims

This provision represents claims made by customers arising from non-performance on contracts or damage to goods in transit. 
Settlement of claims are expected in the following year.

Decommissioning and environmental liabilities

This is a provision for the dismantling and removal of an asset as a result of the requirement to restore the site on which the 
asset is located. The provision has been computed by discounting future cash flows. 

In accordance with the Group’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for environmental 
rehabilitation in respect of clean-up costs is recognised when it meets the recognition requirements for provisions.  
The provision includes the estimated rehabilitation costs for the historical contamination caused by asbestos as well as costs 
for the rehabilitation caused by ferromanganese, manganese, mixed soil (including chrome, sulphur and manganese) fuel and 
rubble contamination.

Environmental provisions for the remediation of soil contaminated areas have been raised. These include provisions for the 
removal of asbestos, ferromanganese, manganese, mixed soil (including chrome, sulphur and manganese) fuel and rubble.  
These obligations arise from environmental legislation requiring Transnet to remove this waste material and remediate the 
land. Transnet engaged external consultants to perform risk assessments on identified areas of contamination and the Group’s 
related rehabilitation obligation.  A number of factors were considered in determining the obligation, which included: 

 The extent of the contamination.
 The cost per ton/per running line kilometre of removal and disposal of the contamination.
 The costs of rehabilitation of the identified areas of contamination.
 The costs estimated for the removal and replacement of asbestos roof sheeting and cladding on buildings.

Restructuring

Provision for restructuring costs in terms of strategic plans.
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

26. Deferred taxation liabilities
 18 029 20 471 Comprising: 20 471  18 050 
 15 383  18 029 Opening balance  18 050  15 415 

 1 933 1 936 Income statement charge (refer note 8) 1 937  1 933 
  713   506 Raised in other comprehensive income   484   702 

Analysis of major categories of temporary differences

 4 972 5 952 Deferred taxation assets 5 952  4 951 
  786 871 Provisions 871   786 

 1 235  1 565 Employee benefit obligations  1 565  1 235 
 1 522  2 138 Revenue received in advance and deferred income  2 138  1 522 
 1 204  1 075 Capitalised lease liability  1 075  1 204 

  199   303 Doubtful debts   303   199 
  26 – Other –   5 

 23 001  26 423 Deferred taxation liabilities  26 423  23 001 
  160   147 Deferred expenditure   147   160 

 22 818  26 138 Property, plant and equipment  26 138  22 818 
  23   43 Future expenditure allowance   43   23 

–   95 Other   95 –

 18 029 20 471 Net deferred taxation liability 20 471  18 050 
No deferred taxation asset has been raised in respect of 
secondary taxation on Companies credits available as 
they are unlikely to be utilised given the capital 
requirements of the Company and the change in regime 
from secondary taxation on companies to a withholding 
taxation on dividends, from which the Company is exempt.

27. Construction contracts
Contracts in progress at the statement of financial 

position date:

 1 351   981 

Construction costs incurred plus recognised profits less 
losses to date                                         981  1 351 

 (944)  (749) Less: Progress billings  (749)  (944)
  407   232   232   407 

Recognised and included in the financial statements:
Income statement

  967   764 Contract revenue (refer note 1)   764   967 
Statements of financial position

  407   236 

Amounts due from customers under construction 
contracts (refer note 18)                        236   407 

23   15 Retention debtors (note 18)   15   23 
Contract revenue is recognised when the completed 
stage has been signed off as proof of quality 
satisfaction by the external customer.
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

28. Trade payables and accruals
 2 203  3 146 Trade payables  3 150  2 207 

 8 916 8 703 Accruals 8 734  8 944

 3 062  3 785 Accrued expenditure  3 812  3 089 

  58   147 Deposits received   147   58 

 1 390  1 500 Accrued interest  1 500  1 390 

  483   470 Personnel costs   470   483 

  662   588 Public creditors   592   663 

  216   296 Revenue received in advance   296   216 

  203   106 Other post-retirement and medical benefits (refer note 23)   106   203 

  836  1 034 Leave pay (refer note 23)  1 034   836 

 1 874 717 Incentive bonus (refer note 23) 717  1 874 

  132   60 SARS – value added taxation   60   132 

 11 119 11 849 11 884  11 151 

29. Short-term borrowings

 3 764  5 587 

Current portion of long-term interest-bearing 
borrowings (refer note 24)  5 587  3 764 

 1 802   731 Other short-term borrowings   731  1 802 

 5 566  6 318  6 318  5 566 

Other short-term borrowings relate to the market making portfolio and comprises the Group’s position on bonds and other 
financial instruments.
The short-term borrowings bear interest at rates between 5,26% and 10,95%, is repayable between May 2013 and  
March 2014 and are not guaranteed.
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

30. Commitments
30.1 Capital commitments*

  567   216 Contracted for in US Dollars   216   567 
  607   312 Contracted for in Japanese Yen   312   607 

  42   83 Contracted for in Euros   83   42 
 12 342  13 998 Contracted for in SA Rands  13 998  12 342 

  85   41 Contracted for in various other currencies   41   85 
 13 643 14 650 Total capital commitments contracted for 14 650  13 643 

 286 484  292 802 Authorised by the Directors but not yet contracted for  292 802  286 484 
 300 127  307 452  307 452  300 127 

Total capital commitments are expected to be incurred 
as follows:

 31 183  28 581 Within one year  28 581  31 183 
 180 460  198 055 After one year, but not more than five years  198 055  180 460 

 88 484  80 816 After five years, but not more than seven years  80 816  88 484 
 300 127  307 452  307 452  300 127 

These capital commitments will be financed utilising  
net cash flows from operations, debt capital markets, 
through project finance and the use of operating leases.
*   Excludes capitalised borrowing costs of R10 540 million  

(2012: R15 297 million).

30.2 Operating lease commitments
Future minimum rentals under non-cancellable leases 
are as follows: 
Land, buildings and structures

  87   116 Within one year   116   87 
  327   382 After one year, but not more than five years   382   327 
  352   351 More than five years   351   352 
  766   849   849   766 

Aircraft, machinery, equipment, furniture and  

motor vehicles

  539   115 Within one year   115   539 
  804   224 After one year, but not more than five years   224   804 

  19   7 More than five years   7   19 
 1 362   346   346  1 362 

Security and maintenance contracts

  265   130 Within one year   130   265 
  109   24 After one year, but not more than five years   24   109 
  374   154   154   374 

Other

  42   105 Within one year   105   42 
  23   118 After one year, but not more than five years   118   23 
  65   223   223   65 

The operating leases relate mainly to leases of vehicles from McCarthy, Bidvest and other companies. These leases have 
varying terms. On certain leases, contingent rent is payable for vehicles that exceed the fixed kilometres on a monthly basis.



A
n

n
u

a
l fi

n
a

n
ci

a
l s

ta
te

m
e

n
ts

103

Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

30. Commitments (continued)

30.3 Finance lease commitments
The finance leases relate to the Kimberley – De Aar 
transmission line, MTN Coal line Network, computer 
equipment and camera security equipment. These finance 
leases have a lease term ranging between 3 to 17 years. 
The interest rates vary from 11,25% to 16,93%.
Future minimum lease payments under finance leases 
together with the present value of the net minimum 
lease payments are as follows:
Machinery, equipment and furniture

  54   28 Within one year   28   54 

  63   58 After one year, but not more than five years   58   63 

  119   109 More than five years   109   119 

  236   195 Total minimum lease payments   195   236 

 (120)  (107) Amount representing finance charges  (107)  (120)

  116   88 Present value of minimum lease payments   88   116 

Included in the financial statements as:

  39   16  –  Current borrowings   16   39 

  77   72  –  Non-current borrowings   72   77 

  116   88   88   116 

30.4 Lease rentals receivable
Future minimum rentals under operating leases are  
as follows:
Property

 1 316   1 235 Within one year 1 235  1 316 

 3 301  3 625 After one year, but not more than five years 3 625  3 301 

 4 664  4 344 More than five years 4 344  4 664 

 9 281  9 204 9 204  9 281 

Other 

  102   24 Within one year   24   126 

  520   – After one year, but not more than five years   –   520 

  504   – More than five years   –   504 

 1 126 24 24  1 150 

The lease rentals relate mainly to land and buildings. These are mainly short-term rentals with an escalation varying from  
8,0% to 10,0%.
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

31. Contingent liabilities and guarantees
Continuing operations

Asbestos roofs and asbestos cladding

– –

Transnet owns buildings with asbestos roofs and 
asbestos cladding. In terms of the Asbestos Regulations 
of 2001, Transnet is responsible for taking reasonable 
steps to determine the location of asbestos in the 
workplace for the purposes of managing the potential 
risk associated with such materials. The assessment for 
the potential risk of exposure and the cost of removal is 
a complex scientific process which requires the 
expertise of an environmental specialist. In certain 
cases the asbestos cladding is of low friability ie dust 
fibres released are negligible/non-existent and 
therefore maintenance and inspection of the 
contamination is the preferred rehabilitation option, 
until the roofs and cladding are removed and replaced. – –

256 258

Various contingent liabilities where no material losses 

are expected to materialise 258 256

18 30

Various contingent assets where the inflow of economic 

benefits is probable, but not virtually certain 30 18
Transnet entered into an alienation and lease agreement with an external party in respect of some properties in the port of 
Port Elizabeth. Counsel has advised that these agreements are enforceable and cannot be resiled from on the basis that the 
obligations they impose on Transnet are unduly onerous and disadvantageous. The external party has initiated arbitration 
proceedings to force Transnet to perform in accordance with the agreements. Transnet is considering the best and most 
prudent option to resolve this matter.

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations

The Group offers pension benefits through two defined benefit pension funds and one defined contribution fund.  
The Group also offers post-retirement medical benefits to its employees. Specific retirement benefits are offered to 
top management under the Workmen’s Compensation Act. The following sections summarise the relevant components 
of the pension benefits and post-retirement medical benefits. (All amounts disclosed are equal for Company and Group 
unless otherwise stated.)

32.1 Pension benefits
Transnet has three pension funds, namely the Transnet Retirement Fund; Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-fund 
and Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund. The IAS 19: Employee Benefits actuarial valuations for the defined benefit  
funds are performed annually. The Transnet Pension Funds are governed by the Transnet Pension Fund Act, No 62 of 
1990, as amended.

With regard to the defined benefit funds, the expected return on plan assets has been calculated based on market 
expectations at the beginning of the period for returns over the entire life of the related obligation, except where 
settlements have occurred during the year. In these instances the return on assets is adjusted immediately before 
settlement. The estimated return is determined in conjunction with actuaries and market analysts based on the 
underlying asset base within each fund.

32.1.1  Transnet Retirement Fund

The fund is structured as a defined contribution fund and all employees of the Group are eligible members of the fund. 
There were 66 322 members at 31 March 2013 (2012: 62 326). Actuarial valuations are performed annually to 
determine the financial position of the fund. The last actuarial valuation was performed as at 31 March 2012 and the 
actuaries were satisfied with the status of the member’s credit account as at that date. The total contributions to this 
fund constitute member contributions of R946 million (2012: R814 million) and employer contributions of R946 million 
(2012: R814 million).
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32.1.2  Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-fund

The fund is a defined benefit pension fund. The fund has been closed to new members since 1 December 2000. Members 
are current employees of Transnet who elected to remain as members of the fund at 1 November 2000 and pensioner 
members who retired subsequent to that date. 

The Transnet Pension Fund Amendment Act, promulgated in the latter part of 2007, changed the name of the fund with 
effect from 11 November 2005 to the Transport Pension Fund. This Act restructured the Transport Pension Fund 
(formerly the Transnet Pension Fund) into a multi–employer pension fund. From the date this Act came into operation, all 
existing members, pensioners, dependant pensioners, liabilities, assets, rights and obligations, of the Transport Pension 
Fund, were attributed to three Sub-funds, with Transnet as the principal employer for one of the Sub-funds.  
In terms of these Act amendments a Sub-fund in the name of South African Airways (Pty) Ltd was also established as  
at 1 April 2006, with South African Airways (Pty) Ltd as the principal Employer of that Sub-fund, and a further  
Sub-fund in the name of the South African Rail Commuter Corporation Ltd (now Passenger Rail Agency of South Africa) 
was established with effect from 1 May 2006, with the South African Rail Commuter Corporation Ltd as the principal 
employer of that Sub-fund.

All active members and pensioner members relating to South African Airways (Pty) Ltd and the South African  
Rail Commuter Corporation Ltd were assigned to these new Sub-funds. The Transport Pension Fund therefore comprises 
three independent and separate Sub-funds, each with their own principal employer. An employer’s liability to the 
Transport Pension Fund is limited to those attributable to its members, pensioners and dependent pensioners assigned to 
its Sub-fund.

There were 5 044 members and pensioners at 31 March 2013 (2012: 5 172). The fund gives members the option to 
transfer to the Transnet Retirement Fund twice a year. Altogether, 15 members opted to transfer to the Transnet 
Retirement Fund in the current year (2012: 16). The effect of this transfer is noted below.

An actuarial valuation was performed as at 31 March 2013 based on the projected unit credit method. The principal 
actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

Discount rate (%)   7,19  8,43

Salary increases

–  Inflation (%)   5,75    5,91  

–  Promotional (%)   1,00    1,00  

Expected return on plan assets (%)   9,21  10,23

Pension increases (%)   2,00    2,00  

The results of the actuarial valuation are as follows:

Benefit liability

Present value of obligation  (3 487)  (3 146)

Fair value of plan assets  5 235  4 834 

Surplus  1 748  1 688 

Unrecognised asset  (1 748)  (1 688)

Net liability per the statement of financial position  –    –   

The liability recognised for this fund relating to the Company amounts to Rnil (2012: Rnil).

The surplus was not recognised as the rules of the fund do not provide for the surpluses to be distributed.
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Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.2  Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-fund (continued)

Credit to the income statement

Expected return on assets   437   480 

Current service cost  (21)  (28)

Interest cost  (260)  (248)

  156   204 

Actual return on plan assets 683 415

Total actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income for the year  (170)  (220)

–  Actuarial loss  (93)  (428)

–  Net asset not recognised  (60)   297 

–  Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (17)  (89)

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income (1 737) (1 567)

Movements in the net asset

Opening net asset  1 688  1 985 

Income statement credit per above   156   204 

Actuarial loss  (93)  (428)

Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (17)  (89)

Contributions paid by employer   14   16 

Surplus  1 748  1 688 

Asset not recognised  (1 748)  (1 688)

Closing net asset  –    –   

Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (3 146)  (2 784)

Current service cost  (21)  (28)

Contributions by members  (10)  (11)

Interest cost  (260)  (248)

Actuarial loss  (339)  (363)

Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (17)  (89)

Benefits paid   295   372 

 (3 498)  (3 151)

Transfer to the retirement fund   11   5 

Closing benefit liability  (3 487)  (3 146)
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Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

Reconciliation of movement in fair value of plan assets

Opening fair value of plan assets  4 834  4 769 

Expected return   437   480 

Actuarial gain/(loss)   246  (65)

Contributions by employer and members   24   27 

Benefits paid  (295)  (372)

 5 246  4 839 

Transfer to the retirement fund  (11)  (5)

Closing fair value of plan assets  5 235  4 834 

2013
R million

2012

R million

2011

R million

2010

R million

2009

R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods: 

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation  (3 487)  (3 146)  (2 784)  (2 786)  (2 957)

Fair value of plan assets  5 235  4 834  4 769  4 502  3 658 

Surplus  1 748  1 688  1 985  1 716   701 

Asset not recognised  (1 748)  (1 688)  (1 985)  (1 716)  (701)

Net liability  –    –    –    –    –   

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation  (356)  (452)  (19)   39  (63)
Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised on  
plan assets   246  (65)   98   897  (1 176)
The estimated contributions by both employer and members for the year beginning 1 April 2013 amount to R24 million 
(2012: R27 million).

Group

2013
%

2012

%

The major categories of plan assets as a % of total plan assets are:

Equity – Local and international (%) 63 56

Property (%) 1 5

Bonds (%) 33 38

Cash (%) 3 1

Total 100 100
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Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.3  Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund

The fund was established on 1 November 2000 for the benefit of existing retired 
members and qualifying beneficiaries. The fund includes the spouses of black 
pensioners who retired from Transnet between 16 December 1974 and 1 April 1986 
(previously reported under the Black Widows Pension Fund before 31 March 2010). 
There were 24 774 members at 31 March 2013 (2012: 26 865). This excludes widows 
and children of pensioners, as well as the black widows. The all inclusive membership  
is 65 653 at 31 March 2013 (2012: 68 727). The entire obligation relates to  
Transnet SOC Ltd.
The actuarial valuation was based on the projected unit credit method. The principal 
actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

Discount rate (%) 6,60 8,08

Expected return on assets (%) 7,31 8,13

Inflation (%) 5,80 6,23

Pension increases (%) 2,00 2,00

The results of the actuarial valuation are as follows:

Benefit liability

Present value of obligation  (16 168)  (15 658)

Fair value of plan assets  18 425  18 572 

Surplus  2 257  2 914 

Unrecognised asset  (2 257)  (2 914)

Net liability per the statement of financial position  –  –   

The surplus was not recognised as the rules of the fund do not provide for the surpluses 
to be distributed.

Credit to the income statement

Expected return on plan assets  1 290  1 436 

Interest cost  (1 189)  (1 289)

  101   147 

Actual return on plan assets  2 125 2 017

Total actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income for the year  (101)  (147)

–  Actuarial (loss)/gain  (597)   63 

–  Net asset not recognised   657   328 

–  Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (161)  (538)

Cumulative actuarial gains recognised in other comprehensive income 4 300 4 401
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Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

Movements in the net asset

Opening net asset  2 914  3 242 
Income statement credit per above   101   147 
Actuarial (loss)/gain  (597)   63 
Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (161)  (538)
Surplus  2 257  2 914 
Asset not recognised  (2 257)  (2 914)
Net asset per statement of financial position  –  – 
Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (15 658)  (15 666)
Interest cost  (1 189)  (1 289)
Actuarial loss  (1 432)  (518)
Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (161)  (538)
Benefits paid  2 272  2 353 
Closing benefit liability  (16 168)  (15 658)
Reconciliation of movement in fair value of plan assets

Opening fair value of plan assets  18 572  18 908 
Expected return  1 290  1 436 
Actuarial gain   835   581 
Benefits paid  (2 272)  (2 353)
Closing fair value of plan assets  18 425  18 572 

2013
R million

2012

R million

2011

R million

2010

R million

2009

R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods:

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation  (16 168)  (15 658)  (15 666)  (16 469)  (17 550)
Fair value of plan assets  18 425  18 572  18 908  19 679  20 316 
Surplus  2 257  2 914  3 242  3 210  2 766 
Asset not recognised  (2 257)  (2 914)  (3 242)  (3 210)  (2 766)
Net liability  –    –  –  –  – 
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation  (1 593) (1 056) (555) 256 (1 126)
Actuarial gain recognised on plan assets 835   581 580 184 912
The estimated contributions by both employer and members for the year beginning 1 April 2013 amount to R nil  
(2012: R nil).
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Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.3  Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund (continued)

The major categories of plan assets as a % of total plan assets are:

Equity (%) 25 22

Property (%) 2 2

Bonds (%) 72 29

Cash and net current assets (%) 1 47

Total assets at market value 100 100

32.1.4 Top Management Pension and Workmen’s Compensation Act 
pensioners 
The Top Management Pensions are additional benefits to top up pensions received to 
eliminate the effects of any early retirement and resignation penalties applied under the 
Group’s existing pension fund schemes to management appointed prior to 1 April 1999. 
There were 397 members at 31 March 2013 (2012: 397). The entire obligation relates to 
Transnet SOC Ltd.

The Workmen’s Compensation Pension Fund Act benefit relates to the pension benefits 
that the Company pays to current and former employees who were disabled whilst in 
service prior to the corporatisation of Transnet in 1990. There were 1 302 members at 
31 March 2013 (2012: 1 364).

Actuarial valuations for both benefits were performed to determine the present value of 
the obligations based on the projected unit credit method. There are no plan assets held 
to fund these obligations.

The following summarises the components of expense and liability recognised in the 
financial statements together with the assumptions adopted.

Top Management Pension

The principal assumptions in determining the benefits are as follows:

Discount rate (%)   6,40    7,76

Salary increases 

Inflation (%)   5,82   6,21 

Promotional (%)   1,00    1,00

Pension increase (%) 2,00   2,00 

Benefit liability

Present value of obligations (89) (84)

Liability recognised in the statement of financial position (89) (84)

Charge to the income statement

Interest cost (6) (7)

(6) (7)
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Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

32.1.4 Top Management Pension and Workmen’s Compensation Act 
pensioners

Actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income for the year  (8)  (9)

Cumulative actuarial gains recognised in other comprehensive income   21   29 

Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (84)  (77)

Expense as above  (6)  (7)

Actuarial loss  (8)  (9)

Benefits paid   9   9 

Closing benefit liability  (89)  (84)

2013
R million

2012

R million

2011

R million

2010

R million

2009

R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods:

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation  (89)  (84) (77) (80) (84)

Deficit  (89)  (84) (77) (80) (84)
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation (8) (9) 1 2 3
The estimated contributions (based on current year contribution) for the year beginning 1 April 2013 amount to  
R9 million (2012: R9 million).

Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

Workmen’s Compensation Act pensioners

The principal assumptions in determining the benefits are as follows:

Discount rate (%)   6,93    8,33  

Pension increase (%)   5,61    5,86  

Inflation rate (%)   5,61    5,86  

Benefit liability

Present value of obligations  (481) (433)

Liability recognised in the statement of financial position  (481) (433)
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Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.4  Top Management Pension and Workmen’s Compensation Act 
pensioners (continued)

Charge to the income statement

Interest cost  (35) (32)

 (35) (32)

Actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income for the year (62) (72)

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income (295) (233)

Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (433)  (373)

Interest cost  (35)  (32)

Actuarial loss  (62)  (72)

Benefits paid   49   44 

Closing benefit liability  (481)  (433)

2013
R million

2012

R million

2011

R million

2010

R million

2009

R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods: 

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation  (481)  (433)  (373)  (354)  (368)

Deficit  (481)  (433)  (373)  (354)  (368)

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation (62) (72) (22) 16 (93)
The estimated contributions (based on current year contribution) for the year beginning 1 April 2013 amount to  
R49 million (2012: R44 million).

32.1.5  HIV/Aids benefits

Transnet Group offers certain assistance to employees diagnosed with Aids. The related data is not sufficient to 
actuarially value any liability the Group may have in this regard.
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Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

32.2 Post-retirement medical benefits
SATS Pensioners’ post-retirement medical benefits

The SATS pensioners are the retired employees of the former South African Transport 
Services (SATS) and their dependants. The liability is in respect of pensioners and their 
dependants who have elected to belong to the Transnet inhouse medical scheme, 
Transmed, whose membership is voluntary. Transnet subsidises the medical contribution 
costs at a flat contribution of R800 per principal member per month.
Transnet employees post-retirement medical benefits

This includes the current and past employees of Transnet who are members of Transnet 
accredited medical schemes, namely Transnet’s inhouse medical aid, Transmed Medical 
Fund, Bestmed, Bonitas, Discovery Health and Sizwe. Membership is voluntary.
Transnet subsidises members at a flat contribution of R213 per month per member family.
To enable the Company to fully provide for such post-retirement medical liabilities, 
since April 2000, actuarial valuations are obtained annually. There are no assets held  
to fund the obligation.
Analysis of benefit expense

The following summarises the components of the net benefit expense recognised in 
both the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position as at 
31 March 2013 for both SATS pensioners and Transnet Employees. The projected unit 
credit method has been used for the purposes of determining the actuarial valuation for 
both the funds.
32.2.1  SATS pensioners
Discount rate (%) 6,73 8,33
Benefit liability

Present value of obligations (832) (881)
Liability recognised in the statement of financial position (832) (881)
Charge to the income statement 
Interest cost (56) (69)

(56) (69)
Actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income for the year (41) (49)
Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income (173) (132)
Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (881)  (934)
Interest cost  (56)  (69)
Company contributions   146   171 
Actuarial loss  (41)  (49)
Closing benefit liability  (832)  (881)
The medical inflation has no impact on the aggregate current service cost and interest 
cost and the benefit liability. However, the assumed discount rate has an impact. The 
sensitivity of the obligation to a change in the assumed discount rate of 6,73%  
(2012: 8,33%) on the present value of the obligation is as follows:
Sensitivity analysis

Closing benefit liability based on changes in discount rate:

5,73% (2012: 7,33%) (879) (926)

7,73% (2012: 9,33%) (790) (840)
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32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.2 Post-retirement medical benefits (continued)

32.2.1  SATS Pensioners (continued)

2013
R million

2012

R million

2011

R million

2010

R million

2009

R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods:

Benefit liability  (832)  (881)  (934)  (1 026)  (1 240)

Deficit  (832)  (881)  (934)  (1 026)  (1 240)
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation (41) (49) 4 112 (117)
The estimated contribution (based on current year contribution) for the year beginning 1 April 2013 is R146 million 
(2012: R171 million).

Group

2013
R million

2012

R million

32.2.2  Transnet employees

Discount rate (%) 6,73 8,33
Benefit liability

Present value of obligations (557) (605)

Liability recognised in the statement of financial position (557) (605)
Charge to the income statement

Current service cost  (13)  (11)
Interest cost  (49)  (51)

 (62)  (62)
Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in other comprehensive income for the year 75 (4)
Cumulative actuarial gain recognised in other comprehensive income 334 259
Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (605)  (569)
Expense as above  (62)  (62)
Member and Company contributions   35   30 
Actuarial gain/(loss)   75  (4)

Closing benefit liability  (557)  (605)
Transnet subsidises members at a flat contribution of R213 per month per member 
family. The medical inflation has no impact on the aggregate current service cost and 
interest cost and the benefit liability. However, the assumed discount rate has an 
impact. The sensitivity of the obligation to a change in the assumed discount rate  
of 6,73% (2012: 8,33%) on the present value of the obligation is as follows:
Sensitivity analysis

Closing benefit liability based on changes in discount rate:
5,73% (2012: 7,33%) (618) (662)
7,73% (2012: 9,33%) (506) (550)
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2013
R million

2012

R million

2011

R million

2010

R million

2009

R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods:

Benefit liability  (557)  (605)  (569)  (562)  (632)

Deficit  (557)  (605)  (569)  (562)  (632)
Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised on 
defined benefit obligation 75 (4) 10 88 (20)
The estimated contribution (based on current year contribution) for the year beginning 1 April 2013 is R35 million 
(2012: R30 million).

33. Related-party transactions 
Transnet is a Schedule 2 Public Entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA). It therefore has a significant 
number of related parties including other State-owned entities, Government departments and all other entities within the 
national sphere of Government. The Group has utilised the database maintained by the National Treasury to identify related 
parties. A list of all related parties is available at the National Treasury website at www.treasury.gov.za or at the Company’s 
registered office.
In addition, the Company has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries (see annexure D). The Group and Company have 
related party relationships with its associates (see annexure D) and with its directors and senior executives  
(key management).
Unless otherwise disclosed, all transactions with the above related parties are concluded on an arm’s length basis. 
Furthermore, neither the Group nor any of its related parties is obligated to procure from or render services to their 
related parties.
Transactions with related parties

Services rendered to related parties comprise of principally transportation services. Services purchased from related 
parties comprised principally energy, telecommunications, information technology and property-related services.
During the year the Group completed the acquisition of the Durban International Airport site from ACSA for  
R1 850 million, of which R1 200 million was paid in the 2012 financial year.
The following is a summary of transactions with related parties during the year and balances due at year-end according to 
Transnet’s records:

Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

Services rendered

  1601   902 Major public enterprises   902   1601 

1 548 1 616 Other public enterprises 1 616 1 548

  1 608  1 348 National Government business enterprises  1 348   1 608 

  42   21 Associates   21   42 

  6   6 Subsidiaries – –

 4 805 3 893 3 887  4 799 
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

33. Related-party transactions (continued)

Services received

 2 876 1 987 Major public enterprises 1 987 2 876 

  380 417 Other public enterprises   417   380 

  1 249 705 National Government business enterprises   705   1 249 

 1  –   Associates  –   1 

  4 506 3 109 3 109  4 506 

Amount due (to)/from

1 101   314 Major public enterprises   314  1 101

  64   73 Other public enterprises   73   64 

 (2 315)  (1 962) National Government business enterprises  (1 962)  (2 315)

  3 – Associates –   3 

(1 147)  (1 575)  (1 575)  (1 147)

During the year the Group expensed R298 million  
(2012: R525 million) in relation to provisions and write-
offs of bad debts on related parties and at year-end  
the Group had a provision of R968 million  
(2012: R670 million) against debtors pertaining to 
related parties.

Transactions with key management personnel

Loans to key management are included in “Long-term 
loans and advances” (refer note 15). 

Details of key management compensation are set out in 
the Report of Directors of the annual financial 
statements.

None of key management has or had significant influence 
in any entity with whom the Group had significant 
transactions during the year. 
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

34. Cash flow information 
34.1 Cash generated from operations

 6 200 6 206 Profit before taxation 6 320  6 241 

 4 233  5 328 Finance costs (refer note 34.3)  5 328  4 233 

 (462)  (385) Finance income (refer note 34.4)  (405)  (488)

 (2)  (1) Dividend income –  –   

 10 644 11 411 Elimination of non-cash items 11 356  10 630 

 8 355  9 277 

–   Depreciation, derecognition and amortisation  
(refer note 3)  9 277  8 355 

 (141)  (259) –   Increase in provision for employment benefits  (259)  (141)

  26  (38)

–   (Reversal of impairment)/impairment of loss making 
subsidiaries and associates (refer note 4.2)  (1)   1 

  257   493 

–   Impairment of trade and other receivables and loans 
and advances (refer note 4.2)   493   257 

  150   67 

–   Impairment of property, plant and equipment  
(refer note 4.2)   67   150 

 –     29 –  Impairment intangible assets (refer note 4.2)   29  –   

 (66)  –   

–   Impairment reversal of assets held-for-sale  
(refer note 4.2)  –    (66)

 1 792  1 107 –  Movement in provisions  1 107  1 792 

 –    –   

–   (Income)/loss from associates and joint ventures  
(refer note 13)  (24)   6 

 (413)  (2 282) –  Fair value adjustments on derivatives  (2 282)  (413)

 1 006  3 045 –  Unrealised foreign exchange losses  3 045  1 006 

 (39)   62 

–   Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment 
(refer note 2)   62  (39)

 –     2 –  Loss on disposal of intangible assets   2  –   

 –     40 –  (Profit)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries  (55)  –   

  30   38 –  Discount on bonds amortised (refer note 6)   38   30 

 –     9 –  Provision for inventory obsolescence   9  –   

  53   114 –  Release of firm commitments (refer annexure B)   114   53 

 (353)  (274)

–   Fair value adjustment of investment property  
(refer note 5)  (274)  (353)

 (13)  (19) –  Other non-cash items   8  (8)

 20 613 22 559 22 599  20 616 
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

34. Cash flow information (continued)

34.2 Changes in working capital

 (244)  (818) Increase in inventories  (818)  (244)

 (359)  (1 126) Increase in trade and other receivables  (1 129)  (359)

 1 380 671 Increase in trade and other payables 674  1 384 

  777  (1 273)  (1 273)   781 

34.3 Finance costs 

 4 254  5 545 Finance costs  5 545  4 255 

  9  (179) Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain on translation  (179) 8

 (30)  (38) Discounts on bonds amortised  (38)  (30)

 4 233  5 328  5 328  4 233 

34.4 Finance income

  462   385 Finance income 405   488 

 (81) (83)  Interest received – Held-to-maturity (83)   (81)

  381   302 322 407

34.5 Taxation refunded/(paid)

  306   214 Balance at the beginning of the year   209   303 

 (177)  (34) Taxation as per income statements  (43)  (189)

 (214)   52 Balance at the end of the year   56  (209)

 (85)  (232)   222  (95)

34.6 Cash and cash equivalents

898 2 258 Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2 598 1 189
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Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

35. Headline earnings
 4 090 4 236 Profit for the year attributable to equity holder 4 340  4 119 

 (39)   62 

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (refer note 4.1)   62  (39)

 –     2 Loss on disposal of intangible assets   2  –   

 (353)  (274)

Fair value adjustments on investment properties  
(refer note 5)  (274)  (353)

  150   67 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  
(refer note 4.2)   67   150 

 –     29 Impairment of intangible assets (refer note 4.2)   29  –   

  26  (38)

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of associates and 
subsidiaries (refer note 4.2)  (1)   1 

 –     40 (Profit)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries  (55)  –   

 (66)  –   

Impairment reversal of assets held-for-sale  
(refer note 4.2)  –    (66)

 3 808 4 124 Headline earnings before taxation effects 4 170  3 812 

Taxation effects

  11  (17)

(Loss)/profit on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment  (17)   11 

 –    (1) Loss on disposal of intangible assets  (1)  –   

  66   51 Fair value adjustments on investment properties   51   66 

 (42)  (19) Impairment of property, plant and equipment  (19)  (42)

 –    (8) Impairment of intangible assets  (8)  –   

 –     11 Impairment of associates and subsidiaries  –    –   

 –    (7) (Profit)/loss on disposal of the subsidiaries   10  –   

  18  –   Impairment reversal of assets held-for-sale  –     18 

 3 861 4 134 Headline earnings 4 186  3 865 
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Annexure A 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Financial Risk Management

Introduction
The Group has a centralised Treasury function which performs a supporting role to the Transnet Operating 
Divisions and is tasked with  the following three main objectives, namely:

Strategy (MDS), which are mainly executed by the Operating Divisions;

Policies
The Financial Risk Management policies are contained in a Board approved Financial Risk Management  

ensuring that:

The FRMF is approved by the Board on an annual basis and is aligned with the Group Enterprise Wide Risk 
Management Framework (ERM), the Treasury Regulations in terms of PFMA, Public Finance Management  
Act 1 of 1999 (as amended) (PFMA), King III Code and the Protocol on Corporate Governance, Charter of Best 
Practice of the Association of Corporate Treasurers of South Africa (ACTSA) and other applicable legislation  

Risk philosophy
The overall risk management philosophy of Transnet SOC Ltd is to the extent possible, avoid undue risks and 

continued success and reputation of Transnet are critically dependent on the credibility of risk management, and 

Risk profile and risk management
Financial risk assessment and analysis are disclosed on a monthly basis to the Group Treasurer, The Group 

Exco is responsible for reporting financial risk exposures to the Transnet Board of Directors at scheduled  

of volatility in the markets, Treasury will continuously manage all risks very closely so as to implement risk 

Liquidity risk 
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exposures; Domestic Medium Term Note (DMTN) programme (R55 billion DMTN programme – Bonds R2,1 billion 
and Commercial Paper R1,1 billion); Export Development Agencies R1,8 billion; GMTN programme R8,2 billion 

Certain thresholds, which are a combination of available cash, committed and uncommitted bank facilities, 

Counterparty risk

Counterparty risk exposures arise mainly as a result of the investment of operational cash on hand and 
 

referred to in the PFMA:

Financial assets that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of operational 

related transactions are confined to credible counterparties and are managed within Board approved credit 

Investments are only allowed with international counterparties that are local authorised dealers with a minimum 
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Annexure A (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2013

Money Market Funds are utilised as the major investment vehicle for surplus cash due to its diversified risk 

Market risk 

Foreign currency risk 

where goods are imported from foreign countries and are exposed to currency fluctuations as well as the raising 

foreign currency position in all the major currencies ie US Dollar (USD), Euro, Pound Sterling (GBP) and Japanese 

vanilla hedging instruments after careful consideration and analysis of the taxation, financial risk, accounting, 

the statement of comprehensive income and the performance is monitored monthly by a subcommittee of Finco 

Commodity risk 

Commodity risk refers to the potential variability in the Transnet financial condition owing to the changes 

agreements in respect of the General Freight Business (GFB) of the Group are structured in such a way that 
tariffs can be adjusted to compensate for changes in fuel prices (Brent and Exchange rates), steel prices and 

Interest rate risk

external finance cost budget  within an acceptable risk profile; 
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The Group measures interest rate risk by calculating the impact of fair value movements on derivatives and 
floating rate loans and running cash flow at risk scenarios and extreme sensitivities to determine the impact 
against the annually approved external finance cost budget in respect of current liabilities and new funding 

Other price risk

of fair value changes in future cash flows of a financial instrument as a result of changes in the underlying share 

Liquidity risk 

Bonds at carrying and nominal values:

Transnet issues domestic bonds listed on the Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE), and the London Stock 

2013 2012

Bond

Redemption 

date

Coupon 

rate

%

Carrying 
value

R million

Nominal 
value

R million

Carrying 

value

R million

Nominal 

value

R million

Domestic Rand bonds TN17 9,25 6 772 7 000 7 000
TN20 10,50 7 128 6 849

TN23 10,80 7 347 7 000

TN25 9,50 4 442 4 379 3 808 3 779
TN27 8,90 6 350 7 000 7 000

Total domestic bonds 32 039 32 228

 2028* 13,50 1 955 2 000 1 955 2 000

 2029* 10,00 1 047 1 500 1 500
Total Euro-rand bonds 3 002 3 500 2 995 3 500  
USD bonds 6 941 6 965

TNUS22** 9 186 9 287

Total USD bonds 16 127 16 252

Total bonds in issue as at  

report date 51 168 51 980 39 530
*  These Bonds are guaranteed by the Government of the Republic of South Africa, and the Company paid R1,2 million in guarantee fees  

(2012: R19,2 million). The amounts in the above table are all in respect of bonds held at amortised cost.
 ** The TNUS22 USD bond is a new bond issued under the GMTN programme on 26 July 2012.
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for the year ended 31 March 2013

Concentration of liquidity risk

 

Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

102 51 Sanlam Capital Markets Ltd 51 102
24 Sanlam Investment Management (Pty) Ltd 24

584 Standard Bank London 584

524 Standard Bank Corporate Investment Bank 524

5 893 4 737 4 737 5 893
2 312 The Bank of Tokyo Mitsubishi Ltd 2 312

3 300 1 895 ABSA Bank Ltd 1 895 3 300
1 398 1 481 1 481 1 398
1 000 1 729 French Development Bank 1 729 1000

– 3 808 Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 3 808 –
– 929 Export Development Canada 929 –
– 1 000 African Development Bank 1 000 –

2 095 2 071 Nedbank Ltd 2 071 2 095
– 245 Blue Titanium Conduit Limited 245 –

39 331 51 492

Various holders of Transnet Bonds and Commercial Paper, 
widely held, and traded* 51 492 39 331

125 204 Other 206 127
58 130 73 086 73 088 58 132

*  Includes Bonds held at amortised cost R51 168 million and commercial paper R324 million (2012: Includes Bonds held at amortised cost  
R38 596 million and commercial paper R735 million).

Funding plan

Target Projections

Funding option

2014
R million

2015

R million

2016

R million

2017

R million

2018

R million

2019

R million

2020

R million

Total

R million

Loan redemptions (5 585) (1 917)

Total funding 
(15 594) (20 972) (19 290) 19 823
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The following schedule depicts the probable sources of funding to be used by Transnet over the next four financial 

2014

R billion

2015

R billion

2016

R billion

2017

R billion

Domestic Bonds and Commercial Paper 7,70 11,00 7,70
9,75 7,00 5,50
0,25 3,00 1,00

Total funding 15,60 15,10 21,00 14,20

Contractual maturity analysis

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the 
impact of netting arrangements for the Company and the Group:

 

Carrying 
value 
2013

R million

Contractual 
cash flows

 2013
R million

0 to 12 
months

R million

1 to 2 
years

R million

2 to 3 
years

R million

3 to 4 
years

R million

4 to 5 
years

R million

More
 than

 5 years
R million

Non derivative financial 
liabilities

 

Bonds (Company and Group) (51 168) (94 811) (4 266) (11 232) (4 267) (3 953) (10 953) (60 140)

Secured bank loans Company (4 202) (6 050) (1 018) (645) (652) (637) (630) (2 468)

Secured bank loans Group (4 204) (6 052) (1 020) (645) (652) (637) (630) (2 468)

Unsecured bank loans 
(Company and Group) (17 189) (20 883) (5 732) (2 353) (2 454) (2 269) (2 183) (5 892)

Commercial paper  
(Company and Group) (324) (330) (330)

Other short term borrowings 
(Company and Group) (203) (311) (144) (14) (21) (12) (11) (109)

Total borrowings Company (73 086) (122 385) (11 490) (14 244) (7 394) (6 871) (13 777) (68 609)

Total borrowings Group (73 088) (122 387)  (11 492) (14 244) (7 394) (6 871) (13 777) (68 609)

Trade payables and accruals 
Company (12 174) (12 174)  (12 174)  –  –  –  –  – 

Trade payables and accruals 
Group (12 209) (12 209)   (12 209)  –  –  –  –  – 

Derivative financial liabilities 
(Company and Group)

 –  – – – – – – –

Forward exchange contracts 
used for hedging (57) (97) (16) (24) (32) (25) – –

– outflow (412) (453) (126) (118) (126) (83) – –

– inflow  355  356  110  94  94  58 – –

Other forward exchange 
contracts (28)  4 (7) –  6  5 – –

– outflow (348) (348) (99) (97) (94) (58) – –

– inflow  320  352          92 97    100 63 – –

Total derivative financial 
liabilities (85) (93)        (23)   (24)  (26)   (20) – –
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Contractual maturity analysis (continued)

 

Carrying 

value 

2012

R million

Contractual 

cash flows

 2012

R million

0 to 12 

months

R million

1 to 2 

years

R million

2 to 3 

years

R million

3 to 4 

years

R million

4 to 5 

years

R million

More

 than

 5 years

R million

Non derivative financial 

liabilities

 

Bonds  (Company and Group) (38 596) (79 275) (2 704) (3 639) (3 639) (9 401) (3 379) (56 513)
Secured bank loans Company (3 900) (5 861) (899) (527) (811) (525) (523) (2 576)
Secured bank loans Group (3 902) (5 864) (902) (527) (811) (525) (523) (2 576)
Unsecured bank loans  
(Company and Group) (14 774) (17 945) (5 120) (1 008) (4 929) (960) (929) (4 999)
Commercial paper  
(Company and Group) (735) (735) (735)  –  –  –  –  – 
Other short term borrowings 
(Company and Group) (125) (244) (62) (14) (26) (11) (11) (120)
Total borrowings Company (58 130) (104 060) (9 520) (5 188) (9 405) (10 897) (4 842) (64 208)
Total borrowings Group (58 132) (104 063) (9 523) (5 188) (9 405) (10 897) (4 842) (64 208)
Trade payables and accruals 
Company (7 591) (7 591) (7 591)  –  –  –  –  – 
Trade payables and accruals 
Group (7 623) (7 623) (7 623)  –  –  –  –  – 
Derivative financial liabilities 

(Company and Group)

Cross currency swaps  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Forward exchange contracts 
used for hedging (139) (231) (85) (29) (38) (46) (33)  – 
– outflow (1 402) (1 501) (1072) (102) (118) (126) (83)  – 
– inflow 1 263 1 270 987 73 80 80 50  – 
Other forward exchange 
contracts (5) 12 (2) 3 3 8 –  – 
– outflow (246) (249) (135) (41) (34) (39)  –  – 
– inflow 241 261 133 44 37 47  –  – 

Total derivative financial 

liabilities (144) (219) (87) (26) (35) (38) (33)  – 
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Credit risk

Maximum exposure and analysis of exposures to credit risk

The following maximum exposures to credit risk existed at 31 March 2013 in respect of financial assets:

2013 2012

Carrying
 value

R million

Neither 
past 

due nor 
impaired
R million

Past due 
but not

 impaired
R million

Impaired
R million

Carrying 

value

R million

Neither

 past 

due nor 

impaired

R million

Past due 

but not

impaired

R million

Impaired

R million

Company
Trade receivables****

– Low risk 4 068 3 498 570 (644) 3 552 3 077 (595)
– Medium risk 784 707 77 (43)    783 119 ( 32)

319 289 30 (348)   281  25 (295)
5 171 4 494 677 (1 035) (922)

0ther amounts receivable** 805 473 332 (460) 713 75
Investments – current 1 359 1 359  –  – 2 755 2 755  –  – 
Long and short–term loans  
and advances* 6 6  –  –  –  – 
Loans to subsidiaries and 
associates 4 4  – (389) 3 3  – 
Guarantees issued 114  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Investment and price risk*** 8 766  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Group
Trade receivables****

– Low risk 4 070 3 459 611 (644) 3 079 (595)
– Medium risk 785 707 78 (43)    783 119 (32)

319 289 30 (364)   281  25 (312)
5 174 4 455 719 (1 051) (939)

0ther amounts  receivable** 807 475 332 (460) 713 75
Investments – current 1 359 1 359 –  – 2 755 2 755  –  – 

 
and advances* 6 6  –  –  –  – 
Guarantees issued 114  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Investment and price risk*** 8 766  –  –  –  –  –  – 

***  Investment and price risk includes call and fixed deposits as well as money market funds. The high investment exposure for 2012 and 2013 is the 
result of pre-funding done to minimise liquidity risk to fund the capital expenditure programme.

* Long-term advances (Company and Group) R4 million (2012: R2 million)
 Short-term advances (Company and Group) R2 million (2012: R2 million)
Reconciliation to note 18 Company Group

** Other amounts receivable R805 million (2012: R713 million) R807 million (2012: R713 million)
Prepayments R265 million (2012: R257 million) R265 million (2012: R257 million)
Prepayments and other amounts receivable R1 070 million (2012: R970 million) R1 072 million (2012:  R970 million) 
**** Trade receivables as per above R5 171 million (2012: R4 641 million) R5 174 million (2012: R4 643 million)
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Credit risk (continued)

Low risk: No guarantee is required from the customer.
Medium risk: 50% – 75% guarantee required by the customer.
High risk: In such instances, customers are required either to provide 100% guarantee or transact on a cash basis only. The balances for other 
receivables and loans and advances are not disaggregated for internal reporting purposes. 
Price risk: The risk that financial derivatives and bond transactions have to be closed-out at a market value loss as a result of the unfavourable 
movements in market rates.
Bond issuer risk: The risk that an issuer of bonds will not be able to fulfil its financial obligations on maturity date in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the bond issues.
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure, defines credit risk as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other 
party by failing to discharge an obligation. As such Transnet will suffer financial losses on guarantees issued as the Group would be required to make 
good the failure by a third party to discharge an obligation.  
Credit enhancements in the form of title deeds and pension fund cessions for loans and advances and deposits and guarantees in respect of amounts 
included in trade and other receivables and loans and advances, are held by the Group. The Group took possession of some collateral during the 
current financial year amounting to R nil (2012: R nil).

The following represents the ageing of the carrying value of financial assets past due but not impaired at  
31 March 2013 for the Company and Group:

1 – 30 days 31 – 60 days Greater than 60 days

Past 

due

  Low  

risk

Medium 

risk

High 

risk

Past 

due

  Low 

risk

Medium 

risk

High 

risk

Past 

due

  Low 

risk

Medium 

risk

High 

risk

2013

Trade receivables 348 332 15 1 46 42 3 1 324 237 60 27

Other receivables 282 282  –  – 31 31  –  – 18 18  –  – 

2012
Trade receivables 22 8 23 3 91
Other receivables  –  – 2 2  –  –  –  – 

The following financial assets have been specifically impaired for the Company and Group at 31 March 2013: 

2013 2012

R million

Trade 
receivables

Other 
receivables

Trade 

receivables

Other 

receivables

Company

Low risk 128 3 8

Medium risk 63  –  – 

14  – 210  – 

Group

Low risk 128 3 8

Medium risk 63  –  – 

14  –      210  – 

Financial assets have been impaired based on the age of the debt and the inability to recover these specified 
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Concentration of credit risk

Risk per long-term rating (R million) Risk per long-term rating (R million)

Money market 0,0

JSE 0,1

AA+ 230,1

A+ 90,5

A 130,0

AA 752,6

AA-  442,0

March 2012March 2012

Money market 2,0

JSE 0,0

A+ 3 749,1

A 820,0

AA 2 249,2

AA- 785,6

AAA  1 159,9

March 2013
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The graph below reflects the distribution of credit risk per financial instrument per long term credit rating 

Risk per instrument per long-term rating 

(Investments) 2013 (R million)

Risk per instrument per long-term rating 

(Derivatives) 2013 (R million)

Risk per instrument per long-term rating 

(Investments) 2012 (R million)

Risk per instrument per long-term rating 

(Derivatives) 2012 (R million)

A+ 835,21

A 820,09

AA 1 534,43

785,61

Money market funds 2 006,00

AAA 1005,43

A+ 2 913,40

A 0,00

AA 714,75

n/a

Money market funds n/a

JSE 0,05

A+ 0,50

A 0,00

AA 31,80

306,60

Money market funds 0,00

AA+ 117,40

A+ 90,00

A 130,00

AA 720,80

135,40

Money market funds 0,00

AA+ 112,70
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Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The Company’s and Group’s net long (short) foreign currency risk exposures as at 31 March 2013 are reflected 
below (expressed in notional amounts).

2013 2012

USD
US$/m

JPY
¥/m

EUR
€m

AUD 
AU$/m

Other 
currencies 
exposures

in USD 
US$/m

USD 

US$/m

JPY

¥/m

EUR

€m

AUD 

AU$/m

Other 

currencies 

exposures

 in USD 

US$/m

Foreign currency 
bonds (1 750)  –  –  –  – (750)  –  –  – –
Secured bank loans  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  – –
Unsecured bank 
loans (510) (38 408)  –  –  –  – (41 334)  –  – –
Brazil equity 
investment 12  –  –  –  – 13  –  –  – –
Gross financial 

position exposure (2 248) (38 408)  –  –  – (737) (41 334)  –  –  – 
Exposures for 
future expenditure (47) (3 501) (6) (9) (1) (128) (8 494) (47) (3) (11)
Gross foreign 

currency exposure (2 295) (41 909) (6) (9) (1) (865) (49 828) (47) (3) (11)
Forward exchange 
contracts 45 3 501 6 9 1 110 8 494 30 – 11
Cross currency 
swaps 2 260 38 408 –  –  – 750 41 334 – – –
Net uncovered 

exposure 10 – –  – – (5) – (17) (3) –

Sensitivity analysis

The table below shows the impact on profit and loss (non-hedge accounted transactions) of a stronger and  
weaker Rand for the Company and Group, as a result of fair value movements of cross currency interest rate 
swaps and forward exchange contracts. 

2013 2012

Currency

Currency 
exposure in 

millions of 
currency
R million

Fair value 
R million

Impact of Rand 
strengthening

R million

Impact 
of Rand 

weakening
R million

Currency 

exposure in 

millions of 

currency

R million

Fair value 

R million

Impact of Rand 

strengthening

R million

Impact 

of Rand 

weakening

R million

AUD – – – – – – – –
EUR (30) (27) (25) 25 (33) 2 (23) 23
JPY – – – – (90) 0,3 (1) 1
USD 1 0,3 2 (2) (3) 2 (7) 7
Totals (29) (26,7) (23) 23 (126) 4,3 (31) 31
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Sensitivity analysis (continued)

movements on derivatives that are part of effective hedge accounting, hence the analysis is on the net balance, 

swap adjustments have been added to the curves when doing the sensitivities to ensure that a more accurate 

Value at risk (fx)

model assumes that historical patterns will repeat into the future and does not take extreme market conditions 

Foreign exchange rates

The mid rates of exchange against Rand used for conversion purposes were:

2013 2012

US Dollar 9,2869

Pound Sterling 14,0993 12,1917 
Japanese Yen 10,1262 10,7319 
Euro 11,9601

Australian Dollar 9,7094 8,0338 

Interest rate risk

 
as follows:

Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

(63 314) Fixed rate liabilities (63 316)

(10 475) Floating rate liabilities (10 475)

(59 070)* (73 789)*       (73 791)* (59 072)* 

* These values exclude the repo liability of R115 million (2012: R3 million), which have a maturity term of one week. 

 

fixed rand interest rate risk exposure by means of cross currency interest rate swaps and is included above under 
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Sensitivity analysis

2014 2013

Impact

Shift
+100bp

R million

Shift
-200bp

R million

Shift
+250bp

R million

Shift
-500bp

R million

Shift
+500bp

R million

Shift

+100bp

R million

Shift

-200bp

R million

Shift

+250bp

R million

Shift

-500bp

R million

Shift

+500bp

R million

Finance 
cost 
impact 
(increase) 
(Company 
and Group) (258) 273 (523) 803 (966) (210) (700)

The impact on profit and loss of higher foreign interest rates on the Group and Company is insignificant, as all 

2013
Level 1

R million
Level 2

R million
Level 3

R million
Total

R million

Financial assets at FVTPL* 

Derivative financial assets (Group and Company)  –          3 855  –          3 855

Financial liabilities at FVTPL*

Derivative financial liabilities (Group and Company)  –            85  –          85

2012
Financial assets at FVTPL* 

Derivative financial assets (Group and Company)  – 502  – 502
Financial liabilities at FVTPL*

Derivative financial liabilities (Group and Company)  –  – 

* FVTPL – Fair value through profit and loss.
Note: There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the period under review.
   There were no Level 3 fair value movements to disclose at 31 March 2013 as all fair value calculations are done by using market  

observable data.
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Other price risk

and as such the sensitivity for this investment has been included in the foreign currency risk net position and  

Commodity price risk (fuel)

$

31 March 2013 Performance to budget

$/R7,91 $/R8,50 $/R9,29 $/R9,80 $/R10,66

Brent @ $89 263 187 85 19 (93)

Brent @ $95 188 106 (3) (74) (194)

Brent @ $108 41 (51) (175) (255) (391)

Brent @ $115 (43) (142) (274) (360) (505)

Brent @ $127 (180) (289) (434) (529) (689)

The table below shows the cash flow at risk scenarios against the approved budget for the 2013 financial year at 
$

31 March 2012 Performance to budget

$ $ $ $ $

Brent @ $ 213
Brent @ $ 191 107 (200) (590)
Brent @ $ 12
Brent @ $ (107) (1 118)
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Analysis, classification and fair values of financial instruments

Categories of financial instruments

Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

Financial assets

9 960

Loans and receivables (including bank and cash, trade and other 
receivables) 10 305 8 359
Fair value through profit and loss

502 3 855 3 855 502
Financial liabilities

84 060

Liabilities measured at amortised cost (including trade and 
other payables) 84 097

Fair value through profit and loss

85 85

88 Finance lease liabilities 88

Except as detailed in the following table, the Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values:

Company Group

2012 2013 2013 2012

Fair 

value

R million

Carrying

 value

R million

Fair 
value

R million

Carrying
 value

R million

Fair 
value

R million

Carrying 
value

R million

Fair 

value

R million

Carrying 

value

R million

81 743 72 998 Borrowings 81 745 73 000 55 951
155 126 88 Finance lease obligations 126 88 155
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The net gains and losses on financial instruments are detailed below:

Company

Net (loss)/
gain

R million

2013

Liabilities measured at amortised cost*** (6 403)

385

98

2012
Liabilities measured at amortised cost*** (5 889)

27

Group

Net (loss)/
gain

R million

2013

Liabilities measured at amortised cost***            (6 403)

                 405

98

2012
Liabilities measured at amortised cost*** (5 889)

27

*  The net gain/(loss) on Company and Group financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading is R98 million (2012: R27 million). These are 
held for hedging purposes.

***  The net loss on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost consist mainly of interest expense after offsetting against effective cash  
flow hedges.
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Transnet’s credit rating

The following rating actions have been taken by the two rating agencies of Transnet during the 2013  

Standard and Poor’s

The SACP (standalone credit profile) for Transnet remained unchanged at BBB+ reflecting a strong business risk 

Moody’s Investors Service
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Property, plant and equipment reconciliation 

 Aircraft  
 R million 

 Floating
 craft 

 R million 

 Land, 
buildings 

  and 
structures 

 R million 

 Machinery, 
 equipment 

and 
 furniture 
 R million 

Company  and Group 
Balance at the beginning of the year 

Historical cost and revaluation   153  2 127  18 746  6 683 
Accumulated depreciation  (89)  (387)  (3 556)  (3 414)
Accumulated impairment  –    –    (159)  (177)
Opening net carrying value at 1 April   64  1 740  15 031  3 092 
Current year movements 

Replacements   7   7   147   44 
Expansions  –    –    1 875   17 
Acquisition through lease  –    –    –     18 
Decommissioning restoration liability  –    –    –    –   
Disposals  –    –    (5)  (7)
Depreciation  (23)  (108)  (749)  (513)
Derecognition  –    –    (2)  (2)
Revaluation  –   –   9  –   
Impairment – historical cost and revaluation  –    (1)  (10)   14 
Transferred to intangibles assets  –    –    –    (29)
Transfers (to)/from non-current assets classified as  
held-for-sale  –    –    –    (3)
Transfer from/(to) investment property  –    –     96  –   
Foreign exchange adjustment  –    –     8  –   
Borrowing costs capitalised  –    –     6   4 
Release of firm commitment  –    –    –    –   
Transfer to inventories  –    –    –    –   
Transfer from capital work-in-progress to assets  –     7  1 516   616 

 (16)  (95)  2 891   159 
Closing carrying value   48  1 645  17 922  3 251 
Made up as follows: 
Historical cost and revaluation   157  2 131  22 392  7 199 

Accumulated depreciation  (109)  (485)  (4 308)  (3 784)

Accumulated impairment  –    (1)  (162)  (164)

Closing carrying value at 31 March   48  1 645  17 922  3 251 

Annexure B 
for the year ended 31 March 2013
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 Permanent 
 way and

 works 
 R million 

 Pipeline 
 networks 
 R million 

 Port 
 facilities 
 R million 

 Rolling
 stock and 

containers 
 R million 

 Vehicles 
 R million 

 Capital
 work in 

 progress 
 R million 

31 March
2013 Total 

 R million 

31 March
2012
Total

 R million 

 23 075  27 846  77 169  48 136   815  13 096  217 846  192 220 
 (4 386)  (9 328)  (23 101)  (15 035)  (499)  –    (59 795)  (52 961)

 (246)  (204)  (607)  (477)  (1)  (227)  (2 098)  (1 423)
 18 443  18 314  53 461  32 624   315  12 869  155 953  137 836 

  179  –     11   204   20  15 601  16 220  10 314 
 –    –     326  –     20  8 995  11 233  11 585 
 –    –    –    –    –    –     18   17 
 –    –    –    –    –    –    –     343 
 –    –    (1)    (37)  –    –    (50)  (51)

 (723)  (515)  (1 837)  (4 010)  (59)  –    (8 537)  (7 533)
 (50)  –    –    (494)  –    –    (548)  (622)

 –     423  1 325  –    –    –    1 757  2 967 
 (4)  (48)   7  (32)  (5)   12  (67)  (150)

 –    –    –    –    –    (34)  (63)  (219)

 –    –    (3)  (32)  –    –    (38)   57 
 –    –    –    –    –    –     96  (92)
 –    –    –    –    –    –     8  –   

  1  –     1   733   2   306  1 053  1 644 
 –    –    –    –    –    (114)  (114)  (53)
 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    (90)

 1 971   96  2 903  10 840   149  (18 098)  –    –   
 1 374  (44)  2 732  7 172   127  6 668  20 968  18 117 

 19 817  18 270  56 193  39 796   442  19 537  176 921  155 953 

 25 166  28 782  82 110  57 857   988  19 755  246 537  217 847 

 (5 099)  (10 266)  (25 319)  (17 568)  (540)  –    (67 478)  (59 796)

 (250)  (246)  (598)  (493)  (6)  (218)  (2 138)  (2 098)

 19 817  18 270  56 193  39 796   442  19 537  176 921  155 953 
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Annexure C 
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Disposal groups classified as held-for-sale

Company Group

Notes

Total

R million

Total

R million

Assets classified as held-for-sale

Property, plant and equipment a   158   158 
Investment properties b   3   3 
Other investments c   114   114 
Total   275   275 
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held-for-sale

Provisions d – –
Total – –
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Notes to disposal groups classified as held-for-sale

Company Group

2012

R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

2012

R million

a. Property, plant and equipment
  132   126 Net carrying value at the beginning of the year   126   132 

 (15)  (6) Disposals  (6)  (15)
  66  –   Impairment  –     66 

 (57)   38 
Transferred from/(to) continuing operations  
(refer annexure B)   38  (57)

  126   158   158   126 

b. Investment properties
  17 6 Fair value at the beginning of the year 6 17
 (87)  (3) Disposals  (3)  (87)
  76 – Transferred from continuing operations – 76

  6   3   3   6 

c. Other investments
– – Balance at the beginning of the year 99 142
– 99 Transfer in on liquidation of subsidiary – –
– 15 Fair value movement during the year 15  (43)
– 114 114   99 

d. Provisions 
2   – Total provisions at the beginning of the year   –   2 

 (2) – Provisions released/utilised –  (2)
  – – –   – 
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Subsidiaries

Shares 

issued Effective holding

Voting 

power held

 2013  2012  2013 
 Million  %  %  % 

Local subsidiaries

Transport logistics

KN Viamax Logistics (Pty) Ltd †   100   100   100 

HSA Management Systems (Pty) Ltd *  –     100  –   

Viamax Logistics (Pty) Ltd *  –     100  –   

Viaren (Pty) Ltd †   100   100   100 

Marine Data Systems (Pty) Ltd *  –     80  –   

Property holdings

Transhold Properties (Pty) Ltd #   100   100   100 

Point Waterfront (Pty) Ltd *  –     51  –   

Proptrade (Pty) Ltd #   100   100   100 

IT Procurement

B2B Africa Holdings (Pty) Ltd *  –     100  –   

Rolling stock and traction

Transwerk Foundries (Pty) Ltd ®  –     100  –   

Insurance captive cells

Spoornet Guard Risk   100   100   100 

Social responsibility

Transnet Foundation Trust ‡   100   100   100 

Investment holdings

Newshelf 697 (Pty) Ltd *  –     100  –   

Foreign subsidiaries

Transport logistics

African Joint Air Services Ltd (Uganda) **   57   57   57 

Freight Logistics International (British Virgin Islands) ®     –     100  –   

Spoornet do Brasil Ltda (Brazil)   100   100   100 

*    Deregistered.
®    Liquidated.
#   Dormant and in the process of deregistration.
 †   In liquidation.
 ‡   In dissolution.
**  Dormant
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Shares at cost

Interest of holding  company 

net profit/(loss)

Interest of holding 

 company 

indebtedness 

Accumulated impairment 

 and losses

 2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012 

 R million  R million  R million  R million  R million  R million  R million  R million 

 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
 –     16  –    –    –    –    –     16 
 –     1  –    –    –    –    –     1 
 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

  3   3   14   6  –    –    –    –   

 –    –   –    –    –    –    –    –   

 –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

 –    –     –  (2)   389   386   389   386 
 –     23  –     13  –    –    –     23 

  205   219  –    –    –    –    –    –   
  208   262   14   17   389   386   389   426 
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 Associates and joint ventures ^

Effective holding  Shares at cost

 2013  2012  2013  2012 

Principal activity  %  %  R million  R million 

Associates

Commercial Cold Storage (Ports)  
(Pty) Ltd Storage and bondage   30   30 – –
Comazar (Pty) Ltd # Transport logistics   32   32   13   13 
Mossel Bay Waterfront Development 
(Pty) Ltd #

Property development 
and management   15   15   2   2 

Cape Town Bulk Storage (Pty) Ltd * Port operations  –     50   –   1 
Experience Delivery Company (Pty) Ltd Managing agent   11   11 – –
RainProp (Pty) Ltd Property development 

and management   20   20   3   3 
Joint ventures

Gaborone Container Terminal Container terminal 36   36   6   6 
     24   25 

^   Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa, unless stated otherwise.
*   Sold during the year.
#  Dormant.

Summarised financial information of significant associates

Commercial

 Cold Storage 

(Ports) 

(Pty) Ltd

Gaborone

Container

Terminal

RainProp

 (Pty) Ltd

2013
R million

2013
R million

2013
R million

Financial position

Total assets   52   55   964 

Total liabilities   12   2   621 

Results of operations

Revenue   32   22   158 

Net profit   1   6   34 
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 Interest of holding  

 company

indebtedness

Accumulated 

impairment 

and losses

Share of post- 

 acquisition 

 reserves Total

 2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012 

 R million  R million  R million  R million  R million  R million  R million  R million 

  1   1 – –   10   11   11   12 
  8   8   21   21 – – – –

– –   2   2 – – – –
  –   2   –    1 –  (2) – –

– – – – – – – –

– – – –   55   51   58   54 

– – – – 18 –   24   6 
  9   11   23   24   83   60   93   72 
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Annexure E
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Disclosure of irregular expenditure, fruitless and wasteful expenditure and losses through 
criminal conduct 
The following information relates to both Company and Group.
Irregular expenditure*

Details of irregular expenditure 

Incident Disciplinary steps taken/(criminal proceedings)

2013
R million

Contract costs exceeded 3/(0) 50,3
Procurement procedures not adhered to 3/(0) 121,9
Delegation of authority contravened 12/(0) 58,6

230,8
Details of irregular expenditure condoned
Incident Condoned by (condoning authority) R million
Procurement procedures not adhered to Group Chief Executive 0,9
Delegation of authority contravened Group Chief Executive 1,0

1,9
Details of irregular expenditure recoverable (not condoned)
Incident R million

0,0
0,0

Details of irregular expenditure not recoverable (not condoned)
Incident R million
Contract costs exceeded 50,3
Procurement procedures not adhered to 121,0
Delegation of authority contravened 57,6

228,9

2013 2012
R million R million

Opening balance 0,0 0,0
Add: Irregular expenditure – current year 230,8 195,5
Less: Amounts condoned 1,9 46,0

228,9 149,5
Less: Amounts recoverable (not condoned) 0,0 0,0
Less: Amounts not recoverable (not condoned) 228,9 149,5
Irregular expenditure awaiting condonation 0,0 0,0
Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification 0,0 0,0
Current year 0,0 0,0
Prior year 0,0 0,0

2013 2012
R million R million

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 19,7 89,6
Less: Amounts recovered (2,2) –

17,5 89,6

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure*

Details of fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Incident Disciplinary steps taken/(criminal proceedings)

2013
R million

Mainly relates to penalties and interest for late 
payments 14/(2) 17,5

2013 2012
R million R million

Losses through criminal conduct  37,5 76,9

Losses through criminal conduct*

Details of losses through criminal conduct 

Incident Disciplinary steps taken/(criminal proceedings)

2013
R million

Mainly relates to cable and equipment theft 18/(340) 37,5

*   The Shareholder Minister has determined the materiality limit for reporting in terms of section 55(2)(b)(i), (ii), and (iii) of the PFMA at  
R25 million. Refer to the Report of the Directors for reporting in terms of the materiality framework.
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Annexure F
for the year ended 31 March 2013

New financial reporting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

The following new or revised international financial reporting standards, amendments and interpretations of 
those standards which are applicable to the Group are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2013 and 
were not applied in preparing these financial statements:   

Standard or 

interpretation Detail Effective date

IAS 1  
(amendment)

Presentation of Financial Statements

Presentation of other comprehensive income
The amendments require items of other comprehensive income, and 
the related tax effect, to be grouped into those that will subsequently 
be reclassified to profit or loss and those that will not. 

The amendments will be applied retrospectively and will not have a 
material impact on the Group’s financial statements.  

Annual periods beginning on or 
after  1 July 2012.

IAS 19 

(revised)
Employee Benefits

The amendments require all actuarial gains or losses to be recognised 
immediately in other comprehensive income while all past-service 
cost, whether vested or not, are recognised in full in profit or loss in 
the period of the plan amendment.

Interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and the expected 
return on plan assets are both replaced with a net interest cost 
based on the net defined benefit asset or liability at a discount rate 
determined at the beginning of the year.

In addition, benefits may only be classified as short term employee 
benefits if they are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service.

The revised standard will be applied retrospectively and is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

Annual periods beginning on or 
after  1 January 2013.

IAS 27  

(revised)
Separate Financial Statements

The amended standard now only deals with the requirements for 
separate financial statements. The Standard requires that when 
an entity prepares separate financial statements, investments in 
subsidiaries, associates, and jointly controlled entities are accounted 
for either at cost, or in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

The revised standard will be applied retrospectively and is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

Annual periods beginning on or 
after  1 January 2013.

IAS 28  
(revised)

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes IAS 28 Investments in Associates and 
applies to all entities that are investors with joint control of, or 
significant influence over, an investee (associate or joint venture). 
The revised standard sets out the requirements for the application of 
the equity method when accounting for investments in associates and 
joint ventures. It also prescribes how investments in associates and 
joint ventures should be tested for impairment.

The revised standard will be applied retrospectively and is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.
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Annexure F (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2013

Standard or 

interpretation Detail Effective date

IFRS 11  
(new)

Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11 establishes revised principles for financial reporting by 
parties to a joint arrangement.  The IFRS supersedes IAS 31 Interests 
in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

The new standard reduces the types of joint arrangements to two; 
namely joint operations and joint ventures. The policy choice in IAS 
31 of proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities has 
been eliminated. Equity accounting is mandatory for participants in 
joint ventures. Entities that participate in joint operations will apply 
accounting similar to that for joint assets or joint operations under 
the old IAS 31.

The new standard will be applied retrospectively and earlier 
application is permitted. The standard is not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group’s financial statements.  

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.

IFRS 12  
(new)

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

The IFRS sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting 
under the two new standards; IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. It also replaces the 
disclosure requirements currently found in IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

The new standard will be applied retrospectively and is not expected 
to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.

IFRS 13  
(new)

Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 aims to provide clearer and more consistent guidance 
on measuring fair value and enhance fair value disclosures. The 
requirements do not extend the use of fair value accounting, but 
provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already 
required or permitted by other standards within IFRS.

The new standard will be applied prospectively and earlier application 
is permitted. The standard is not expected to have a material impact 
on the Group’s financial statements

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.

The financial reporting standards, amendments or interpretations listed below are currently not applicable to the Group and will 
have no impact on the Group’s financial statements: 

Standard or 

interpretation Detail Effective date

IFRIC 20

(new)
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

IFRIC 20 addresses the recognition of production stripping costs as 
an asset, the initial measurement of stripping activity asset at cost 
and the subsequent measurement of the stripping activity asset.

1 January 2013.
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Standard or 

interpretation Detail Effective date

IAS 32  
(amendment)

Financial Instruments: Presentation

The standard has been amended to clarify certain aspects relating to 
four main areas related to the offsetting of amounts in the financial 
statements:

 
set-off’;

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2014.

IFRS 9  
(new)

Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets to be measured either 
at amortised cost or fair value depending on the business model 
under which they are held and the cash flow characteristics of the 
instrument. Debt instruments held with the principal objective to 
collect contractual cash flows (principal and interest) are generally 
measured at amortised cost while all other debt instruments and all 
equity instruments are measured at fair value. 

Derivatives embedded in host contracts that are financial assets are 
no longer required to be bifurcated if they are not closely related 
to the host contract. Instead, the entire contract is assessed for 
measurement either at amortised cost or at fair value depending on 
the business model and cash flow characteristics as stated above. 
Derivatives embedded in contracts that are not financial assets, 
including financial liabilities still need to be assessed to determine 
whether they should be accounted for separately.

The new standard removes the cost exemption for unquoted equity 
instruments and contains additional disclosure requirements for 
financial liabilities as well as derecognition of financial instruments.

The standard will be applied retrospectively subject to the standard’s 
transitional provisions. The impact on the Group’s financial 
statements has not yet been estimated.

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2015.

IFRS 10 
(new)

Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 establishes revised principles for the presentation and 
preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity 
controls one or more other entities. The IFRS supersedes IAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 

IFRS 10 changes the definition of control and eliminates the risk and 
rewards approach previously included in SIC-12. The existing IAS 27 
is renamed IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements, and now deals 
solely with separate financial statements. The existing guidance for 
separate financial statements is unchanged.

The new standard will be applied retrospectively and is not expected 
to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.
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Corporate governance
for the year ended 31 March 2013

Corporate governance
An extract from King III, which puts into perspective the link between governance principles and law, is important 
to take note of:

“As far as the body of legislation that applies to a company is concerned, corporate governance mainly  
involves the establishment of structures and processes, with appropriate checks and balances that enable 
directors to discharge their legal responsibilities, and oversee compliance with legislation. In addition to 
compliance with legislation, the criteria of good governance, governance codes and guidelines will be relevant to 
determine what is regarded as an appropriate standard of conduct for directors. The more established certain 
governance practices become, the more likely a court would regard conduct that conforms with these practices 
as meeting the required standard of care. Corporate governance practices, codes and guidelines therefore 
lift the bar of what are regarded as appropriate standards of conduct. Consequently, any failure to meet a 
recognised standard of governance, albeit not legislated, may render a board or individual director liable at law”.

Sound corporate governance principles define and direct the responsibilities of the Board, the Group  
Executive Committee, prescribed officers, managers and other internal stakeholders. Through effective corporate 
governance, the Company sets objectives, develops plans for achieving them and establishes procedures for 
monitoring performance. Transnet’s Policy Framework specifies ethical practices and provides for the protection 
of stakeholder interests. Effective corporate governance requires ongoing commitment from all stakeholders. 
Accordingly, the Company attempts to apply the letter and spirit of sound corporate governance to all corporate 
decisions by actively driving a sustained governance culture throughout the Company through associated norms 
and standards. This culture is informed by an understanding that governance, strategy, performance, compliance, 
risk and sustainability are intrinsically linked.

Introduction
The Board acts as the focal point for and custodian of corporate governance. The PFMA, the Companies 
Act, 2008 and the Legal Succession to the South African Transport Services Act are priority legislation for  
Transnet.

During the year, the Company demonstrated its continued commitment to the letter and spirit of good corporate 
governance as outlined in King III and the Companies Act.

The PFMA requires that the Board acts with fidelity, honesty, integrity and in the best interests of the Company 
in managing its financial affairs.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that appropriate and effective internal control systems are maintained 
to ensure that the Company’s assets are safeguarded and managed, and losses arising from fraud and/or other 
illegal acts are minimised. Control systems are continually monitored and improved in accordance with generally 
accepted best practice.

The Company continues to strive towards a governance maturity level that will position Transnet as a leader in 
corporate governance.

Transnet Internal Audit (TIA) conducted a Corporate Governance review in 2013. The scope of work involved 
testing the controls supporting the governance control objectives. TIA performed an assessment of the Group 
governance structures against the Transnet Governance Framework to ensure that the role and decision making 
powers of the Board/Committees is in line with the requirements of King III, PFMA, 1999 and Companies Act, 
2008 with a specific focus on the applicable governance provisions.
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The audit report indicated that the processes and controls around the administration of governance activities are 
consistently applied and well understood by the Board. The audit results indicate that sufficient reliance can be 
placed on the operation of internal controls to mitigate and manage those risks to which governance is exposed. 
The report was rated “satisfactory” due to a total of two controls requiring improvement which do not pose a high 
risk to the governance activities of Transnet. A total of 119 controls were tested during the review. 

Refer to the  Report of the Directors on pages 26 to 30 for specific statutory requirements impacting the 
governance environment of Transnet.

During December 2010, TIA developed a Governance Control Framework (GCF), which was aligned to specific 
requirements of King III, the Companies Act and the PFMA. The GCF creates the minimum standard of corporate 
governance controls that are to be embedded across Transnet. It is acknowledged that the GCF will mature with 
the changing environment coupled with new and amended legislation.

Following the commencement of the Companies Act, 2008 on 1 May 2011, Group Compliance undertook a further 
review of the GCF. The objective of this review was to assess the adequacy (by design) of the existing controls 
within the GCF, which will ensure compliance to the Companies Act and the PFMA. There were gaps identified, and 
the GCF is presently being further enhanced in relation to the gaps identified.

The GCF continues to ensure that Transnet meets its regulatory requirements and that business decisions are 
taken within acceptable governance practices. A continued focus remains on ensuring that the GCF and adherence 
to governance legislation is reviewed on a continual basis.

The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the Group adheres to sound corporate governance principles. 
The Board is accountable to the Shareholder while also considering the interests of other stakeholders such as 
customers, employees, suppliers and regulators. 

Compliance
Transnet has an established formal Compliance Function. As is the case with all Company policies, the Group 
Compliance Policy is reviewed every two years and updated when necessary. This Policy forms the foundation  
of the Transnet Compliance Framework.

The Company considers non-compliance with legislative requirements as a key risk, as it not only exposes 
Transnet to fines and civil claims, but can also result in loss of operational authorisations and reputational harm.

Section 51(1)(h) of the PFMA requires the Board to ensure that Transnet and all its personnel comply with  
the provisions of the PFMA and any other legislation that is applicable to the Company. The compliance  
function therefore facilitates the identification, assessment and monitors critical controls associated with 
regulatory requirements, statutory licences, codes and standards applicable to the Company. Compliance 
issues are reviewed both centrally at the Group’s Corporate Centre as well as within the Operating Divisions  
and Specialist Units.

The Audit Committee is charged with overseeing the Company’s Compliance Plan. With the approval of the 
MDS the Compliance Plan has been aligned to the MDS objectives to ensure that compliance requirements are 
appropriately addressed.

The Company has enhanced the monitoring of PFMA violations and is in the process of implementing more 
stringent consequence management to minimise financial misconduct going forward. In addition, the Company 
has implemented a PFMA awareness and accreditation process to improve compliance to the requirements of the 
PFMA, encourage employees to apply the delegation of authority entrusted to them in a responsible manner and 
improve compliance with the procurement processes to strive towards zero PFMA reportable violations.



Corporate governance (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2013

152 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

2014 Compliance Plan
Transnet internal audit reports, 2014 draft plan, resources and Group risks were considerations in developing the 
2014 compliance plan. 

The Operating divisions, Specialist Units and Corporate Centre functions are substantially aligned to their 
priority regulatory requirements. Where there are inconsistencies the aforementioned executive committees 
have made ad-hoc requests based on business requirements. 

Some of the key focus areas include corporate governance, licence conditions, employment requirements, 
contracting, competition and procurement. 

Key Focus Areas

Capital planning, execution, finance and funding

The tender process is key to delivering on the capital expenditure pillar of the MDS. Within the tender process 
there are a number of legislative requirements embedded within this process, which include Construction Industry 
development Board Act, 2000 (“CIDB”) and Public Finance Management Act, 2001 (PFMA). 

Within CIDB, Group Compliance shall focus monitoring on ensuring that all construction related tenders are 
carried out meeting the minimum legislative requirements. 

Within PFMA, Group Compliance shall focus monitoring on the requirements pertaining to having an effective 
financial control environment. 

Volumes and customer satisfaction

Following the licensing of port operators by the Authority, the Authority needs to ensure that it has implemented 
controls to manage this process. The licence conditions require port operators to perform a number of activities. 
In this regard, the monitoring will focus both on the Authorities management of the activities required by port 
operators and on whether Transnet Port Terminals and other port operators are complying with their licence 
conditions. 

Operational efficiency and productivity

There are a number of legislative requirements embedded within the tender process, which include Promotion  
of Administrative Justice Act, No. 3 of 2000 (PAJA); and Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act,  
No. 5 of 2000 (PPPFA) and B-BBEE Act, No. 53 of 2003 (B-BBEE). 

Within PAJA, Group Compliance shall focus monitoring on ensuring that procurement decisions made during the 
open bid process are lawful, reasonable and procedurally fair.

Within PPPFA, the focus of monitoring will be on ensuring that all tenders awarded have a valid tax clearance 
certificate and localisation; designated sectors and preference point system. The monitoring of the latter 
requirements are dependent on any further exemptions that may be granted. 

Within B-BBEE, the focus will be monitoring on ensuring that the tender process provides sufficient controls to 
embed supplier development aspects.

Regulator and key stakeholder engagement

Within the operational environment the utilisation of hand-held radios is regulated by ICASA. The legislation 
impacting this process includes the Electronic Communications and Transactions Act No. 25 of 2002. In this 
regard the monitoring will focus upon whether the radio utilisation is within the correct band-width and that 
licence conditions have been met.



C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 g
o

ve
rn

a
n

ce

153

Code of Ethics
The Company promotes a culture of principled and ethical behaviour in all aspects of the business. Values are 
entrenched through an approved and published Code of Ethics (Code) which guides employee behaviour in all 
internal and external stakeholder relations. The Code aims to instill a culture of honesty, respect, and integrity 
and overall ethical behaviour in Company representatives engaging with external parties. The Code is reviewed 
every two years, or as and when necessary, and commits the executive directors and employees to the highest 
standards of ethical behaviour. All Company employment contracts make reference to this Code. Transnet’s 
service providers, suppliers and trade partners are also subjected to the Code. The Company is in the process 
of extending the applicability of the Code of Ethics to the independent non-executive directors.

The Code was reviewed in January 2012 for appropriateness and further aligned to the Transnet  
Culture Charter.

Fraud Risk Management Plan
Transnet manages fraud and corruption risk exposure through its Fraud Risk Management Plan (FRMP) as 
required by Regulation 29.1.1 of the Treasury Regulations prescribed under the PFMA. The FRMP has been 
effective since 2009. The FRMP is approved by the Audit Committee on an annual basis.

Transnet places a strong emphasis on an effective anti-fraud programme, which identifies fraud and corruption 
risk exposures and enhances controls, processes and procedures to reduce opportunities for employees and third 
parties to commit fraud.

Fraud Risk Management Plan 2014

The FRMP provides mechanisms for the prevention, early detection and investigation of irregularities. It further 
provides corrective measures to address control breakdowns and to identify root causes of fraud and other 
statutory common law crimes.

With the introduction of the MDS in 2012, there was an inherent requirement to realign the FRMP to the new 
business strategy to ensure that any emerging potential fraud or corruption risk exposure, resulting from the 
execution of the MDS, would be adequately mitigated. Procurement, human capital and information security are 
the key focus areas.

The continuous enhancement of the FRMP in accordance with the Company’s strategic direction ensures that 
good corporate governance is upheld, employees are kept informed, and effective mechanisms are in place to 
prevent, detect and report instances of fraud, corruption and other economic crimes. The MDS places strong 
emphasis on the areas of procurement, human capital, and information security. The importance attributed to 
these areas within the MDS, together with the evolving nature of fraud, corruption and other economic crimes, 
requires that the FRMP be robust in addressing fraud, corruption and cybercrime.

Going into 2014, the focus of the FRMP is on the implementation of Integrity Pacts and the execution of Anti- 
Corruption Compliance Programme. 

Integrity Pacts 

In the MDS, capital planning and execution, and volumes and customer satisfaction, have been identified as high 
fraud and/or corruption risk areas due to the procurement and conclusion of long term contracts associated with 
these activities. In order to address these potential risks, Transnet Group Forensics compiled Integrity Pacts 
during 2013 which will be entered into between Transnet and any bidder or supplier looking to do business with 
Transnet. On signing, both Transnet and the bidder or supplier agree to avoid all forms of dishonesty, fraud and 
corruption including practices that are anti-competitive in nature, negotiations made in bad faith and under-
pricing by following a system that is fair, transparent and free from any influence/unprejudiced dealings prior to, 
during and subsequent to the currency of the contract to be entered into. The aim is to:
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defined specifications of the works, goods and services; and
 

a contract.

The Integrity Pacts will be rolled out during the 2014 financial year. 

Anti-Corruption Compliance Programme  

Embedding a zero tolerance mindset towards corruption is critical to the execution of the MDS. Ongoing reviews 
of critical processes are undertaken, through which fraud and corruption risks are identified and controls 
implemented. The first phase of the program, being the execution of Corruption Risk Assessments, was finalised 
during the 2013 year. The results of these assessments will form the basis for the development and roll out of 
the remainder of the programme (which includes; the development of the Anti-Corruption Policy, Ethics Climate 
Assessment, Anti-Corruption Awareness Education) across Transnet in 2014.

Ongoing awareness of the Tip-Offs Anonymous Hotline forms an integral part of Transnet’s anti-fraud and anti-
corruption efforts. The hotline is managed by Transnet Internal Audit and all reported cases are investigated 
through an established forensic investigation process.

Tip-Offs Anonymous hotline statistics

Details

1 April 2012 
to 31 March 

2013

1 April 2011 
to 31 March 

2012

Total allegations 864 1 023
Founded 157 159
Unfounded 471 398
Total in progress 236 466

Total disciplinaries 119 166
Finalised 89 91
No person implicated 45 27
Demoted – 1
Dismissed 14 6
Final warning 20 46
Resigned 6 7
Verbal warning 4 4
In progress 25 69
Total criminal/civil 5 6

The reason for the decrease in allegations can be attributed to the rollout of fraud awareness industrial theatre 
shows which were attended by more than 10 000 Transnet employees. This rollout resulted in improved 
awareness of the Tipoffs Anonymous process by Transnet employees, especially in light of the reduction in non-
fraud  related allegations reported through the hotline.

The decrease in the number of ‘in progress’ allegations is a result of the increase in insourced investigation 
capacity in Operating divisions and Specialised Units.
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Conflicts of interests
The Companies Act codifies the fiduciary duties of directors. It prescribes the use of position and the approach 
to privileges, and guards against the use of confidential information to further personal gain or to improperly 
benefit another person.

The Declaration of Interests and Related Party Disclosure Policy for Employees, initially approved by the Group 
Executive Committee on 23 September 2009, was amended in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act in June 2012. 

The Board also has a similar Policy. Both Policies were approved by the Board in June 2012.

The Declaration of Interests and Related Party Disclosure Policy applies to all directors and employees. Directors 
are required to declare their personal financial interests, and those of related persons, annually, in terms of the 
Companies Act and the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation. Based on these declarations, no directors 
had a material interest in any transaction with the Group during the financial period, (other than the interests 
disclosed in the Group annual financial statements considered as being at arm’s length).

In instances where an independent non-executive director has any direct or indirect personal or private business 
interest, he/she must be recused from the proceedings when the matter is considered by the Board or any of its 
Committees, unless the Board or any of its Committees determines that a member’s interest in the matter is 
trivial or irrelevant.

Formal registers for ‘Declarations of Interest’ and ‘Related Party Disclosures’ by the Board, its Committees  
and the Group Executive Committee and its Committees are maintained by the Group Company Secretary.

On an annual basis prior to the commencement of the financial year, the Company requires the Board and 
Management to declare all conflicts of interest. The annual declaration of interests register for the Board and 
the Group Executive Committee are noted within the respective governance structures at the beginning of the 
financial year or as and when a revised declaration of interest is submitted to the Group Company Secretary for 
record keeping purposes. In addition, the Company requires all employees to sign confidentiality and ‘declaration 
of interest’ forms when adjudicating on procurement contracts.

Group Company Secretariat function
The Group Company Secretary is responsible for developing systems and processes to enable the Board to 
discharge its functions efficiently and effectively. The Group Company Secretary prepares annual work plans for 
the Board and its Committees in conjunction with the Chairperson of the respective Committees. These annual 
work plans are approved by the respective governance structures for implementation. The Group Company 
Secretary advises the Board on corporate governance issues, the requirements of the Companies Act and other 
relevant legislation. The Board has access to the services and advice of the Group Company Secretary.

In addition to various statutory functions, the Group Company Secretary provides individual non-executive 
directors and the Board with guidance on duties, responsibilities and powers, and the impact of regulatory 
developments. In consultation with the Chairperson, the Group Company Secretary ensures that the contents 
of the agenda are relevant to Board decision-making and the Board resolutions are communicated throughout 
the Company timeously and appropriately. The Group Company Secretary acts as the primary point of contact 
between the Board and the Company.

The Group Company Secretary is qualified to perform the duties in accordance with the applicable legislation  
and is considered by the Board to be fit and proper for the position.

The Group Company Secretary fulfils no executive management function and is not a director. Therefore, the 
Board is satisfied that the Group Company Secretary maintained an arm’s length relationship with the executive 
team, the Board and the independent non-executive directors.
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Board of Directors 

Governance structure

Corporate 
Governance and 
Nominations 
Committee

Audit  
Committee

Remuneration, 
Social and 
Ethics 
Committee

Board Risk  
Committee

Board  
Acquisitions 
and Disposals  
Committee

Transnet Board of Directors

Group Executive Committee

Divisional Executive Committee

Policy and 
Regulation 
Committee

Finance
Committee

Capital
Investment
Committee

NMPP 
Governance 
Steering 
Committee

Risk
Management
Committee

Human
Resources
Committee

Business 
Information 
Management 
Committee

Delegation of Authority Framework

Group Broad 
Based Black 
Economic 
Empowerment 
Forum

The Board’s primary mandate is to ensure the sustainable and successful continuation of business activities  
by providing strategic direction to Transnet. Non-executive directors are appointed to the Board by the 
Shareholder Representative, on a three-year term. The appointments are confirmed annually at the annual 
general meeting. The Chairperson of the Board engages continuously with the Shareholder Representative, 
who is the final arbiter on Board succession plans and approves transaction applications in accordance with the 
provisions of section 54 of the PFMA.

King III imposes specific responsibilities on the Board. The non-executive directors embrace these and 
acknowledge that the Board is primarily responsible for ensuring that the Group’s strategy, risk compliance, 
performance and sustainability are inseparable. The Board provides effective leadership based on an ethical 
foundation of responsibility, accountability, fairness and transparency.
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Board composition

The Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation provides that there shall not be less than 10 and not more than 
14 directors, of whom not less than eight shall be non-executive directors and two executive directors. As at  
31 March 2013, the Board comprised 14 directors of whom the majority (12), are independent and non-executive, 
including the Chairperson.

The independent non-executive directors have diverse skills, experience and backgrounds. They are principally 
free from any business relationship that could hamper their objectivity or judgement in terms of the business 
and activities of the Company. All the independent non-executive directors have unrestricted access to 
information, documents, records and property of the Company in the interest of fulfilling their responsibilities 
as independent non-executive directors. The independent non-executive directors contribute a variety of 
skills, business acumen, independent judgement and experience on various issues, including strategy, corporate 
governance, performance and general leadership, whilst the executive directors provide an operational 
understanding of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors have direct, unfettered access to the Company’s employees, external 
auditors, professional advisors and internal auditors.
The Chairperson and the Group Chief Executive’s roles and responsibilities are separate. The Chairperson,  
Mr Mkwanazi, is an independent non-executive director.
The Company is of the view that the potential political connections or exposures of the independent non-
executive directors is minimal due to the activities of the Board, its range of governance instruments  
and the execution of the fiduciary duties of the independent non-executive directors. The independent non-
executive directors act in the best interest of the Company at all times.
Mr A Singh, who had been in an acting position, was confirmed as the Group Chief Financial Officer on 1 July 2012.
Ms NP Mnxasana was appointed as an independent non-executive director to the Board and to the Audit 
Committee on 31 January 2013.

The following independent non-executive directors retired from the Board with effect from 6 July 2012:
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Governance Developments during 2013

Audit Committee The Committee mandate was amended to reflect changes in responsibilities in terms of King III 
and the Companies Act, particularly in relation to information technology (IT) failure on the 
Group’s financial reporting.

Board appointment Ms Nomavuso Patience Mnxasana was appointed as an independent non-executive director and 
as a member of the Audit Committee. She is a chartered accountant with extensive financial, risk 
and strategic management experience. 

Companies Act compliance Compliance with the Companies Act was enhanced in terms of:

  Identification and disclosure of the remuneration for prescribed officers.
  Formal consideration of the solvency and liquidity tests.
   Review of the policies in relation to conflict of interest to align to the provisions of the Act.

Internal audit Internal audit function supports management’s responsibility for ensuring the adequacy of 
internal controls and processes and has facilitated the adoption and implementation of an 
appropriate IT governance framework for the Group. 

New internal auditors were appointed with effect from 1 August 2013.

The Company also implemented a combined assurance model.

A new Chief Audit Executive will be appointed with effect from 1 July 2013.

Information Technology 

Governance

Enterprise-wide IT governance framework was implemented, focusing mainly on strategic 
alignment, value delivery and risk management of IT resources, the improvement of specified  
IT processes and reporting against the Board’s IT governance targets.

Integrated reporting The Company’s first Integrated Annual Report was published during the 2012 financial year for 
the 2011 financial year, embodying King III principles and guidance issued by local and  
international integrated reporting committees.

Special Resolutions taken by the Shareholder Minister

At the 2012 annual general meeting; the following Special Resolutions were taken:

1. Remuneration of Directors for 2013.
2. Revision of the Memorandum of Incorporation to reduce the maximum number of Directors from 18 to 14.

Board induction and information

Newly appointed independent non-executive directors participate in an induction programme managed by the 
Group Company Secretary. Independent non-executive directors are introduced to key management and also 
receive a Directors’ Toolkit which contains, amongst others, documentation such as the Board and Committee 
Mandates, Memorandum of Incorporation relating to the directors’ power and duties, the Group and managerial 
organograms and the last annual financial statements. 

Every annual corporate calendar ensures that the Board performs site visits to the Operating divisions.  The 
purpose of the site visit is to grant the Board an opportunity to visit the operations and to interact with 
executives. When the Board and Committee meetings are convened at different operating sites, non-executive 
directors have an opportunity to engage more actively with employees.

The Company is committed to the continued development of non-executive directors to augment their expertise 
and cultivate a deeper understanding of the business and its markets. Non-executive directors undergo annual 
training, either individually or as a group, to effectively discharge their duties. As part of ongoing development, 
directors attend appropriate external seminars and workshops. 
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A formal induction programme introduces non-executive directors to the Company’s business environment, risk 
management procedures, regulatory environment strategy, governance framework, sustainability issues and 
fiduciary duties as contained in the PFMA and the Companies Act. Non-executive directors are regularly kept 
abreast of relevant Company matters and regulatory developments. The Company conducted Board Committee 
induction sessions to cater for the recently reconstituted Committees and the newly appointed non-executive 
director. Concise management reports are provided to the Board as pre-reading material prior to meetings. 

Directors have access to all information and are entitled to obtain independent professional advice at the 
Group’s expense, after consulting with the Group Company Secretary. Non-executive directors have direct 
access to management and may meet with management independently of the executive directors.

Succession planning

To further capacitate the Board and its Committees, particularly the Audit Committee, the Shareholder 
Representative appointed an independent non-executive director to the Board on 31 January 2013.  
The appointment of Ms Mnxasana was based on the Board’s skill mix at the time. Ms Mnxasana is  
a Chartered Accountant by training and a director of companies. There are continuous engagements with  
the DPE on the Company’s needs and requirements as far as the Board matters are concerned.

The 2013 Board Evaluation Report indicated that the Board was of the view that it was in need of engineering 
and project management skills. It also indicated the need for a procurement specialist to be appointed.

Performance evaluation of the Board and Committees

An annual Board evaluation is conducted to assess the effectiveness of the Board and the individual contributions 
of the directors. The process is managed by independent service providers. Three evaluation processes were 
carried out at the end of 2013. The first evaluation sought to measure the performance of individual directors 
based on their general contribution and their involvement and participation in meetings, while the second aimed 
to review the overall functioning and performance of the Board as a unit and the third evaluation measured  
the effectiveness of the various Board Committees. The findings of these evaluations were considered by the 
Board in May 2013 and were compared to the previous year’s assessment, with appropriate action plans being 
formulated.

The KPMG/Nkonki Team conducted the 2013 Board Evaluation process. They stated that there was an 
improvement on the analysis of responses from the previous year. In general, the results yielded a positive 
outcome with 85,0% positive responses versus 15,0% negative responses (prior year: 81,0% positive and  
19,0% negative responses). Although the percentage and average scores achieved do not reflect a significant 
deviation from the previous year, the number of negative comments made by the respondents had reduced when 
compared to the previous year, and a corresponding increase in positive comments that signalled an improvement 
in the general rating by the Board. 

The KPMG/Nkonki Team highlighted, amongst others, the following from the 2013 Board Evaluation Report:

responses). The Board has become increasingly functional and Board relationships, cohesion and dynamics 
improved over the past year. Each member’s contribution was valued and professionalism has been maintained. 
The Board has matured and improved its efficiency. 

responses). A minority indicated that disputes were not raised timeously.

responses). 
 meetings and Board Attendance were 100% favourable. 

negative responses). A minority indicated that although the distribution of agendas and Board meeting packs 
has improved, there is still room for improvement. 
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Board Committees

In accordance with the established principles of Delegation of Authority Framework, the Board has delegated 
specific duties to Board Committees, which are responsible for assisting the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities and providing in-depth knowledge in specific areas. Each Committee acts within the ambit of 
a clearly defined mandate approved by the Board. These mandates are periodically reviewed and updated to 
address the recommendations of King III and the requirements of the Companies Act, and any relevant good 
governance practice that may emerge.

The Board has established five Committees in line with the legislative requirements and business imperatives  
to assist it in discharging its role and responsibilities, namely:

These Committees continue to operate appropriately and assist the Company with comprehensive control 
improvement and sound governance.

There are a number of employees who are invited to attend the Board and Committee meetings in an advisory 
capacity. These employees do not have influence over the decision making processes of the Board or its 
Committees.

Remuneration
Remuneration for independent non-executive directors is approved in advance by the Shareholder Minister  
and confirmed annually at the annual general meeting.

The Remuneration, Social and Ethics Committee receives independent remuneration guidance regarding the 
appropriate remuneration for independent non-executive directors. The Remuneration, Social and Ethics 
Committee recommends annual remuneration for both executive and independent non-executive directors  
and consider associated performance measures and benefits when assessing remuneration. Refer to the  
Report of the Directors for further information. The Board fees will be considered when the Company is in  
receipt of the DPE Remuneration Standards. 
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Responsibilities of the Board
The responsibilities of the Board as well as the key resolutions and approvals taken during the year are set  
out below.

Overview of responsibilities Key resolutions and approvals

The roles and responsibilities of the Board include: 

Providing effective leadership based on an ethical 
foundation.
Ensuring the Company is and is viewed as a responsible 
corporate citizen.
Ensuring that the Group’s ethics are managed effectively.
Reporting on the effectiveness of the Company’s system  
of internal controls.
Ensuring the Company complies with applicable laws, rules, 
codes and standards.
Being responsible for the governance of risk and 
information technology.
Ensuring that there is an effective risk-based internal  
audit.
Ensuring the integrity of the Group’s Integrated Report.

Recommended the appointment of the Group Chief 
Financial Officer for the Shareholder Minister’s approval.
Annual financial statements for 2013.
Financial Risk Management Framework.
Procurement of 1 064 GFB locomotives.
2012 ex gratia bonus payment for the Pensioners of the 
TSDBF and TPF.
Annual General Meeting Pack.
Declaration of Interest and Related Party Disclosures 
Policy for Directors.
Board Evaluation Report for 2012.
Human Resources Framework.
Disposal of Shares in Cape Town Bulk Storage.
Board Committee’s composition.
Acquisition of 95 locomotives for the GFB.
Assmang 14mtpa iron ore contract.
Coal contracts.
Delegation of Authority Framework.
Supply Chain Policy.
Appointment of Trustees and Chairperson to the TSDBF.
Interim financial statements to 30 September 2012.
Transnet Port Terminals National Fleet Plan.
Rebranding of Transnet Engineering.
Board Mandates.
Manganese Rail Expansion Programme.
Corporate Plan for 2013.
Borrowing Plan for 2013.
Shareholder’s Compact for 2013.
Risk Appetite Statement for 2013. 
Risk Management Plan for 2013.
Amendment to the rules of the TSDBF and Transport 
Pension Fund.
Transport Pension Fund – Birkholtz settlement proposal.
Supplier development plan.
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Schedule of attendance at Board of Directors’ meetings from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

The Company’s annual corporate calendar is approved by the Board. However, there are certain instances  
when ’special meetings’ are convened for either the Board or its Committees. These ’special meetings’ are normally 
convened when unforeseen circumstances arise. The table below details the Board’s schedule of attendance from 
1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013. The special meeting was convened to deliberate on the draft Memorandum of 
Incorporation.

Date

Director 25/4 12/6 29/8 29/10 30/11 15/2
(SM) 
1/3

Mr ME Mkwanazi (Chairperson) � � � � � � �

Mr B Molefe � � � � � A �

Mr NK Choubey# � A � A A A �

Mr MA Fanucchi � � � � � � �

Ms Y Forbes � � � � � � �

Mr HD Gazendam � A � � � � �

Ms NBP Gcaba† � � – – – – –
Mr BD Mkhwanazi† � � – – – – –
Ms TZ Mnyaka† � � – – – – –
Ms N Moola � A � � � � �

Mr MP Moyo† � � – – – – –
Ms NP Mnxasana* – – – – – � �

Ms NR Njeke A � � � � � �

Mr IM Sharma A � � � � A �

Mr A Singh � � � � � � �

Mr IB Skosana � � � � A � �

Ms E Tshabalala � � � � A � �

Ms DLJ Tshepe � � � � � � �

�  Present.
A  Apologies.
#  Mr Choubey was unable to attend to Board activities between September and December 2012 due to health issues and visa challenges.
†  Retired from the Board with effect from 6 July 2012.
SM  Special meeting.
* Appointed to the Board on 31 January 2013.
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Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee
This Committee had to convene a number of ‘special meetings’ to attend to, amongst others, the investigation of 
the Public Protector Complaint lodged with the Chairperson in December 2010 and the finalisation of the Board 
Evaluation Report for 2012.

The purpose of the Committee is to, amongst others:

 
and advance and maintain the Company’s corporate governance policies and the Corporate Governance 
Framework. 

Committees of the Board, other than the Audit Committee.

Shareholder Minister.

Minister.

non-executive directors.

recommendations on the top three candidates, in order of priority, to the Board, by complying with the 
guidelines for the appointment of a Group Chief Executive for a State-owned enterprise.

Schedule of attendance at the meetings from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Date

Directors
(SM) 
3/4 10/5

(SM) 
29/5

(SM) 
13/6 14/8 8/11 28/2

Mr ME Mkwanazi (Chairperson) � A � � � � �

Mr NK Choubey† � � A A � A �

Ms Y Forbes � � � � � � �

Ms TZ Mnyaka# � � A � – – –
Mr IM Sharma � � � � � � �

Ms DLJ Tshepe � � � � � � �

�  Present.
A  Apology.
#  Retired from the Board with effect from 6 July 2012.
† Mr Choubey was unable to attend to Board activities between September and December 2012 due to health issues and visa challenges. 
SM  Special meeting.

Audit Committee
This Committee had to convene a number of ‘special meetings’ to attend to, amongst others, the appointment of  
a service provider to offer internal audit services to the Company. The purpose of the Committee is to:

control frameworks within the Company.

systems.

and regulators.
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Schedule of attendance at meetings from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Date

Directors 11/4 4/6 15/8
(SM) 

12/9 23/10
(SM) 
4/2  7/2

(SM) 
11/2

(SM) 
1/3

Mr MP Moyo# (former Chairperson) � � – – – – – – –
Mr IB Skosana (Chairperson) � � � � � � � � �

Mr MA Fanucchi � � � � � � � � �

Ms Y Forbes# � � – – – – – – –
Ms TZ Mnyaka# � � – – – – – – –
Ms NP Mnxasana†1 – – – – – – � � �

Ms NR Njeke†2 – – � � A A � A �

Ms E Tshabalala†3 – – – – – � � � �

� Present. 
A Apologies. 
#  Retired from the Committee with effect from 6 July 2012. 
†1 Appointed to the Committee with effect from 31 January 2013. 
†2  Appointed to the Committee with effect from 6 July 2012. 
†3  Appointed to the Committee with effect from 8 November 2012. 
SM  Special meeting.

Remuneration, Social and Ethics Committee (Human Resources and Remuneration 
and Social and Ethics Committees were amalgamated into one Committee)
During the year under review, there was a need to merge the Social and Ethics Committee and the Remuneration 
and Human Resources Committee. The merged Committee was approved by the Board on 29 August 2012. This 
Committee had to convene a number of ‘special meetings’ to attend to, amongst others, the appointment of the 
Group Chief Financial Officer and the wage negotiations. The purpose of the Committee is to:

Company and its stakeholders, both internally and externally.  The Committee will manage the Company’s legal 
and moral obligations for its economic, social and natural environment, including the objectives and standards 
of the Company’s conduct and activities.

social and ethics environment, with due regard to all relevant legislation, policies, legal requirements and 
codes of best practice.

motivation and retention of high performance staff at all levels in support of realising corporate objectives and 
to safeguards shareholder interests.

they motivate sustained high performance and are linked to corporate performance.

and to approve the remuneration policies and practices recommended by them.

practices and governance processes to be made by stakeholders.

 - Restructuring of Transnet; 
 - Disposal of assets/part of Transnet’s business; 
 - Acquisition of assets/new business; and
 - Development of human resources issues.

Committee.
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Schedule of attendance at Human Resources and Remuneration Committee meetings from  

1 April 2012 to 29 August 2012

Date

Directors 5/6
(SM)

27/8

Ms NR Njeke (Chairperson) � �

Ms NBP Gcaba† � –
Mr HD Gazendam � �

Mr IB Skosana° � �

�  Present. 
†  Retired from the Board with effect from 6 July 2012. 
°  Retired from the Committee with effect from 29 August 2012. 
SM  Special meeting.

Schedule of attendance at Social and Ethics Committee meetings from 1 April 2012  

to 29 August 2012

Date

Directors 31/5 31/7

Ms NBP Gcaba† (former Chairperson) � –
Ms N Moola (Acting Chairperson) � �

Mr MA Fanucchi � �

Mr HD Gazendam � �

Ms E Tshabalala � �

�  Present. 
†  Retired from the Board with effect from 6 July 2012.

Schedule of attendance at Remuneration, Social and Ethics Committee meetings from  

29 August 2012 to 31 March 2013

Date

Directors 19/10 6/2

Ms NR Njeke (Chairperson) � �

Ms N Moola � �

Mr MA Fanucchi � �

Mr HD Gazendam � �

Ms E Tshabalala � �

�  Present. 
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Board Risk Committee

The purpose of the Committee is to:

Framework (‘ERM Framework’) approved by the Board from time to time.

Management, and regulators on risk management.

operational losses.

that appropriate action has or is being taken.

Schedule of attendance at Board Risk Committee meetings from 1 April 2012 to  

31 March 2013

Date

Directors 13/7
(SM) 
3/7 8/10 29/11 5/2

Ms TZ Mnyaka° (former Chairperson) � � – – –
Ms DLJ Tshepe† (Chairperson) – – � � �

Ms Y Forbes† – – � A �

Mr HD Gazendam† – – � � �

Mr BD Mkhwanazi° � � – – –
Ms N Moola � � � � �

Mr MP Moyo° � � – – –
Mr IB Skosana† – – � A –

�  Present.
A Apologies.
† Appointed to the Committee on 29 August 2012.
°  Retired from the Board with effect from 6 July 2012. 
SM  Special meeting.

Board Acquisitions and Disposals Committee
This Committee had to deliberate on, among others, the introduction of the MDS and the revision of the 
Procurement Policy Framework. The purpose of the meeting is to:



C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 g
o

ve
rn

a
n

ce

167

Schedule of attendance at the Board Acquisitions and Disposals Committee meetings from  

1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

Date

Directors  19/4 31/5 28/6 31/7 21/8 26/9 22/10 22/11 29/1 27/2 27/3

Mr BD Mkhwanazi#
(former Chairperson)

� A � – – – – – – – –

Mr IM Sharma† 
(Chairperson)

A � � � � � � � � � �

Ms Y Forbes† – – – – – � � � � � �

Mr ME Mkwanazi � � � � � – – � � A A
Ms NR Njeke† – – – – – � � � A � �

Ms E Tshabalala° � � � � � � – – – – –
Ms DLJ Tshepe � � � � – � � � � � A

�  Present.
A  Apologies.
†  Appointed to the Committee on 29 August 2012.
#  Retired from the Board with effect from 6 July 2012.
°  Retired from the Board Acquisitions and Disposals Committee with effect from 29 August 2012. 
SM  Special meetings.

Delegation of Authority Framework
A revised Delegation of Authority Framework was approved to come into effect on 1 September 2012. The  
Board has delegated its authority to the Group Chief Executive, who in turn delegates to the Group Executive 
Committee and other authorities. The Group Chief Executive strives to ensure that the Company achieves 
financial and operating goals and objectives. He is further tasked with the day-to-day management of the 
business within the approved Delegation of Authority Framework. The Delegation of Authority Framework 
records the nature and extent of the authorities delegated by the Board to the Group Chief Executive and 
subsequently to the Group Executive Committee members and other authorities, in order to implement certain 
actions on behalf of the Company.

The Delegation of Authority Framework applies to all employees of the Company, including its Operating 
Divisions and Specialist Units. It does not apply to any of the Company’s subsidiaries. The Boards of the 
subsidiaries will prepare the requisite ‘delegations of authority’ for those subsidiaries.

Processes have been implemented to ensure that the exercising of the ‘delegation of authority’ shall not be in 
conflict with the following:

Board from time to time;

issue a guarantee, indemnity or security, or enter into any other transaction that binds or may bind the 
Company to any future financial commitment in terms of section 66 of the PFMA.
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Matters reserved for Board decision
The Board is responsible for the strategic direction and ultimate control of the Company according to its 
Memorandum of Incorporation and Board Mandate. The Board exercises this control through the governance 
framework, which includes detailed reporting to the Board and its Committees, a system of assurance on internal 
controls and reserving certain matters for Board decision-making. The Board is satisfied that it discharged its 
duties and obligations as described in the Board Mandate during the past financial year.

Whilst the management of the Company is delegated to the Group Chief Executive by the Board through a 
detailed documented delegations process, the following matters, amongst others, are expressly reserved for 
decision-making by the Board:

Financial

material changes in strategic direction;

Company and the allotment, issue or other disposal of shares of the Company (except for shares allotted under 
the Group share incentive scheme of the Company, if any);

a Company;

unincorporated joint venture or similar arrangement; 

a company or a significant asset; 

activity;

Company’s interest in a significant partnership, trust, unincorporated joint venture or similar arrangement;

which confer rights to a lender to convert debt into shares of any kind;

exceeding limits prescribed by the Shareholder’s Compact or the Significance and Materiality Framework;

the limits prescribed by the Shareholder’s Compact or the Significance and Materiality Framework; and

in accordance with the provisions of the Memorandum of Incorporation.

Statutory and administrative

Shareholder by 30 September of each year;

the Shareholder, prior to 28 February each year;

result in a material impact on the Company;

Company;
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respect of the Company;

actuarial liabilities of those funds;

against the Corporate Plan, shall be prepared on a quarterly basis and submitted to the Shareholder within the 
month after the end of the quarter in respect of which such accounts are being prepared. Such management 
accounts shall be circulated on a quarterly basis to each director of the Board and the Shareholder.

Regulatory

The Company shall not, without the prior written approval of the Shareholder, allow for the:

convertible securities including shares or convertible securities issued for acquisitions;      

takeover or merger documents;

Company; and

The Shareholder may, after consultation with the Board, issue directives to the Board regarding the mandate and 
objectives of the Company if it is reasonably necessary to do so.

Human resources

Transnet SOC Ltd Board of Directors in terms of the policy to be agreed from time to time;

time to time;

and approved by the Shareholder; and

to such rules as recommended by the Remuneration, Social and Ethics Committee, for submission to the 
Shareholder, if applicable.
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Responsibilities of the Group Executive Committee

Overview of responsibilities Key resolutions

To provide strategic direction to the business and to provide 
sufficient direction to the operations to ensure the strategy 
is successfully implemented.
Group Executive Committee provides oversight for financial 
and operational risk management, including EIMS risks, 
across the Group.

Information Classification Policy.
Group Executive Committee Mandates.
TFR: Asset Tracking and On-Board computers for additional 
locomotives (ETC R472 million).
Performance Management Policy.
Risk Pool and Retirement due to ill-health Policy.
Weighted Average Cost of Capital Policy.
Counterparty Risk Management Policy.
Wagon Fleet Renewal and Modernisation of 3 659 wagons 
(ETC R913,1 million).
Remote Areas Financial Assistance Policy.
Central management of the Company’s firewalls.
TPL’s Petroleum Tariff Application for 2014.
Culture Charter Programme.
Human Resources Transformation Project.
Termination and Employment Policy.
Designation of the Carlton Centre Office Towers as the Head 
Office of Transnet.
Non-participation in hospitality activities as from the 2014.
Acting Policy.
Records Management Policy.
Moderation and Assessment Policy.
Implementation of a Balanced Scorecard.

Group Executive Committee

Governance structure

Extended Executive and Senior Management

* Chairperson of the respective Committees.

DIVISIONAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Port Terminals

Mr S Gama Mr R Vallihu Mr T Morwe Mr KXT Socikwa

PipelinesNational Ports  
Authority

Rail  
Engineering

Freight Rail

Ms S Pillay

Delegation of Authority

GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Mr B Molefe

Policy and 
Regulation 
Committee

Finance
Committee

Capital
Investment
Committee

NMPP Governance 
Steering 
Committee

Risk
Management
Committee

Human
Resources
Committee

Business 
Information 
Management 
Committee

Mr KC Phihlela* Mr A Singh* Mr B Molefe* Mr B Molefe* Ms DC Moephuli* Ms EAN Sishi* Mr A Singh*

Group Broad- 
based Black 
Economic 
Empowerment 
Forum

Ms NJ Mabandla*
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Schedule of attendance at meetings from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013

This Committee had to convene special meetings to attend to, amongst others, financial performance of the Company,  
budget and strategy focus issues for 2014, licensing process for the Port of Ngqura, Presentation to the Portfolio Committee 
on Public Enterprises and the 2014 Corporate Plan.

Date

Executive 18/4 7/5 22/6

(SM)

9/7 27/7 21/8

(SM)

10/9 20/9

(SM)

5/10 17/10 20/11 12/12 18/1 22/2

Mr B Molefe 
(Chairperson) � A � � � � � A A � � � � �

� � � � � – – – – – – – – –
Mr S Gama � A � � � A � A � A � � � �

Mr M Gregg-
Macdonald � A � � � � � � � � � � � �

Ms R Lepule#1 – –� – – – � � A � � A � � �

Ms NJ Mabandla#2 – –� � � � � � � � � A � � �

Ms DC Moephuli#5 – –� – – – – –� – – – – – – �

Mr CA Möller � � � A � � � � A � � � � �

Ms MA Moses* � � � � � � – – – – – – – –
Mr T Morwe – � A A � A � � � A A � A �

Mr KC Phihlela A A � � � A � A � � � � � �

Ms S Pillay#4 – –� – – – – – – � � � � � �

Mr A Singh � �� � � � � � � � � � � � A
Ms EAN Sishi#3 � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

Mr KXT Socikwa A A � � � � A A � � A � A �

Mr R Vallihu A � � A � � A A A � A A � �

Mr R Wolfenden � A � � � � A � � � � � � �

� Present.
A Apologies.
#1 Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 August 2012.
#2 Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 June 2012.
#3 Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 January 2012.
#4 Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 October 2012.
#5 Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 February 2013.
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Information and communication technology governance

The Business Information Management Committee (BIMCO) is responsible for directing, controlling and 
measuring the Enterprise Information Management Services (EIMS) activities and processes of Transnet. The 
Committee’s accountability includes amongst others:

its scope to perform and deliver the results expected by the business. Its primary role is to exercise its authority 
in support of Transnet’s endeavours to achieve the outcomes expected and to periodically evaluate performance 
and monitor remedial actions to remedy instances of poor performance.

Committee had a special meeting in July 2012.

Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment

 

 
A function of the Forum is to ensure that satisfactory progress is made to address compliance and systems 
related issues. The Forum reports into the Group Executive Committee and is chaired by the Group Executive: 
Group Legal Services.

Transnet SOC Ltd achieved a level 3 contributor status, an improvement from a level 4 contributor status for the 
financial year 2011. Transnet has commenced preparation for the 2013 B-BBEE verification.

Appointments, resignations and executive changes
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Abbreviations and acronyms

$/R USD/ZAR

ACSA Airports Company of South Africa

AFD  Agence Française de Developpement – French 
Development Bank

AfDB African Development Bank

Aids Acquired immune deficiency syndrome

AUS Australian Dollar

bp basis point

CGT capital gains taxation

Copex capitalised operating expenditure

DCT Durban Container Terminal

DEA  Department of Environmental Affairs

DIFR disabling injury frequency rate

DMTN Domestic Medium-Term Note

DOT Department of Transport

DPE Department of Public Enterprises

EBIT earnings before interest and taxation

EBITDA  earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation 
and amortisation

ECA Export Credit Agency

EIMS Enterprise Information Management Services

Finco Group Finance Committee

GBP Pound Sterling

GCH gross crane moves per hour

GMTN Global Medium-Term Note

HR human resources

IAS International Accounting Standards

IASB International Accounting Standards Board

ICM Act  Integrated Coastal Management Act,  
No 24 of 2008

IFRIC  International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee

IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standards

JBIC Japan Bank for International Cooperation

JPY Japanese Yen

King III  King III Report on Governance for  
South Africa – 2009

LTI long-term incentive scheme

MDS Market Demand Strategy

ml/km million litres per kilometre

mt million tons

Nersa National energy regulator of South Africa

NGP New Growth Path

Ports Act National Ports Act, No 12 of 2005

PRASA Passenger Rail Agency of South Africa

PSP Private Sector Participation

RFD Reasons for decision

ROTA return on total average assets

SADC Southern African Development Community

SATS South African Transport Services

SOC State-owned company

STAT ship turnaround time

STI short-term incentive scheme

STS ship-to-shore

TEU twenty-foot equivalent unit

TSDBF Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund

TTPF Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-Fund

USA United States of America

USD US Dollar

WACC weighted average cost of capital

WACD weighted average cost of debt

ZAR South African Rand
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Glossary of terms

Asset turnover (times)

Revenue divided by total assets (total assets 
excluding capital work-in-progress).

Average total assets

Total assets, where ‘average’ is equal to the total 
assets at the beginning of the reporting period plus 
total assets at the end of the reporting period, divided 
by two.

Cash interest cover (times)

Cash generated from operations after working 
capital changes, divided by net finance costs (net 
finance costs includes finance costs, finance income 
and capitalised borrowing costs from the cash flow 
statement).

Debt

Interest-bearing borrowings (short- and long-term), 
post-retirement benefit obligations, derivative 
financial liabilities plus overdraft, less short-term 
investments and net cash and cash equivalents.

EBITDA

Profit/(loss) from operations before depreciation, 
amortisation, profit on sale of interest in businesses, 
impairment of assets, dividend received, post-
retirement benefit obligation income/(costs), fair 
value adjustments, (loss)/income from associates and 
net finance costs.

EBITDA margin 

Profit/(loss) from operations before depreciation, 
amortisation, profit on sale of interest in businesses, 
impairment of assets, dividend received, post-
retirement benefit obligation income/(costs), fair 
value adjustments, (loss)/income from associates 
and net finance costs expressed as a percentage of 
revenue.

Equity

Issued capital, reserves and minority interests.

Debt (for gearing calculation)

Long-term borrowings, short-term borrowings, 
employee benefits, derivative financial liabilities plus 
overdraft less other short-term investments, less 
derivative financial assets and less cash and cash 
equivalents.

Gearing

Debt expressed as a % of the sum of debt and 
Shareholder’s equity.

Headline earnings

As defined in Circular 3/2009, issued by the South 
African Institute of Chartered Accountants, separates 
from earnings all items of a capital nature. It is not 
necessarily a measure of sustainable earnings.

Operating profit

Profit or loss from operations after depreciation and 
amortisation but before profit on sale of interest in 
businesses, impairment of assets, dividends received, 
post-retirement benefit obligation income/(costs), 
fair value adjustments, (loss)/income from associates 
and net finance costs.

Operating profit margin

Operating profit expressed as a percentage of 
revenue.

Profit/(loss)

Profit or loss after taxation and minority interests.

Return on average total assets 

Operating profit expressed as a percentage of 
average total assets (average total assets exclude 
capital work-in-progress).

Return on net assets

Profit before taxation expressed as a percentage of 
net assets.

Shareholder value add

EBITA less the cost of capital. Cost of capital is the 
average total assets, excluding capital work-in-
progress, multiplied by WACC.

Total assets

Non-current and current assets.

Total debt

Non-current and current liabilities.

Total debt-to-equity ratio

Total debt expressed as a ratio to equity.
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# Indian national.
* Appointed on 31 January 2013.
The following independent non-executive directors resigned/retired with effect from:
Mr MP Malungani 1 April 2012 (resigned)
Mr MP Moyo 6 July 2012
Ms NBP Gcaba 6 July 2012
Mr BD Mkhwanazi 6 July 2012
Mr TZ Mnyaka 6 July 2012

Group Company Secretary: 
Ms ANC Ceba
47th Floor, Carlton Centre,  
150 Commissioner Street, Johannesburg, 2001.
PO Box 72501, Parkview, 2122, South Africa.

Auditors
SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc., 20 Morris Street East, Woodmead, Johannesburg, 2191.

With effect from 1 August 2013, the Company’s internal audit function has been outsourced to SekelaXabiso 
(Pty) Ltd, Nkonki Inc and KPMG Services (Pty) Ltd. 
SekelaXabiso (Pty) Ltd has its business address at:
1st Floor Building 22B
The Woodlands Office Park
20 Woodlands Drive
Woodmead
Johannesburg

Nkonki Inc has its business address at: 
3 Simba Road
Sunninghill
Johannesburg

KPMG Services (Pty) Ltd has its business address at:
85 Empire Road
Parktown
Johannesburg

Transnet SOC Ltd
47th Floor, Carlton Centre
150 Commissioner Street
Johannesburg
2001 

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa.
Registration number 1990/000900/30.

Corporate information




